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STOCK CODE
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Note: 1.

Mr. WANG Ning resigned as independent non-executive Directors and ceased to
act as the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of each of the
nomination committee, the audit committee, the risk management committee and
the share award committee of the Board on 10 July 2024.

Mr. HUANG Jiang was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of each of the nomination
committee, the audit committee, the risk management committee and the share
award committee of the Board on 10 July 2024.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A E

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

The following is a summary of the audited consolidated results of

the Group for the respective years as hereunder stated.

BER

MTAAEERTIEEFEZEEREAR
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EComE —T-=F B —ET-—-F Z—ET-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT FET FET FERT
Revenue g 166,181 64,989 89,668 61,119 80,022
(Loss)/profit attributable FBREARBEBAL
to the owners (Eﬁ? ),/ & F
of the Company (34,726) 2,313 (904) 6,055 (11,487)
Dividends i 8 = - - - -
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION B 35 iR R R &R
The following is a summary of the audited consolidated WLTRAEERTIIHEEBBH ZL&EZESH
statement of financial position of the Group as at the respective MR MEME o
dates as hereunder stated.
As at 31 December
R+=B=+-—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZEBINE 2= T B2 ZTTHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT FET FHET FET
Plant and equipment I 5 N 3R 876 1,125 1,519 1,652 1,370
Investment properties BEME 22,364 25,295 24,411 26,001 30,523
Right-of-use assets CHRESE 6,438 10,668 1,265 4,832 1,156
Interest in joint ventures REE JL%Z*E = = 80 5,753 3,504
Deposits, prepayments e ENE IE&
and other receivables H e A
(non-current portions) GERBHH) = = = = 62,691
Financial assets at fair value RAVEBB
through other comprehensive Eft2EW AR Z
income SRMEE 2,158 5,847 9,859 56,877 73,345
Financial assets at amortised 1Z# #5k A A Bk Z
cost i%ﬁﬁ? = = = = =
Loan and interest receivables & & & & H 8 185,568 177,732 172,289 217,864 167,440
Trade receivables JIE WL BR 7K 72,200 2,141 654 19 -
Financial assets at fair value ZAFEZBEZ AR
through profit or loss ZEREE = = = = =
Other current assets Hith 8 & &= 236,027 286,446 274,762 204,497 138,211
Current liabilities mEaE (121,748) (73,344) (63,353) (44,539) (21,752)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEAR (689) (1,236) (637) (766) (1,207)
Other non-current liabilites ~ HE M IER e A& (3,055) (4,209) = (1,472) (395)
Representing: ¥
Share capital [N 5,465 4,554 4,257 3,870 3,870
Reserves 18 367,957 398,849 389,572 439,878 424,962
Non-controlling interests e R = 26,717 27,062 27,020 26,970 26,054
Shareholders’ equity i 54 &5 400,139 430,465 420,849 470,718 454,886
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Dear Shareholders,

Year 2024 marked a year in which Zhong Ji Longevity Science
Group continued to deepen its focus on the field of longevity
science, actively exploring new paths for development. As the
global economy gradually recovers amid a complex and volatile
environment, we seized the opportunity and made steady
progress in advancing our strategic plans, fully committed to
establishing a world-leading platform for the transformation and
application of longevity science, and laid a solid foundation for
the long-term development of the Company.

In 2024, while ensuring the appreciation of our money lending
business, we continued to expand our longevity science
business. We continued to optimise resource allocation and
strengthen our core competitiveness. We have taken affirmative
steps towards becoming the world’s leading platform for global
cellular medical sciences across the entire industry chain.

In terms of longevity biological products, we have been fully
committed to offering the best quality products around the world,
and continued to optimise the research, development and
production processes of our products. Through a joint venture
and merger & acquisition model, we have expanded our market
presence, with our products selling in numerous countries and
regions worldwide, contributing to a leap-forward growth in sales
revenue in 2024.

In terms of longevity management, we have consistently
enhanced our service quality, dedicating ourselves to creating a
preferred longevity management platform for high net-worth
individuals around the world. Deepening our strategic cooperation
with high-end wealth management institutions, such as Ping An
Private Banking, we have accelerated the establishment of
longevity management centres in major cities globally. Hong Kong
and Shenzhen have achieved early success, and we have
gradually replicated our internationally standardised longevity
management services. As our brand’'s influence continues to
grow, we are gradually becoming a benchmark for high quality
health services in the industry.

In 2024, in response to national policy amendments in lending
and financing consultation business and amidst a challenging
economic environment, we proactively embraced change and
steadily developed a supply chain financial model with an
emphasis on longevity management, which was centred around
the industry and product chains of longevity science. This
strategic adjustment has significantly enhanced operational quality
and efficiency, reduced business risks, and fostered organic
integration and synergistic development between financial
services and our core longevity science business, opening a new
path for the Company's sustainable growth in the financial
sector.
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CHAIRMAN STATEMENT
ERWE

In 2024, the Company maintained a robust financial position.
Despite the complex and volatile market environment, we
ensured the smooth operation of all business activities through
effective cost control and optimised resource allocation. Revenue
from the longevity science business continued to grow. While
still in the investment phase, the business holds immense
growth potential. Its strategic importance for the Company’s
future development is immeasurable, and it will serve as the core
engine driving the Company’s sustainable development.

Looking ahead to 2025, it marks a pivotal year for the Company
as it advances toward its strategic goal of becoming the “Global
Leader in Longevity Science”. The longevity science sector is
experiencing unprecedented growth opportunities. Adhering to its
development philosophy of "“technology leadership,
innovation-driven growth, and global expansion”, the Company
will continue to strengthen its core longevity science business in
a value-oriented manner, while consolidating existing operations.
The Company will increase its investment in research and
development (R&D), drive technological innovation, and enhance
the quality of its products and services.

Meanwhile, we will vigorously promote the deep integration of Al
and longevity technology with a forward-looking strategic vision.
By establishing an Al longevity technology joint laboratory and
introducing top scientific talents and advanced technologies, we
are committed to leveraging Al technology to achieve early,
accurate disease prediction, the intelligent customization of
personalized health management solutions, and the smart R&D of
longevity biological products, so as to provide customers with
more convenient, efficient, and precise longevity management
services, leading new industry trends and setting a new
benchmark in the global longevity science sector.

We are fully aware that every step of the Company's progress
and development relies on the steadfast support and trust of
every shareholder, as well as the hard work and dedication of all
employees. On behalf of the Company, | would like to extend our
most sincere gratitude and highest respect to all shareholders
and colleagues!

In the coming year, we will continue, as always, to uphold our
core philosophy of “customer-centric, value-oriented and
innovation-driven”. Staying true to our original aspirations, we will
forge ahead with determination, exert our utmost efforts to
create greater value for shareholders, and contribute more to the
health industry of society!

YAN Li
Chairman
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTRODUCTION

Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited (the “Company”),
together with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) on
operating and managing its existing money lending & financial
advisory business, securities and other investment business, and
property investment business. Since late 2022, the Company has
been focusing on diversifying and has become Asia's first
one-stop health and longevity center, leading the way in human
health and longevity.

Money Lending & financial advisory business

In 2024, the money lending and financial advisory business of
the Company’s main subsidiary in the People’s Republic of China
("PRC"), R1T# TR BEEM AR AR (“Tian Xing”) of
Beijing, emerged from the post-P2P loans transition phase and
continued on a steady recovery path. However, during the period,
market constraints on the demand for secured home loans
persisted due to subdued property transactions across PRC
regions. This was largely driven by heightened uncertainty
stemming from the pending Sino-US trade war, inflation
expectations induced by tariffs, and concerns over slowing global
economic growth.

As announced by the Company on 28 February 2022, the PRC
Beijing police investigation into certain former Tian Xing
employees for personal gambling activities proved to be
unrelated to Tian Xing itself. The Company’'s PRC legal counsel,
Dongwei Law Firm, confirmed on multiple occasions that Tian
Xing was never identified as an indicted suspect. Since February
2022, the Company and its Tian Xing subsidiary have
restructured their operations, rehiring new staff and
disassociating from all former managerial staff, employees, and
advisors involved. Tian Xing successfully restored its business
partnerships and banking authority operations by June 2023.
However, this process hindered the Company’'s efforts to recover
overdue loans from its Strategic Partners.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEE R

In both 2023 and 2024, policy changes by the PRC central
government (“BI# Pz "), enforced through the China Banking and
Insurance Regulatory Commission (“HESEREES"), further
delayed the recovery process. Notable policies included IR {® &
1 % (2022)375%, issued on 6 April 2022, and F B A R R 17
RITRBREBEEREZE8 IR % (2022)2525% , which granted
borrowers mortgage repayment relief. These policies offered at
least six-month grace periods, waivers on overdue interest and
recovery fees on grievance grounds, and other COVID-19-related
relief measures. Consequently, these policies prolonged the
recovery timeline and increased associated costs and
uncertainties, making it more challenging for the Company and its
Strategic Partners to execute mortgagee sales or other legal
recovery actions.

For Strategic Partners loan (FOTIC, ShanXi) under Arrangement 1
with Company supply 100% loan principal sum. To expedite this
kind of hundred individual borrowers loan recovery process, in
late April 2023, the Board engaged PRC law firm Dongwei 1t &
MEEG(ER)EAMEHF ("“Dongwei”) with team of legal
counsels across 23 Dongwei branches across PRC different cities
working together with Company designated staffs, in execute
legitimate recovery actions on overdue loans with B 7 & B B =
A ERMDAEMR DR Shanxi International Trust Co. Ltd”
(“ShanXi”) and FE I EZ S E7LHR AT China Foreign
Economy and Trade Trust Co., Ltd.” (“FOTIC") Beijing City these
Strategic Partners’ loans of considerable work sizes. On August
2024, this Dongwei service contract with TianXi and the
Company was extended for further 36 months thereafter. The
engagement with Dongwei was charge on a pro rata fees basis
to successful recovery sum (in both monetary or property titles)
with working expense disbursements, that save Company to
incur significant on-going recovery staffs’ costs on few hundred
debtors’ collection.

For Strategic partners loan (Haier, Fanhua) under Arrangement 2
with the Company only supply partial 20-30% initial loan
principals, these overdue loans were with other Two Strategic
Partners: "EEBRECEXEREERAAT vie EEESR/NEEN
BRRAR]" ("Haier"); "ARYIZEM SR ELEB B R D E] Shenzhen
Fanhua Joint Investment Group Co., Ltd.” (“Fanhua”); were all
handled by the Company team alone with legal conveyance
service undertake by individual law firms when required.
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Longevity Science Business

In 2024, the Group continued to enhance its financial
performance by diversifying into promising longevity medical
health businesses, offering a range of advanced medical services
and health management. These included registered medical tests
and laboratory screenings for advanced tumor cells, immunity and
killer cells, joint health blood and micronutrient levels, as well as
female and male fertility and salivary hormone tests. Additionally,
the Group provided comprehensive thyroid assessments and
third-generation whole genome sequencing genetic tests, along
with non-medical treatments such as hair cell revitalization and
supernatant fluid skin energizing therapies.

For FY2024, the Group marked its second year operating under
somewhat normal conditions following the COVID-19 pandemic,
despite facing a sluggish retail environment. Nevertheless, Zhong
Ji Longevity Science Group remained committed to establishing
a world-leading longevity science transformation and application
platform, striving to provide the most advanced, high-standard
personalized longevity management services, with a focus on
cancer prevention, anti-aging, and knee health.

On 11 December 2023, during a routine annual license renewal
inspection by the Hong Kong Department of Health and Hong
Kong Hospital Authority (“HA"), an unused portable China-made
X-ray machine was found in the Company’s cabinet. Although the
HA has no evidence that ambulatory medical centers possess
and use X-rays, the HA, citing section 38(1)(a)(iii) of the Private
Healthcare Facilities Ordinance (Cap. 633), immediately revoked
the Centre's license without further investigation, publicly
announcing the revocation in late November 2023. Subsequently,
on 16 December 2024, during a trial at the Hong Kong Eastern
Magistrates’ Court, the Company was indicted on charges laid by
the HA, alleging that, on or before 23 November 2023, it
unlawfully possessed an irradiating apparatus — specifically, a
portable Bojin BJI-1 X-ray fluoroscopy unit — at its Causeway
Bay office premises without the appropriate license under the
Radiation Ordinance (Cap. 303). However, on 20 February 2025,
the Court ruled in favor of the Company and the Company was
declared not guilty. The Company was forced to vacate its
Causeway Bay premises in January 2024, resulting in the loss of
past rentals expenses, all renovation investments and capital
expenditures incurred at the location. This unproven and reckless
allegation significantly impacted the Company’s operations.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEE R

To maintain continuity, the Group relocated its longevity science
business to a Kowloon Bay premises, operating under the
facilities of its connected shareholder, Zhong Ji 1 Medical, with
licensed Hong Kong doctors and nurses. Throughout FY2024, the
Group continued to expand and diversify its longevity science
business, focusing on anti-cancer, anti-aging and knee joint
health-boosting products through membership programs and
distribution channels.

The PRC and Hong Kong operations generated approximately
HK$39.6 million from the provision of diagnostic, medical testing,
and health auxiliary services, and HK$102.4 million from sales of
health and medical products.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group was principally engaged in the longevity science
business, money lending & financial advisory business, securities
and other investments, and property investments. Given such
restraint trading environment and sluggish sentiment in PRC
property market, in mitigate the volatility risk, the Group took a
rather prudent approach in operating the Money Lending
business except via Strategic Partners loans originated, thus a
static performance was observed. FY2024, riding on its existing
finance-related businesses, the Group strives to venture into the
field of longevity science in an exhaustive and diversified manner
to improve its product chains, via membership and distribution
channels. The Company focusing on developing and expanding
its longevity science business, which has a bright future and can
develop into a large-scale, viable and sustainable business in the
future.

In FY2024, the Group recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$166,181,000 (FY2023: HK$64,989,000) with loss for the year
amounting to approximately HK$34,801,000 (FY2023: profit of
HK$2,523,000). During FY2024, (i) the money lending and
financial advisory business demonstrate a static revenue of
approximately HK$24,165,000 and a segment profit of
approximately HK$34,377,000; and (i) the longevity science
business contributed revenue of approximately HK$142,016,000
and a segment loss of approximately HK$17,559,000.

The basic and diluted loss per share were approximately HK$4.15
cents (FY2023: earnings per share of HK$0.15 cents).

As at 31 December 2024, the consolidated net assets of the
Group were approximately HK$400,139,000 (FY2023:
HK$430,465,000).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Money Lending & Financial Advisory Business

During FY2024, a segmental revenue of approximately
HK$24,165,000 (FY2023: HK$33,663,000) and a segmental profit
of approximately HK$34,377,000 (FY2023: HK$25,354,000) were
recorded. The increase in segmental results was due to a
decrease in interest receivables balances derived by the strategic
partners loan portfolio (FOTIC, Fanhua, Haier, ShanXi) in the PRC
stated in other receivables for FY2024.

Around September 2023 and June 2024, Dongwei with Company
have managed to recover RMB$6.7 million cash from two
individual borrowers their arrear loans of ShanXi strategic
partners and RMB$2.9 million cash from ShanXi trustee account
held for Tian Xing in final settlement, less ShanXi trustee service
fees of RMB$600,000 and an agent fee of RMB$100,000 and
initial setup legal fees RMB$1,000,000. Hence by 30 June 2024,
TianXing has now retrieve in full sum on invested principal
RMB$7,900,000 together with RMB$1,700,000 returns less
associated costs from the ShanXi strategic partner.

On record a typical individual borrower case in process by
Dongwei now, shown take arounds 6 months or more for PRC
Court of First instance (“CFI”) to obtain a satisfactory judgment
and next at least 6 to 9 months in execute mortgagee sale or
titles change pursuant to CFl judgement via PRC Execution
Court. At late November 2024, Dongwei team of counsels were
retrieve, compile and organize approximately 49 debtors’ cases
materials to continue in pursuit on various Beijing, Tianjin and
Wuxi courts on these FOTIC debts on behalf of Tian Xing
subsidiary.

In the review period of September and late November 2024, for
Strategic partners loan under Arrangement 2 the Company team
and directors have approached Fanhua and Haier management,
with on-going negotiations onto monetarize the partial or whole
loans portfolio with respective institutions Fanhua and Haier. If
Tian Xing portion of the whole loans portfolio with Fanhua and/or
Haier were monetarize by selling back to Fanhua and/or Haier or
any designated institution, the Company pursuant to Chapter 14
shall made appropriate announcement on the details therein in
forward periods.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEE R

During FY2024, pursuant to regulatory authority past guidance
letters in recover of Hong Kong, Joy Wealth Finance Limited
("Joy Wealth”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
outlined 36 loans, being priorly impaired as, of aggregate
outstanding amount approximately HK$1,076,000,000 as at
31 December 2019 the authority has urged in pursuit. As
announced in the announcement dated 11 August 2022, an
Independent Recovery Committee (“Independent Recovery
Committee”) was established to prepare, analysis, search
information and materials before negotiate with borrowers to
recover outstanding loan amounts and interest receivables assess
the effectiveness of proceeding existing or potential legal
procedures for taking over the ownership of pledged assets from
the borrowers and guarantors.

Even though the outstanding loans were already impaired in
FY2019, the Company has actively continued to follow up and
hopes to recover such outstanding loans to the best of its ability.
From August 2022 to 30 June 2024, the Independent Recovery
Committee has successfully recovered gross proceeds of
HK$67,140,328.77 from two borrower entities of four loans out of
these long impaired 36 loans. Now, this recovery exercise has
completed to a stage of review assessment and recovery with a
one-off legal and service fees of approximately HK$20.4 million
incurred for whole recovery exercise conducted by Joy Wealth on
these impaired loans occurred in Hong Kong, PRC, Saipan and
British Virgin Islands. For FY2024, Joy Wealth did not derive any
interest (FY2023: nil) from these loan and interest
receivables.

income

Consider now TianXing its Money Lending & financial advisory
business expansion in PRC needs to comply with People's
Republic of China (“PRC”) government P2P Internet Finance
policy law changes, in particular: & B 48 & gt 48 45 2 B B & B R
#EK(2019)83%% — BANBEREEEETPERBEL ) EERR
AW EEEZ R (Guidance on statutory demand in transform
Internet Finance Lending Intermediaries into Small Loan Finance
Companies) statutory national law control requirements.
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At late FY2024 and beginning of FY2025, the Company work in
conjunction with Xiyou Network (Nanjing) Technology Co., Ltd %
AR (AR R AR AT (a high-tech enterprise supported by
the state BIR EZ X FR R ITE %) whom has already setup
and in operating a "% E#A0F & Lawyers on Palm Platform”
taking advantage of thousands of lawyers and/or legal counsels in
Dongwei 23 branches across PRC, applying big data, artificial
intelligence and blockchain technology through this “ % F £ Al
& Lawyers on Palm Platform” offering: (i) Provide high-quality
customers with “0 yuan lawsuit service T T AR EFIRFE", that
is, the customer submits the application for materials — the
platform reviews — the platform advances the litigation fee
(interest and other fees are not charged for the time being) —
the allocation of professional lawyers — the prosecution — the
closure of the case.

Most important, via this platform the professional law firm and
legal counsels shall ascertain a legal service fee (generally 18%—
25% the court case subject Assets value or claim monetary
value), the platform shall assist both clients and legal counsels
negotiate onto agree an “evaluated legal fees”; (ii) Base on this
“evaluated legal fees”, the platform party shall charge 50% to
60% portion of such fees as a nature of an “Platform origination
fees”; (iii) the platform has data base to offer an advanced
evaluation system to provide professional lawyers with evaluation
(with
membership fees), so as to attract more professional lawyers to
join the platform; (iv) Develop more Al interfaces and connect
with relevant government departments for free.

and make them members of different service types

According to Dongwei law firms, the above-mentioned operation
mode “E F#RIF & Lawyers on Palm Platform” is an origination
fees to the lawyers’ providing services were fully compliance in
line with existing provisions of PRC law on all internet finance
laws including B 5 48 < Bk 49 4% 18 B & b B8 #% 1 (2019)835%% —
R BEEEECGETRREBEEL |\ FEXRRAANEEZEER
{Guidance on statutory demand in transform Internet Finance
Lending Intermediaries into Small Loan Finance Companies). For
reason unlike, the Company Year 2015 “Caijia P2P Loan internet
Platform”, this “2 E2ZEIF & Lawyers on Palm Platform” do not
(i) offer any funds deposit return rates items or any investment
returns products on itself or on behalf of any parties to all retail
depositors or users. In short, do not create a “depositor funds
pool on any retail users”. The "% FZ R F & Lawyers on Palm
Platform” is solely a professional legal works platform.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEE R

The role of the Company subsidiary TianXing was to extract,
scan case clients as potential borrowers that TianXing to
ascertain and offer case clients via Dongwei law firm a specific
funds usage loans (only for partial on-going legal fees and/or
court administration fees and/or legal expense), that secured on
potential claim Assets value and to charge a (i) 12%-15% annual
interest rate and (ii) a case success reward of 50% on “Platform
Origination fees” that legally and lawfully derive from underlying
“evaluated legal fees”.

Longevity Science Business

The Group recognizes the strong growth potential of the
longevity science segment. Focusing on its main business
“longevity biological products and longevity management”, the
company continues to improve work efficiency and quality while
strengthening and improving the industrial chain and product
chain. Indeed, the COVID-19 and the aging population have
aroused public high concern for health across the globe, resulting
in unprecedented potentials for the development of Longevity
products and testing services in the healthcare and medical
industry.

During this reporting year, the Group’s longevity science business
delivered undesirable performance due to certain one-off costs,
unforeseeable events on nicotinamide mononucleotide ("“NMN")
products status change, difficult ex-post pandemic operation
environment.

The revenue of this segment amounted to approximately
HK$142,016,000 for FY2024 (FY2023: HK$31,326,000), of which,
approximately HK$39,605,000 was generated from diagnostic
consultation and medical testing, and approximately
HK$102,411,000 was contributed by the sales of longevity
biological products.
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The Group recorded a segmental loss for longevity science
business of approximately HK$17,559,000 for FY2024 (FY2023:
loss HK$24,016,000), was mainly due to:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

the incurred significant marketing campaign costs
approximately HK$9 million incurred by Shenzhen Longevity
Science subsidiary on NMN dietary supplements in the PRC
during the reporting period and prior costs commitments on
marketing, advertising and promotion activities for NMN.
Unfortunately, the US Food and Drug Administration
("FDA") in mid-Year 2024 reported in prohibited NMN as
dietary supplement but reclassified as a new drug instead,
that hamper ShenZhen Longevity to continue lawfully
marketed as dietary supplements or foods in PRC openly.
The. The Shenzhen Longevity Science subsidiary shall not
incur these kinds of one-off significant marketing,
advertising and promotion expense on NMN products in the
forward FY2025; and

Shenzhen Longevity Science subsidiary has undergone
material restructuring costs incurred associated with
removal of retail sales division of NMN dietary
supplements in PRC; and

costs incurred on new ShenZhen joint-venture business
enhancement on diagnostic and medical test services with
(RINERTEEXZAKEBR AT (“"Meilsee Medical”)
and ShenZheng Jinli Aesthetic Clinic* (34 BEZE XA
% #F) ShenZheng Meilsee Aesthetic Medical Investment
Company Limited, as announced on 7 November 2024; and

The Board in FY2024 later months has incurred some costs
to implement and develop “American Wild Ginseng Wine
%A 7H ¥ 2 B " health biological products trade to enhance
Company existing health and supplement products sale,
which show promising sale records within preliminary stage
months.

Despite recorded one-off losses by Shenzhen Longevity Science
subsidiary in reporting period, the management of the Group is
optimistic on the development of the longevity science business,
and believes that the longevity science business will be the
driver of the Group's revenue growth in the future, together with
existing license money lending business steady growth.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEE R

Securities and Other Investments Business

As at 31 December 2024, the Group was holding several
investments which are equity securities listed on the Stock
Exchange for long term or short term investment, the fair value
of equity securities listed on the Stock Exchange held by the
Group amounted to approximately HK$3,134,000 (FY2023:
HK$5,847,000). The decrease in fair value for FY2024 was due to
(i) the decrease in the market value of certain listed equity
investment during the year and (i) the Group disposed in a
series of transactions for a total of 35,462,000 Huarong Shares
(representing approximately 0.41% of the total issued Huarong
Shares) on the open market with an aggregate gross sale
proceeds of HK$9,318,623 (exclusive of expenses) during
FY2024. The average selling price (exclusive expenses) for each
Disposed Share is approximately HK$0.2628. Detail of the
disposal, please refer to the announcement dated 4 October
2024.

Property Investment Business

For FY2024, the Group continued to operate the property
investment business, with properties located in the PRC and the
Island of Saipan. These properties, comprising commercial shops,
residential units, and multiple-room apartments, thus not
generating any revenue for the Group. A segmental loss of
approximately HK$2,5564,000 was recorded in FY2024 (FY2023:
profit of HK$1,070,000), primarily driven by an decrease in fair
value loss of investment properties of approximately
HK$2,554,000 (FY2023: profit of HK$1,070,000).

The Group will continue to monitor market conditions and seek
suitable tenants to generate stable rental income or consider
disposing of investment properties to capture profitable capital
appreciation.

Regarding the unlawful and unauthorized transfer of Saipan
Leasehold Interest discovered during FY2022 vyear's audit, as
referenced on page 25 of the annual results announcement for
FY2022 dated 18 April 2023, the Company has authorized a
Saipan law firm (“Saipan Legal Advisor”) to commence legal
actions to recover possession of the Saipan leasehold interest.
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Company discovered that the leasehold interest of the property in
Saipan, which was held by Keen State Global (CNMI) LLC
("Keen State Global Saipan”), an indirect wholly own subsidiary
of the Group, was being recorded and executed pursuant to a
lease agreement without any knowledge and authority of Zhong
Ji
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
therefore authorised the Saipan law firm to commence legal
actions on behalf of Zhongji.

In August 2024, the Saipan law firm filed a compliant on behalf
of Keen State Global Saipan to the Superior Court of
Commonwealth of the Northern Marian Islands (“CNMI"”) against
the defendants for a judgement declaring that the unlawful
assignment and forged document is legally invalid and
unenforceable and that the title to the lease of the property and
all personal property located on the property at the time of the
unlawful assignment is still vested in Keen State Global Saipan
and requiring the defendant to (i) vacate the property and return
possession of the property to Keen State Global Saipan; (ii)
compensate the punitive damages and pay the reasonable
attorney’s fees and related legal costs; and (iii) such other and
equitable relief as the court deems just and proper.

In August 2024, in addition, on rectifying the fraudulent records
of Keen State Global Saipan, the Department of Commerce of
CNMI has accepted the relevant rectification filings made by the
Saipan law firm, that (i) deleted and removed all forged records
filed by two fraud personnels on their false appointments and
conveyance; and (i) the Company chair Yan Li was therein
registered as the member parent Company Keen State Global BVI
sole director, effective from 15 March 2023, and acting as the
manager of the Keen State Global Saipan.

Up to the date of this annual report, the Saipan law firm was
awaiting the Superior Court in CNMI fixing the trial schedule and
judgement.

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, in view of the
directors of the Company, the Group has the ownership of the
investment properties of Saipan and the Group's possession of
investment properties was still valid.

The Company will continue to actively engage with the Saipan
Legal Advisor to address these matters and will provide timely
disclosures regarding any developments.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEE R

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had recorded net current
assets of approximately HK$372,047,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$250,127,000); and cash and cash equivalent of approximately
HK$47,842,000 (31 December 2023: HK$81,075,000). The Group
did not enter into financial instruments for hedging purpose.

Capital Structure

There was an increase to the authorised and issued Share capital
of the Company for FY2024. As at 31 December 2024, the total
number of the issued ordinary shares with the par value of
HK$0.01 each was 546,529,549 (31 December 2023:
455,441,291).

BUSINESS MODEL FOR MONEY LENDING &
FINANCIAL ADVISORY BUSINESS AND LOAN
PORTFOLIOS

The Money Lending & Financial Advisory Business would operate
in the following two models:

1. The "Strategic Partners Business Model” — offering related
financial management and consulting service in the PRC via
cooperation with PRC licensed strategic partners (without
Company assuming role of a direct lender) with sizeable
loans portfolio (including outstanding principals and
interests) secured by residential assets. Such loan assets

"Other receivables” under the

category of “Deposits, Prepayments & Other receivables”

set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

were accounted for as

2, The “Corporate and personal borrowers Business Model” —
wherein the Group act as a direct lender and such loan
assets (including outstanding principals and interests) were
accounted for as “Loans and interest receivables” set out in
note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, our Group had 432 (31 December
2023: 432) active accounts, of which 389 (31 December 2023:
423) of them were individual customers and the remaining of 9
(2023: 9) were corporate customers; and of which 375 (31
December 2023: 418) of them were under the strategic partners
business model and 14 (31 December 2023: 14) of them were
under the corporate and personal borrowers business model.
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For FY2024, our top five customers (as determined by interest
income generated) accounted for approximately 97% (FY2023:
23%) of our total revenue, and our single largest customer
accounted for approximately 45% (FY2023: 14%) of our total
revenue.

As at 31 December 2024, the largest and top five customers (as
determined by loan receivable balance) of the total gross loan
receivables balance accounted for 65% and 92% (31 December
2023: 36% and 81%) respectively.

(a)

The Strategic Partners Business Model

The strategic partners under this model are PRC regulated
trustee & fund manager companies of material sizes
licensed in offering legitimate short to medium-term
secured home loans (1st and 2nd mortgages) to individual
borrowers across the regions of: Chongging, Chengdu,
Suzhou, Wuhan, few at Shanghai, Tianjin and Wuxi cities.
All underlying borrowers under this model are independent
third party (within the meaning of Chapter of 14A of the
Listing Rules), and were not connected persons or senior
management of the Group.

Below are the current strategic partners in co-operation
with the Company's wholly-owned Beijing subsidiary X717
LW (k) M ER AR AR (“TianXing”) in PRC:

i) "HEUIINLEEZSELBR LA China Foreign
Economy and Trade Trust Co., Ltd.” (“FOTIC") a
state-owned asset management company in the PRC)
operating at Beijing City; and

(i) “FIZEHBEKESBEFGR AR Shenzhen Fanhua
Joint Investment Group Co., Ltd.” (“Fanhua”) a
sizeable financial services company listed on the New
York Stock Exchange (stock code: CNF); and

(i) "EEBRHCEEEBRAR v EESR/IEE
F BB ARF" ("Haier”) established since 2014 and
owned by the electronic conglomerate Haier Group;
and

ivi "BREAEBEBEERERGAER QA Shanxi
International Trust Co. Ltd” (“ShanXi"”) a state-owned
trustee assets management company established
since 1985 and listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 00563).
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Strategic Partners Corporation Agreements were performed
in two kinds of arrangement:

Arrangement 1: strategic co-operation with FOTIC, ShanXi
as outlined below:

FOTIC, ShanXi set up registered regulated trust funds (the
“Trusts”) to which they would act as trustee. The
Company through its wholly-owned Beijing subsidiary
TianXing invested monies into these Trusts of FOTIC,
ShanXi, whereby trustee through licensed strategic partners
in PRC grant legitimate mortgage loans to borrowers.
These Trusts typically run for a period of two to five years
or longer on a pre-arranged return rate of 12% annually.

The Group would co-manage the Trusts with FOTIC, ShanXi
to monitor the risk profiles of individual borrowers,
collaborate to pursue loan collection, assist FOTIC, ShanXi
to take collateral enforcement actions, and provide
management services including but not limited to client
procurement, client's background check and credit rating
due diligence. The Group would receive a management
service fee from the Trusts and others assistance fees (if
any) from individual borrower for the aforesaid services.

As at 31 December 2024, all these trust units were
redeemed hence the Group would receive those Trust
underlying loans accrued interests, after FOTIC ShanXi's
expenses, pursuant to debts transfer contracts, but the
underlying loans security were still registered under Trustee
name per loan license regime of PRC. Hence any legal
mortgagee recovery or security realization would still lodge
together with strategic partners. Nevertheless, the Group
takes over all benefits from the post-redemption on all
proceeds of mortgagee sale of any residual assets of
mortgages registered in the Trustee name (including but not
limited to collection of any outstanding loans receivables).

Arrangement 2: The Strategic cooperation with Fanhua,
Haier is summarized below:

The Group would procure potential borrowers and, after
performing credit assessment, refer them to Fanhua, Haier.
In return, the Group would receive loan origination fees/
referral/agency fees from Fanhua, Haier or from individual
borrowers depending on the amount of actual interest
income received by Fanhua, Haier and the repayment
status of the loans.
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As a protection to Fanhua, Haier, the Group would be
required to maintain a sum equivalent to 20-30% of the
initial loan principals borrowed by customers referred to
Fanhua, Haier as “a risk provision top-up fund”. Such sum
in the risk provision fund will be used to settle the
payment of principals and/or interests in the event of the
borrower’'s default or in case of long-terms arrears. (At
present, the Group was disputing with Fanhua and/or Haier
on implications PRC National Covid-19 mortgage reliefs
Policy triggered some loans in technical defaults or arrear
repayments in postpone).

The Group shall, following the liquidation of a particular
borrower, take over the benefits from the post-liquidation of
any residual assets in the loans (including but not limited to
collection of any outstanding loans receivables and interest
income, default interest and penalty fees). The Group may
choose to acquire the entire defaulted loan principal balance
from Fanhua, Haier their portions and seek recovery of the
whole defaulted loans using its own means and resources.

Subject to terms and clauses of each strategic partners
agreement, the Group earns: (1) loans origination fees; (2)
management service fee rendered including services as
client procurement, client’'s background check and credit
rating due diligence; (3) recovery fees or penalty fees/
interest for deferred loans; and (4) accrued interest income
by providing whole/partial funding secured loans via
strategic partner’s license. The Group subsidiary attributes
10% loan principal sum of each small secure loans offer by
two strategic partners of Fanhua and Haier, while such
Strategic Partners would attribute the 90% remaining loan
principal themselves; and the Group subsidiary attributes
100% loan principal sum of each home loans made under
FOTIC.

Size and diversity of borrowers under the
Strategic Partners Business Model

The strategic partners act as direct lender with the
Company as co-manager.

In case of FOTIC and ShanXi, the average loans size (of 1st
mortgage) was approximately RMB0.86 million. The loans
were made within Beijing city or major cities. For FY2024,
the interest rate chargeable by FOTIC and ShanXi Trust to
borrowers ranged from 8.4% to 19.2% (FY2023: 8.4% to
19.2%).
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In the case of other strategic partners, Fanhua & Haier,
their average loans size (of 1st and 2nd mortgage) was
approximately RMBO0.2 million. The loans were made across
Chongging, Chengdu, Suzhou, Wuhan cities with few in
Shanghai, Tianjin, and Wuxi cities. For FY2024, the interest
rate chargeable by Fanhua & Haier to borrowers ranged
from 12% to 18% (FY2023: 12% to 18%).

Loan principal
amount as at Concentration Secured
31 December ratio of other Collateral Loan

Five largest borrowers under
Strategic Partners Business

Model 2024 receivables Leverage ratio
R-ZEBE-mE H 1t fE U EER
+=A=+-H FIEH EHRRAHN
BEREAEFZESATHERERA MERESE Sk EREELE
RMB’000
ARETR
Borrower A (via FOTIC)* EBERAACRBINEREFT) * 5,000 2.942% 48.08%
Borrower B (via FOTIC)* B AB (BB IS f’iﬂm ) * 4,500 2.648% 52.96%
Borrower C (via FOTIC)* ERACBBINERE)* 4,250 2.501% 26.74%
Borrower D (via FOTIC)* ERAD (BBINEEFE) * 4,200 2.472% 29.25%
Borrower E (via FOTIC)* ERAECRBIINERE) * 4,000 2.354% 54.05%
12.917%
Note*: In accumulated, the Group had 3,597 (FY2023: 3,597) individual Hax RREREHEXGINEET  RAREE -

borrowers on secure loans of collaterals (residential house) via the RERBBEBERARBERAAEERANE
Strategic Partners Model (FOTIC, ShanXi, Fanhua and Haier) act as 36972 (ZE =0 KRFE :3,6974)KHFH
Lender. (ER)RBEXDEAERA

As at 31 December 2024, strategic partners loan assets
were accounted as other receivables for approximately
HK$172,917,000 before impairments (31 December 2023:
HK$207,242,000), with net carrying value approximately
HK$126,749,000 (31 December 2023: HK$132,464,000).
The top five loans borrower under Strategic Partners
Business Model was accounted for approximately total
12.917% of the entire other receivables of the Group as at
31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 9.312%), and their
collaterals value leverage ratio range from 26.74% to
54.05% secured on properties.
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The Corporate and personal borrowers Business
Model

The Company's corporate and personal borrowers loan
business comprises of loans made to corporate entity and/
or wealth personal borrowers via the Company wholly
owned subsidiary in PRC and/or Hong Kong acting as a
direct lender via loan agreements with security mostly,
except few loans in past on were trade credits or
unsecured or intangible security basis alike dividends rights.
All underlying borrowers under this model are independent
third party (within the meaning of Chapter of 14A of the
Listing Rules), and were not connected persons or senior
management of the Group.

Size and diversity of borrowers under the
Corporate and personal borrowers Business
Model

The Group acts as direct lender and manages these over
14 corporate and personal borrowers loans, despite some of
the loans have been already impaired before the year of
2023. The loans principal size ranges from approximately
HK$47.9 million for personal borrower to a corporate loan
principal size of approximately HK$64.4 million, with
interest rates ranged from 6% to 18%, mostly with
security, but some are unsecured or secured with certain
company dividend or secure intangible assets. These loans
were accounted for as Loans and interest receivables set
out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Five largest borrowers
under Corporate and
personal borrowers

Loan principal amount

Concentration
ratio of loan

and interest  Secured Collateral

Business Model as at 31 December 2024 receivables Loan Leverage ratio
CERBAGBRAEETH R-E-EF EWERRAE BEREARD
ERERA +tZA=+-HANERELHE M &R L %= EXERLLE

RMB’000 HK$'000

AR TR THER
Borrower A fEFRAA = 298,000 36.36% Unsecured
mER
Borrower B &5 AB = 163,003 19.89% Unsecured
mER
Borrower C EEUN® 128,000 = 17.19% 100%
Borrower D EEUND) = 35,000 4.27% Unsecured
mER
Borrower E f& % AE 24,500 - 3.29% Unsecured
mER

81%
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As at 31 December 2024, the corporate and personal
borrowers business loan assets were accounted as loan and
interest receivables for approximately HK$822,279,000
before impairments (31 December 2023: HK$819,455,000),
with net carrying value approximately HK$185,568,000 (31
December 2023: HK$177,732,000). The top five loans
borrower under Corporate and Personal borrowers Business
Model was accounted for approximately total 89.19% of the
entire loan and interest receivables of the Group as at
31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 79.93%), and their
collaterals value leverage ratio range from 31.79% to
74.69% secured on properties, financial assets and dividend
rights or unsecured. These loans were made in prior years
on exiting P2P old business and subsequently impaired in
later prior years. Nevertheless, the Group has recently
initiated recovery actions on these previously partially or
wholly impaired loans as above mentioned.

DIFFERENCE ON STRATEGIC PARTNERS MODEL
VERSUS CORPORATE & INDIVIDUAL MODEL

B B
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“Corporate & Personal

Borrowers Model”
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“Strategic Partners
Business Model”
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Brief description of Target
customers
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loan financing.

Supply Chain Trade (valuable metals or
materials) Financing: target customers are or
suppliers selling goods on e-commerce

platform.

BENLE -

HERBZ(BEEBIMBRE: BRE
EFREERYEHENmOEER -
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Lending to corporate client:
customers are enterprises having need of

ERTEEEFP - BEREFPRBEENRRE

target

Subject to Strategic Partners
Model with different Strategic
partners, individual borrowers of
(1st and/or 2nd mortgage) home
loans of tenure 10 to 20 years

small secured loans of
tenure 1 to 5 years with
average loan size less than

HK$1.5m, over a wide spread
of individual borrowers across
mainly Beijing, Chongging,
Chengdu and other PRC cities.
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“Corporate & Personal
Borrowers Model”

[ 3 R 8 AER AR ]

“Strategic Partners
Business Model”

[EmE R R

Source of customers

EFERIR

Revenue Recognition

W 3 BERR

Lending to corporate client: originating
from sales team of Joy Wealth (Hong
Kong) and X174t (Gt R) B ERER
A |] TianXing and Katar Global Limited.

ERTEERP:RBEMGEB) LR
(IR BB BEREA R AR & IERK
ERDBIRHEER -

Accrued interest income (of Corporate &
Personal loans originated recognized under
Money Lending & Advisory Business
segment and “Loan & interest receivables”.

ERENRGERESRD BT R ERD
EREAANEFRW) BETFBWA - AR E
WERRME] -

Originating from team of
financial Advisory business
brokers of Group subsidiary (JV
companies) and third-party
brokers firms.

RKEAXEEBWB AR (EERQR)
NeRABAEBLLERRSE
=B RE] -

Accrued interest earned from the
loans originated by Financial
Advisory Business (via Strategic
Partners Model). Referral and/or
loan origination fees for loan
application of client, management
service fees, debts recovery fees,
penalty fees; all of above said
fees are payable by individual
borrowers/broker firms to the
Group subsidiary recognized as
revenue under Money Lending &
Advisory Business segment and
"Other receivables”.
BemBAEBLCRBBKEN
R E & 1 E AT R JE 5T
ME - HEFPEFBFHNEN
R/KERERE  BERS
E WEE - ZIXE LA
ERHERBEABRA KL
RAZFMTAEEWB AR - I
BRRBERDBRAEBSHT
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INTERNAL CONTROL FOR MONEY LENDING
BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL ADVISORY BUSINESS

The Group follows similar loan approval procedures outlined as:

(1)

(2)

26

Receiving and processing loan applications, due
diligence, background check of loan applicants

Loan application form should be completed by customers
and the customers need to fill their loan information,
personal information, employment information and financial
information for the preliminary due diligence and
background check of loan applicants. Besides, customer is
requested to submit all original supporting documents as
required by the Company to make photocopy. The due
diligences documents include HKID/Passport Copy/PRC ID,
address proof, certificate of incorporation copy etc. If
necessary, external professional parties are engaged to
perform the legal search, company search, land search,
annual returns search and personal credit report search etc.

Credit risk Assessment

Default Rate Assessment (Credit Risk
management)

Default rate is defined as gross amount of loan and interest
receivables which are 180 days past due over the gross
amount of loan and interest receivables as at each financial
year end. In making this assumption, the Group considers
that a default event occurs when:

(@) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full; or

(b)  the loan receivables are 180 days past due.
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According to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9 —
Financial Instruments, there is a rebuttable presumption
that default does not occur later than when a financial
asset is 90 days past due unless an entity has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

The Group adopts a longer period (180 days) as loan
receivables in default because the majority of loan
receivables are secured by pledged assets and based on
repayment history, the borrowers settled loan balances
between due date and 180 days past due, therefore, there
are still have probability for settlement of loan from
borrowers with loan balance which are less than 180 days
past due.

Request for collateral

Based on the creditability of customer, collateral is
requested in a loan application. It is assessed case by case
on a qualitative basis. Normally, if the borrower is a Person
and/or a corporate entity borrower, a collateral is requested
unless the loan has other guarantors and supporting
documents of financial ability of borrower and/or guarantors
could be provided for satisfactory assessment. Besides, for
some potential borrowers who bargain for a better
agreement terms like lower loan interest rate etc., collateral
is normally requested for entering into a final loan
agreement. As it is determined on a case-by-case basis,
there is no direct internal policies or guidelines for this
matter.
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Approval of loan applications

The Group will consider all necessary supporting
documents provided by the clients and conduct all
necessary borrower background credits checking, legal &
financial due diligence, before approving loan application
into grant the funds withdrawn.

Monitoring and follow-up action on borrowers’
repayment

The Group continues to monitor the loan and will take any
necessary follow-up action on borrowers’ repayment. For
“Corporate & Personal Borrowers model” the Company
acting as Lender, the monthly repayments banking was
arranged under the Company, inter alia, the Company credit
team monitor our bank accounts on these mortgages’
repayments, liaison and reconcile (adjustments on some
minor lateness, if any) payments with these borrowers. If
three or four consecutive mortgage repayments are in
arrear such borrowers will follow-up by Recovery team to
resolve with more complex repayment scheme, extension
terms or other avenues. Under “Strategic Partners model”
of present license regime and pursuant to the Strategic
Partner Agreements the monitor on loans monthly
repayments were executed by Strategic Partners (FOTIC,
Fanhua, Haier) since repayments banking arrangements
were set-up under these License Strategic Partners. There
were quarterly review meetings on arrear loan repayments
between Strategic Partners and the Company subsidiary
team, whom follow-up reported arrear loans and its
recovery.
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Receiving, processing and approving time
extension of loan maturity (Extension)

For the process of extension procedure but in practice,
borrowers who seek for loan extension due various reasons
need to submit a written request for loan extension to the
Company. Extensions of loan could be made subject to the
criteria and processes on a case-by-case basis. Normally,
the repayment of outstanding loan interests is one of the
conditions for granting the loan extension to the borrowers.
Besides, updated financial condition of borrowers has to be
investigated before considering the approval of loan
extension, including but not limited to interviewing with
borrowers and asking for reasons for extension, and
requesting to provide updated personal and financial
information if necessary. Besides, the borrowers have to
demonstrate that they are able to settle the loan and
interest in the extended period according to the terms of
agreement. If thought fit, all members of the credit
committee formed by all directors of money lending
company at the material time would approve the extension,
and the extension agreement/extension letter would be
executed.

Recovery action of debts

Following assessment on the long overdue loan
repayments (except rare exemptional reasons), the Group
procedurally will take necessary loan recovery actions in
PRC and in Hong Kong, not limited but including legal
statement of claims, mareva injunction, mortgagee sale,
liquidation petitions, borrowers Company or living site visits
and/or borrowers’ employer or Company suppliers visit.

Segment Information
Details of segment information of the Group for FY2024 are set
out in note 6 to this report.
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Employees and Remuneration Policies

The Group had approximately 55 employees as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: 33). The employee benefits expense,
excluding Directors’ emoluments, of the Group were
approximately HK$15 million (FY2023: $12.6 million) in FY2024
and increased by approximately 19% compared to FY2023. The
increase was due to the increase of the number of employees.

The Group regularly reviews and determines the remuneration
and compensation package of the Directors and the Senior
Management with reference to, among other things, the market
level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the respective
responsibilities of the Directors and the Senior Management and
the performance of the Group. In order to attract and retain high
quality staff, competitive remuneration package is offered to
employees (with reference to market norms and individual
employees’ performance, qualification and experience). On top of
basic salaries, bonuses may be paid with reference to the
Group’'s performance as well as individual employees’
performance. In addition, training and development programmes
are provided on an on-going basis throughout the Group. The
remuneration policy of the Group was reviewed regularly, making
reference to current legislation, market condition and both the
performance of individual employees and the Group.

In order to align the interests of staff with those of shareholders
of the Company, share options were granted to relevant
grantees, including employees of the Group, under the
Company's share option scheme adopted on 29 July 2022. Share
options carrying rights to subscribe for a total number of
3,868,000 shares (as adjusted taking into account the effect of
the Share Consolidation) of the Company remained outstanding
as at 31 December 2024. A share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme"”) was also adopted by the Company on 18 May
2021. The Company may from time to time, allot and issue new
shares in the share capital of the Company to the trustee as
directed by the Board and/or share award committee, which shall
constitute part of the trust fund, for the grant of restricted
shares to selected participant(s) as set out in the rules of the
Share Award Scheme and the trust deed. No Restricted Shares
have been granted under the Share Award Scheme up to the
date of this report and thus no shares in the Company would be
issued accordingly. No shares were awarded under the Share
Award Scheme of the Company during FY2024 and FY2023. The
Award Scheme expired on 18 May 2031.
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Details of Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not pledge any assets
to banks or other financial institutions nor did the Group have any
corporate guarantee given to any entity (31 December 2023: Nil).

Treasure Policy

The Group has adopted a treasury policy on 24 May 2011 in
relation to the Group’s investments in securities of other listed
companies on the Stock Exchange. The objective of the policy is
to enable the Group to control and govern the possible future
securities investments (if any, which may or may not occur).

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2024 (defined
as the Group's total interest-bearing borrowings divided by the
Group’s total equity) was approximately 2.9% (31 December
2023: 2.1%).

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Business transactions of the Group are mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The Group has not
implemented any foreign currency hedging policy at the moment.
However, in the view of the fluctuation of Renminbi in recent
years, continuous monitoring on the foreign exchange exposure is
carried out and the management will consider hedging the
foreign exchange exposure if it has material impact on the
Group.

Capital Commitment

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no capital expenditure
contracted for but not provided for in its financial statements (31
December 2023: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).

Significant Investment Held, Material Acquisition or
Disposal of Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies and
Plans for Material Investment or Capital Assets

There was no significant investment held, material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during FY2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEE R

Securities in Issue

As at 31 December 2024, there were 546,529,549 ordinary
shares in issue. The Company has allotted and issued additional
91,088,258 Shares during FY2024. Details of which are set out
below with sub-heading “Subscription of New Shares under
General Mandate”.

OUTLOOK

In the new year, the market environment is still unpredictable,
the Group will operate in a light asset model to reduce
operational pressure and operational risk, and will continue to
expand the existing longevity science business, including the
establishment of joint venture with strategic partners for
longevity science business when opportunities arise, taking into
account the Group's available with the aim to
maximize the return to its Shareholders. The Board is confident
that it can bring more positive benefits and possibilities to the
Company, and lead the Company to realize maximum operational
benefits and enhance shareholders’ confidence in the Company's
future prospects.

resources,

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE SUBSCRIPTION
Subscription of New Shares Under General Mandate
Reference is made to the Company’'s announcements dated 30
May 2024 and 6 June 2024. On 30 May 2024 (after trading
hours), the Company entered into the Subscription Agreements
with three subscribers, namely Ms. Yan Zhen, Mr. Wang
Jianyong and Mr. Zhang Yi (“Subscription”) pursuant to which
the subscribers have conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue a total of
91,088,258 ordinary shares of the par value of HK$0.01 each in
the share capital of the Company (“Subscription Shares”) at a
price of HK$0.215 per Subscription Share. The closing market
price of the shares of the Company as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 30 May 2024, being the date of the Subscription
Agreements, was HK$0.214 per Share. The net Subscription
Price, after deduction of relevant expenses, is estimated to be
approximately HK$0.213 per Subscription Share. Each of the
subscribers is an individual investor. To the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief, and having made all
reasonable enquiries, each of the subscribers is an independent
third party.
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On 6 June 2024, the Company has successfully issued a total of
91,088,258 new Shares under the general mandate granted by
the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 29 June 2023. The net proceeds (after deducting the
relevant costs and expenses) were approximately HK$19.4
million. The Company applied the net proceeds from the
Subscription as to 60.0% thereof for the expansion of the
existing longevity science business and the new biomedical
products trading business. The remaining 40.0% of the net
proceeds was allocated for general working capital for payment
of staff costs, rental expenses and legal and professional
expenses. As at the date of this report, the abovementioned net
proceeds has been fully utilised as intended.

As at 31 December 2024, the net proceeds from the
Subscription were applied as follows:
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As at 31 December 2024, all net proceeds from the Subscription
had been used in accordance with the planned usage as detailed
above.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yan Li (“Mr. Yan"), aged 54, joined the Company as an
executive Director in November 2020, was appointed as the
Chairman of the Board and the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Board in December 2020 and was appointed
the chairman of share award committee of the Board in May
2021. He received the award of International Honorary Fellow of
Greenville University in the United States in 2020, was the vice
president of Shenzhen Non-Governmental Organization Federation
and the vice president of Shenzhen General Chamber of
Commerce. Mr. Yan has over 9 years’ experience in the
management and administration in the fields of advanced medical
and biological technology. In 2014, he founded Zhong Ji 1
International Medical Group (HK) Ltd. ("HK Zhong Ji 1”) and is
currently a director and the chief executive officer of HK Zhong
Ji 1. HK Zhong Ji 1 is dedicated to integrate leading resources
about the health of knee joint around the globe and establish the
world’s leading international advanced medical transformation
platform through cell testing, cell storage and enhancement, cell
and gene therapies and the research and development,
transformation and sale of biotechnology products. The Asian
Integrated Cell Laboratory under HK Zhong Ji 1 is the world's
leading autoimmune cell bank. Currently, Mr. Yan also holds
directorships in the Company’s subsidiaries.

Mr. Yan Yifan, aged 34, joined the Company as an executive
Director and the chef executive officer in April 2022. Mr. Yan
Yifan graduated from Henan University of Economics and Law.
He has served as the general manager of Mailyard Health Group
(Hubei) Company Limited since April 2021 and served as the
general manager of Zhong Ji 1 International Medical Group (Hong
Kong), the shares of which are beneficially owned by Mr. Yan Li,
the chairman of the Board and an executive director, from July
2013 to March 2021. Mr. Yan Yifan is also the nephew of
Mr. Yan Li.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Xiaoshuang (“Mr. Li"), aged 51, joined the Company as an
executive Director in August 2021. Mr. Li is an EMBA from
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business, was appointed as a
consultant of the Company in December 2020 and is currently an
executive director of Zhong Ji 1 International Medical Group (HK)
Limited (a company which shares are beneficially owned by
Mr. Yan Li, the chairman of the Board and executive Director). He
was elected as a member of the National Committee of the
Chinese People’'s Political Consultative Conference for two
consecutive terms in 1993 and 1997. Mr. Li was granted the
titles of one of the top 10 athletes in China, in Asia and in the
world on several occasions. In 1992, he won the gold in the
men’s floor (gymnastics) at the 25th Olympic Games in
Barcelona and became the leading figure of the Chinese men's
gymnastics team. In 1996, Mr. Li won another gold in the men'’s
artistic individual all-around at the 26th Olympic Games in
Atlanta. After retiring from the Chinese gymnastics team, Mr. Li
started his own business in January 2000 and he has extensive
experience and abilities in business operation and corporate
management.

Ms. Cao Xie Qiong (“Ms. Cao Xie"), aged 56, joined the
Company as an executive Director in December 2020. Ms. Cao
Xie holds a Master of Business Administration from the Business
School of The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
and is an honorary professor of the College of Business & Public
Management of Wenzhou-Kean University. She is a founding
member of Hong Kong Professionals and Senior Executives
Association and a member of the Zhejiang Provincial Committee
of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference. She
was a tourism ambassador for Zhejiang Province, a tourism
spokesperson of Anhui Province, an overseas promotion
ambassador for the Expo in Shanghai, a host at TVB in Hong
Kong as well as a film and TV producer. She invested in the food
and beverage industry in 2011 and was the brand director and
group vice president of two listed companies. She entered the
advanced biomedical technology sector in 2017 and is currently
the executive chairperson of the Weissman Cancer Prevention
Foundation.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. He Yiwu (“Dr. He"), aged 61, joined the Company as a
non-executive Director in August 2021. Dr. He obtained his PhD
in 1993 from Boston University. He is currently chief innovation
officer and senior advisor to the president of The University of
Hong Kong, chairman of the board and managing director of HKU
Innovation Holdings Limited and senior advisor to the chairman of
China National Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (Sinopharm). He
was formerly senior program officer and deputy director of the
Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, chair professor at the University
of Science and Technology of China, global head and senior
director of GlaxoSmithKline, senior vice president of BGI Group,
executive director of the International Vaccine Association and
director of the P4 Medicine Institute in the United States.

Mr. Lyu Changsheng (“Mr. Lyu”), aged 64, join the Company as
an independent non-executive Director in August 2022. He has
extensive leadership experience in investment consulting. Over
the past 20 years, he has proven to possess progressive and
comprehensive corporate development knowledge. Mr. Lyu is
familiar with a variety of management functions of an
organization including initiating, developing and implementing
procedures to improve business performance. He has experience
in the past serve in various listing entity as chairman of the
board or as executive director, no limited to but includes DeTai
New Energy Group Limited (stock code: 559).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee See Barry (“Mr. Lee"), aged 58, joined the Company as
an independent non-executive Director in March 2022. He is also
the chairman of the audit committee and a member of each of
the nomination committee, the remuneration committee, the risk
management committee and the share award committee of the
Board. Mr. Lee graduated from Lingnan University, Hong Kong, in
1990 with a diploma (honours) in the financial service profession.
Currently, he is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Mr. Lee has over 30 years of experience
in audit, accounting and financial management. He has served as
a senior partner of Sysble Consultants since 2005, during which,
he provided financial controller services to major customers
including China CBM Group and Oriental Speech Therapy* (3% 77

dral Y

HFEBAE).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Huang Jiang (“Mr. Huang"”), aged 42, joined the Company as
an independent non-executive Director in July 2024. He is also
the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of
each of the nomination committee, the audit committee, the risk
management committee, and the share award committee of the
Board. Mr. Huang holds an Executive Master of Business
Administration from the United Business Institutes and an
Executive Master of Business Administration from Jinan
University. Mr. Huang was the first-generation golf commentator
in China. He has experience in multimedia operations such as
founding Golf Trip Magazine and initiated well-known golf events
such as the Asian Star Golf Charity Tournament, the Hanlin Cup
National College Golf Classic, the Star Enterprise Charity League,
and the Chaoshan open tournament. He has served as the
executive director of the China Health Industry Alliance. Mr.
Huang is familiar with a variety of investment scopes including
includes finance, culture and sports, movies, real estate
properties, upstream and downstream industrial parks. He has
rich experience and capabilities in commercial investment
operations and enterprise management.

Professor Huang Cibo (“Prof. Huang”), aged 62, joined the
Company as an independent non-executive Director in April
2022. He is also a member of each of the audit committee,
nomination committee, the remuneration committee, the risk
management committee and the share award committee of the
Board. Prof. Huang graduated from the Department of Medicine
of Xiangya School of Medicine, is among the first batch of
renowned doctors in the PRC. He currently serves as the
director of the Internal Medicine Branch of the Chinese Medical
Association, the vice president of the Rheumatology and
Immunology Branch and the director of the Immunosorbent
Branch of the Chinese Medical Doctor Association, the director of
the Rheumatology Branch of the Cross-Straits Medical and Health
Exchange Association, and the special consultation expert of the
Central Health Care Committee. He has worked in 301 Hospital,
Southern Hospital, People’s Hospital of the Guangdong Province
and Beijing Hospital for nearly 40 years, mainly engaged in
clinical diagnosis and treatment of internal medicine and
rheumatic immune diseases, scientific research and teaching, and
health care work for local senior cadres of the military.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESMRAEEERE

HONORARY CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF SCIENTIST
Academician Randy Wayne Schekman (“Academician
Schekman”), is a profound cell biologist. He received a BA in
Molecular Sciences from the University of California, Los Angeles
in 1971 and received a doctorate in biochemistry in 1975 from
Stanford University for research on DNA replication. He has been
a member of the National Academy of Sciences since 1992, and
was elected the President of the American Society for Cell
Biology in 1999. He was the founding director of the Stem Cell
Center of the University of California, Berkeley in 2015. He was
former editor-in-chief of Proceedings of the National Academy of
Sciences. In 2011, he was announced as the editor-in-chief of
elLife, a high-profile open-access journal published by the Howard
Hughes Medical Institute, the Max Planck Society and the
Wellcome Trust launching in 2012. He shared the 2013 Nobel
Prize for Physiology or Medicine with James Rothman and
Thomas C. Sudhof and received the Golden Plate Award of the
American Academy of Achievement in 2017. Academician
Schekman is currently the Chairman of Zhong Ji 1 International
Medical Group (USA) and the President of World Life Sciences
and Healthcare Association.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged an external service provider, Mr.
Yeung Yuk Hong (“Mr. Yeung”) as its company secretary.
Mr. Yeung, aged 34, holds a bachelor degree of Business
Administration (Honours) in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yeung has more
than 11 years' experience in auditing, accounting, initial public
offering and company secretarial matters.
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The Directors present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for FY2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange. The address of its registered office is Victoria
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street Hamilton, HM 10, Bermuda.
The principal place of business of the Company is Room 220,
2/F, Mega Cube, No.8 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
through its subsidiaries, engaging in the business of longevity
science business, money lending and financial advisory business,
securities and other investments and property investments. The
activities and the particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set
out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The discussion and analysis of principal activities of the Group as
required by Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including financial key
performance indicators, a fair review of the Company'’s business,
a description of principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company and future development in the Company’s business,
can be found in “Financial Results”, “Business Review"” and
"Qutlook” sections under the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
POLICIES

It is the Company’s belief that improvements in environmental,
social and governance (“ESG”) matters will enhance the
long-term performance of the Company as well as the benefits of
the Company’'s primary stakeholders, which include the
Shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers and other
business partners. Taking environmental policy as an example,
the Group is committed to build up an environmental-friendly
working environment by promoting energy savings in the offices
and collecting waste papers for recycling. The Group will
continue to make efforts to minimise its operational impact on
the environment and the use of natural resources. An ESG report
will be published separately on the Company’s website to report
the Company’s ESG policies and its compliance with the “comply
or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide
contained in Appendix C of the Listing Rules for FY2024. The
said ESG report is expected to be published on the Company’s
website no later than the end of April 2025.

DIREGTORS’ REPORT

EEgWmE

BEEREFEIBREEAN S -_MPRFEZ
REZEOMBRE -
TEXRK

AR ARBREFMA I ZERECEREMT
paEl ERORBERET - ARaZMER
Z Hb ik AVictoria Place, 5th Floor 31 Victoria
Street Hamilton, HM 10 Bermuda * M & E & ¥
HMERERBNENEE R LESKRAIFTI21E220

= o

ARRTEBREREERNANEBENBE LT
RERSHEXRK HEERTBRERNES &
ZREMEBEEMDEREXRR - TEZMEAR
ZEBRFBENGEEMBRRME -

7% o B8

EBIEDF6228 F B R AE B REPT AR E A
SEXIZERHzAWEON  BEBRMBE X
BIER BHARRXBZTEER YAQAE
HBrrERBETAMRER ZHEARARE
EBZRARER > RAFHRIEERE N fw Lo
PIMBEE] [XEMBEINREISFHEE

BRiE HEREBRE

ARBEE BRE #@RE/(RE #HEK
ERDITHEZBEAPRAARRRERR - [
RHARRTIZHNE (BRERR - EF - B8 -
HEBREMEBBH)EMN URRBRE
Bl AEBRNBEIRERGFEIERE &
WMAEHBEMORRRBEERFERKR - A&
BREEZENRIELBHERERRAERZ
ERATE ARAFBREBUESTEHRE -
HERERRE  NEBREBE_FT_MOHK
FREZERE HEREARRARETLMAR
Al ERCIRIE - HEREAMEHESI M T E
STREEIGXZER ARREHBHZER =
T HFUAREEPUETH LARE H§
REBRBE -

PERENSEEEFARAT 39
—E_MEFR



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
Save as the non-compliance set out in the sections headed
“Corporate Governance Report”, for the FY2024, the Group, to
the best of our knowledge, has complied with the Money
Lenders Ordinance, the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the
Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ"),
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and other relevant laws and
regulations.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for FY2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on page 89 and page 90
respectively.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividend.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend
payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant
rules and regulations and subject to the bye-laws of the
Company. Subject to compliance with applicable laws,
regulations and the bye-laws, in deciding whether to propose any
dividend payout, the Board will take into account the Group's
financial results, the earnings and distributable reserves, the
operations and liquidity requirements, the debt ratio and possible
effects on the credit lines, and the development plans of the
Company.

laws,
rules,

DONATIONS
There was no donation made by the Group during the FY2024

(FY2023: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL AND MANDATORY CONVERTIBLE
NOTES

Details of the movement in share capital of the Company and the
convertible notes during FY2024 are set out in note 32 and note
31 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as the Share Option Scheme and the convertible notes
issued, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the year
or subsisted at the end of the year.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Movements in the distributable reserves of the Company and the
Group during FY2024 are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 93.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the
Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in or exercising of any
rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to consult their
professional advisers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Bye-Laws and the laws in Bermuda.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 4 of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during FY2024 and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. YAN Li (Chairman)

Mr. YAN Yifan (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. CAO XIE Qiong

Mr. LI Xiaoshuang

Non-Executive Directors
Dr. HE Yiwu
Mr. LYU Changsheng

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LEE See Barry
Mr. HUANG Jiang
Prof. HUANG Cibo

Brief biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages
34 to 37 of this annual report. Mr. Yan Li holds 49,143,517
Shares. Mr. Yan Yifan is the nephew of Mr. Yan Li. Other than
the aforesaid, none of the Directors has any relationship with the
substantial shareholders as at the date of this report.
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The following changes to the Board composition were effected
during 2024 and prior to the date of this report:

(1) Mr. WANG Ning resigned as independent non-executive
Directors on 10 July 2024; and

(2)  Mr. HUANG Jiang was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 10 July 2024.

Mr. WANG Ning has no disagreement with the Board and
nothing relating to the affairs of the Company needed to be
brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Yan Yifan and Dr. He Yiwu, who was appointed by the Board
since the last annual general meeting, shall retire from office at
the forthcoming annual general meeting pursuant to clause 97 of
the Company's Bye-laws and, being eligible, have offered
themself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. Pursuant to clause 100(B) of the Company's Bye-laws,
Mr. Huang Jiang, being appointed by the Board on 10 July 2024,
shall hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting,
and, being eligible, has offered himself for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company, which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

The Board has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, any of its
fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in
which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.
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DIRECTOR’S RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the section of “Share Options” disclosed below, at no
time during FY2024 was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS
To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors
and their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) is considered to have any interests in the businesses
which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, other than those
businesses where the Directors were appointed as directors to
represent the interests of the Company and/or the Group.

INTERESTS IN A COMPETING

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Save as the details of the Group's related party transactions are
disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements,
there was no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions undertaken by the Company during the FY2024 and
up to date of this report which was required to be disclosed
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to clause 178 of the Company’'s Bye-Laws, every
Director, secretary and other officers shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of assets of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
he/she may incur or sustain by reason of any act execution of
their duty in their offices.

Such provision was in force during the course of FY2024 and
remained in force as of the date of this report. The Company has
taken out and maintained Directors’ and officers’ liabilities
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover
for the Directors.
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SHARE OPTIONS

2012 Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted two share option schemes, namely,
2012 Share Option Scheme and 2022 Share Option Scheme.
2012 Share Option Scheme expired on 11 June 2022. As at
31 December 2024, there was 3,868,000 outstanding share
options exercisable under 2012 Share Option Scheme. To the
best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having
made all reasonable enquiries, save for Mr. Li Xiaoshuang, who
was an independent third party at the time of the grant of the
share options, and subsequently resigned as consultant and was
appointed as an executive Director on 30 August 2021. The
period during which these share options can be exercised is
from 31 December 2023 to 30 December 2030. In respect of
2022 Share Option Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion,
grant options to any qualifying participant to subscribe for
Shares, subject to the terms and conditions stipulated therein.
The exercise price must be in compliance with the requirements
under the Listing Rules. In addition, the option vesting period is
determined by the Board provided that it is not later than the last
day of a 10-year period after the date of grant of options.

The following are the details of the options granted under 2012
Share Option Scheme:

31 December 2020 (the “Date of
Grant")

Date of grant:

HK$4.00 per new Share (as adjusted
taking into account the effect of the
Share Consolidation)

Exercise price of the
options granted:

Number of the
outstanding share
options granted:

3,868,000 Options (as adjusted taking
into account the effect of the Share
Consolidation)

HK$3.90 per Share (as adjusted
taking into account the effect of the
Share Consolidation)

The closing price of the
Shares immediately
before the date on
which share options
were granted:

Note:
A share consolidation on the basis that every ten (10) issued and unissued then

existing shares be consolidated into one (1) consolidated share had been
completed on 2 August 2023 (the “Share Consolidation”).
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2022 Share Option Scheme

On 29 July 2022, the Company adopted 2022 Share Option
Scheme for a term of 10 years. Under 2022 Share Option
Scheme, the Board shall be entitled to grant options to any
eligible participant (as defined hereinafter) as the Board may in its
absolute discretion select.

The number of share options available for grant under 2022
Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2024 was 38,701,026
Shares (as at 31 December 2023: 38,701,026 Shares (as adjusted
taking into account the effect of the Share Consolidation)).

Summary of 2022 Share Option Scheme disclosed in accordance
with the Listing Rules are set out below:

(1) Purpose of 2022 Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to:

(a)  motivate the participants of 2022 Share Option
Scheme to utilise their performance and efficiency for
the benefit of the Group;

(b) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an ongoing
relationship with the participants whose contributions
are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of
the Group, it is important that the Group should be
permitted to provide them, where appropriate, with an
incentive by offering them an opportunity to obtain an
ownership interest in the Company; and

(c)  reward the participants for contributing to the success
of the business of the Group.

(2) Eligible participants of 2022 Share Option Scheme

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to
full time or part time employees of the Group (including
any directors, whether executive or non-executive and
whether independent or not, of the Group), and service
contractors, agents or representatives, consultants,
advisers, suppliers and customers of the Group (collectively
the "Eligible Participants”) to subscribe for the share
options by the Board in its absolute discretion under 2022
Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHSE

—E_FERESTE
RZZE-Z—F+tA=-t+hB AXRERHK=-F=
—FERETE BHI0FE - RIE_T ==
BREANE EZoEEREZERBHRED
FAEERZ2EE(EERLTXO)ELBRE -

RZEBE-_WNE+_A=+—H8 RBRE-_ZT=-_—=
BT S AT N MBS B A£38,701,026
%%ﬁ%:%:z¢+—ﬂz+—a
38,701,0260% B fn (st R h & T EEIE
HA ) -

RIELTRAUBREN T - —FHERETER
ZMT

(1) —E-_—FBEKRETIHEL
ZETEMERNEREEAREEER:

@ HE-_T-_—_FEREFINZHE
ENMAERBALBMELSANEBRA

(b) WSl AR ok DA E fth 75 =X 4 5 B2 e
WA BAEAEBRRBAZERMEAERE
EEMN2EENEER HAEEM
W ATREEBRTREREMRY
BEEEZ AARAHRHES
RARIFEEERNES &

c) HBMLBEEHARRMEBLKIIE
TR ER -

(2) —FE-—FEKENEINEEKBH
&
ExeRBRAKEZ 2R FBES
(BRASEZEMNES  THEZETH
TEFIFPTES T THEZDHE
M) AR R AR REHRK - E
B #mAA AREZHEFREF (R
[EERSEE)RLBRE URBE=S
ERE_FT__FEREAIERNBR
i B B B o

PERENEEEFARAT 45
—E_NMEFR



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHE

(3)

46

The Company considers that the grant of Options to the
Participants will offer incentives for (i) employees to
improve their performance and efficiency; (ii) advisors,
service contractors and consultants to provide better
services to the Group (for example in terms of special skills
or technical knowledge to fill any void experienced by the
Group) and offer discounted service and consultant fees; (iii)
suppliers to offer more economic, quality and priority
supplies to the Group; (iv) customers to maximise the
quantity of their orders and increase loyalty to the Group;
and (v) agents and representatives to maximise the quality
of their service offerings to the Group, thereby optimising
performance efficiency and benefiting the long-term growth
of the Group. It is important for the Group to provide them
with opportunities to obtain a shareholding interest in the
Company and to reward them for contributing to the
Group’s long-term success and prosperity. In assessing the
eligibility of the participants, the Company will consider
whether the participants will or have contributed to the
Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and
usual course of business which are material to the long-
term growth of the Group. Such assessment will be based
including but not limited to (i) the
individual performance, time commitment, responsibilities or
employment conditions according to the prevailing market
practice and industry standard (ii) the length of
engagement and/or business relationship with the Group;
(iii) the materiality and nature of the business relationship
with the Group (such as whether they relate to the core
business of the Group and whether such business dealings
could be readily replaced by third parties); (iv) track record
in the quality of services provided to and/or cooperation
with the Group; and (v) the scale of business dealings with
the Group with regard to factors such as the actual or
expected change in the Group's revenue or profits which is
or may be attributable to the participants.

on various factors

Total number of shares available for issue under
2022 Share Option Scheme and percentage of
issued shares as at the date of this Annual
Report

The total number of share options available for grant under
the scheme mandate of 2022 Share Option Scheme upon
its adoption on 29 July 2022 and as at 31 December 2024
were both 38,701,026 Shares.
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For FY2024, no share option was granted under 2022
Share Option Scheme. Accordingly, as at 31 December
2024, there was no share option outstanding under 2022
Share Option Scheme and no shares of the Company that
might be issued pursuant thereto.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the total number of
shares available for issue under 2022 Share Option Scheme
remained at 38,701,026 Shares, which represented
approximately 7.63% of the ordinary shares of the
Company in issue.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
2022 Share Option Scheme

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted to each eligible participant in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue at the date
of such grant.

No service provider sub-limit was set under 2022 Share
Option Scheme.

The period within which the option may be
exercised by the Grantee under 2022 Share
Option Scheme

A period to be notified by the Board to each Grantee and
not more than 10 years from the date of grant.

The vesting period of options granted under 2022
Share Option Scheme
As determined by the Board on a case-by-case basis.

The amount payable on application or acceptance
of the option and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made or loans
for such purposes must be repaid

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the
grantee upon acceptance of an option within 21 days from
the date of grant.

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHSE

RZZE_NHREE  SiERE-_T=—
FHEBREAERLEMERE - ALt - &
E=moWE= A== » =B ==
BREE T ES RTENBRE
EARE BB BEITHARRRKRY -

HEAFERBAH BE_T - _FHIRE
518 AT B 1T A A% 19 2 E1) £38,701,026
B AR RRIEBITEBRMNLT63% -

TECCHFEREGE T ENSHEE
B &R & B #E

BRIEESKERIE  TAEEEZEEBEH
REMI12E AR RiTERTEMEE
W2EENEREMEBETREEITHR
MEBTESBBREEPRARTZEITR
Tﬁ ?@ %( E‘/‘] 1 % °©

R-F-—FERESSBATITHEE LT
] BR 75 (k7 > HR PR B8 -

CEC—FERETETEARATITE
BRENR

HESSRNSARANIGRE  AREH
BB TN I10F o

RE—E-_FBERETIIFRLE
R R B A
MEFZRABBAMETE

B A 75 B 12 A B8 IR 7 30 2 ) 5 JE 1 Y
&5 LR 45 78 B B BE F Hi 1 5% BE 1 4
HEHLREEARZEZEE A
HY R IR
ERANER L B 2IRAE N EIRER -
AXH1.008 T REBIER(E -

PERENEEEFARAT 47
—E_NMEFR



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHE

(8) The basis of determining the exercise price of 8 HBHEBRETEENETER
options granted

The exercise price shall be determined by the Board and
stated in the offer letter, which must be at least the higher
of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; and
(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant and

(iii) the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant.
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(9) The remaining life of 2022 Share Option Scheme (9)
The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing on the effective date, i.e. 29 July 2022
and shall expire on the tenth anniversary thereof, i.e. 29
July 2032.

Movements of the aforesaid share options during the period it BERERERMNE ST

were as follow:

Number of share options under 2012 Share Option Scheme

RE-S-—ERRESHNERERE

Outstanding Cancelled/  Outstanding Exercise Exercise price
as at Date of grant Granted Exercised lapsed as at  Vesting period of share
1 January  of share during the during during the 31 December  period of (both days options
Category 2024  options Year the Year Year 2024  share option inclusive) HK$ per share
R-B-m#
RZ2-mE t=h T BRE
-A-B HBhRE FRiH/ =t-8 BRE (BEER e
5 HARTE RUAH EREL FRTE P HATHE BEH me) sRiER
Director — LI Xiaoshuang 3,868,000 31 December - - - 3,868,000 Vested on 31 31 December 4.00
2020 December 2024 to 30
2024 December
2030
Ex-F)% b =HSlmE  ZEShE
T=A = =
==k Er—F Er—EZE
BEE ZZ=%%
T=R=TFE
Save as disclosed above, there were no share options granted B FXFHEEEI  R-ZE M K EE N

and exercised under 2022 Share Option Scheme during FY2024.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted the share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 18 May 2021. The Company shall comply
with the relevant Listing Rules when granting the Awarded
Shares. Under the transitional arrangements before the Share
Award Scheme are amended to comply with the new Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules that became effective on 1 January 2023, if
awards are made to the directors or substantial shareholders of
the Group, such awards shall constitute connected transaction
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the Company shall
comply with the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules.
The principal terms of the Plan were summarised as follows:

(a) Purpose
The purpose and objective of the Share Award Scheme are
to recognise the contributions by the certain Participants to
the development and growth of the Group and to provide
them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

(b) Eligible Participants
The eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme
shall include any person, being a consultant, advisor,
distributor, contractor, customer, supplier, agent or service
provider of any member of the Group.

(c) Total number of shares available for issue
The total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Award Scheme is 38,701,026 Shares (as adjusted
taking into account the effect of the Share Consolidation),
which represented approximately 7.63% of the issued
shares of the Company as at the date of this annual report.
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The maximum entitlement of each participant
under the Share Award Scheme and Scheme
Limit

The Board shall not make any make any further award
which will result in the aggregated number of restricted
shares granted pursuant to the Share Award Scheme
(excluding restricted shares that have been forfeited in
accordance with the Share Award Scheme) exceeding 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company (the maximum
number of restricted shares that may be awarded shall not
exceed 38,680,000 shares (as adjusted taking into account
the effect of the Share Consolidation)) as at the adoption
date. The maximum number of shares in the Company
which may be awarded to a selected participant under the
Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the 18 May 2021 (the
“"Adoption Date").

No service provider sub-limit was set under the Share
Award Scheme.

Vesting period

The Share Award Scheme does not specify a minimum
period but the Board may in its absolute discretion set a
minimum period before the awarded shares are vested.

Duration

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by
the Board pursuant to the rules of the Share Award
Scheme, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a term of 10 years commencing Adoption
Date.
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(h)

Administration

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board and the Trustee in accordance
with the rules of the Share Award Scheme and the Trust
Deed. The Share Award Committee (and/or the Trustee
pursuant to its powers under the Trust Deed) is authorized
by the Board, from time to time, at its absolute discretion
select any participant (excluding any participant who is
resident in a place where the Award and/or the vesting and
transfer of the shares of the Company pursuant to the
terms of the Share Award Scheme is not permitted under
the laws and regulations of such place or where in the view
of the Share Award Committee or the Trustee (as the case
may be) compliance with applicable laws and regulations in
such place make it necessary or expedient to exclude such
participant (the “Excluded Person”)) as a selected
participant pursuant to the Share Award Scheme. In respect
of each proposed Award, the Share Award Committee will
consider, amongst others, the number of restricted shares,
the vesting period and conditions for vesting.

Vesting & Lapse

In relation to a selected participant, subject to the fulfilment
of all vesting conditions (if any) to the vesting of the
restricted shares on such selected participant, the restricted
shares held by the trustee on behalf of the selected
participant shall vest in such selected participant pursuant
to the rules of the Share Award Scheme. The Board shall
have absolute discretion to waive the fulfilment of any
vesting condition. Any restricted shares granted under the
Share Award Scheme but not yet vested shall be personal
to the selected participant to whom it is made and shall not
be assignable or transferrable and no selected participant
shall in any way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber
or create any interest in favour of any other person over or
in relation to any Award, or enter into any agreement to do
SO.

(9)

(h)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHSE

BB
RHEEGEERESERITARER
MEBERAREARBEER -EFQ
BEBRNMRBHZES (R HIBRBETR
AR TERIONIFEA) THRE R M 2
BietEl e REMBEREMB2HEE (T
PRENEEEE THEN28E - MZ
@ B E R RO AT 1 TR IR B 1D 22 B
AEIMBRERTREBR BB REER
/E\ﬂﬂx EROHRBHEZEENRITEAGR
EAME)RABETZHENEREZEZR
ii‘ﬁﬁxjﬂﬂ%f@%%ﬁéﬁi%((@%k
TINERKET2HEE - RNEBEZEES
HHEBREERREREERE RN H
E BEHNEBRHEZFRE-

BEREAN
'%W“E SHEME @ FRLE
%x@ﬂh@%%ﬁ?%@ﬁ@ﬂ)%
W& XEARRLCETL2HAERANT
ﬁﬁ%”Hﬁfﬁﬂ#ﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ@]uﬂ‘z‘Jfﬁﬁ'J E?
DEKBRT2HEE SEGAHEBE
%Lﬁ@ﬂi%%ﬁ ﬁﬁkﬁﬁ%f%
BB 18k 57 B A ) 2R AR 1D /B IR
RO EE2uaE@ANMFELREH
ENEE CETRHEERAEUEMANS
NAEAEMATHE « @3  HifgiR

ESHEE

z 2R

%Eﬁﬁ@ i%&ﬁﬁ@u&ﬂﬁ@A
i%§¥ RTEERES E IR
'&%i 1T B) AT S AT ] s o

TERSNERMAMALT 51
—R-mEFR



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHE

52

In the event that prior to or on the vesting date, a selected
participant is found to be an Excluded Person or is deemed
to cease to be an eligible person or any event of lapse is
applicable to such selected participant pursuant to the rules
of the Scheme, the relevant award made to such selected
participant shall automatically lapse and the
restricted shares shall not vest on the relevant vesting date
but shall remain part of the Trust Fund and would be used
for further awards subject to relevant terms of the Share
Award Scheme and compliance with the Listing Rules and
all applicable laws.

relevant

Restriction

The Board or Share Award Committee may not grant any
award to any selected participants in any of the following
circumstances under the Share Award Scheme (a) where
any requisite approval from any applicable regulatory
authorities has not been granted; (b) where any member of
the Group will be required under applicable securities laws,
rules or regulations to issue a prospectus or other offer
documents in respect of such award of the Share Award
Scheme, unless the Board determines otherwise; (c) where
such award would result in a breach by any member of the
Group or its directors of any applicable securities laws,
rules or regulations in any jurisdiction; (d) where such grant
of award would result in a breach of the scheme limit as
set out in the Share Award Scheme; (e) where any Director
is in the possession of unpublished inside information in
relation to the Group or where dealings by directors are
prohibited under any code or requirement of the Listing
Rules and all applicable laws, rules or regulations.

The total number of restricted shares available for granted
under the Share Award Scheme as at 31 December 2024
was 38,701,026 Shares (31 December 2023: 38,701,026
Shares). No restricted shares have been granted under the
Share Award Scheme up to the date of this report.

The total number of Shares that may be issued in respect
of options and awards granted under all share schemes of
the Company during FY2024 divided by the weighted
average number of Shares in issue for the year was
16.02%.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors, the chief executive of the Company nor their close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interests or
short positions in the shares of the Company, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which any such Directors or the chief
executive of the Company is taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required to be recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company, pursuant to
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Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) were required to be notified to JABE W T :
the Company or the Stock Exchange, pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing rules, were as follows:
Number of
Number of underlying Total number of
Shares held in Shares held Shares in
long position (L)/ long position (L)/ long position (L)/ Percentage
Name of Directors Capacity short position (S) short position (S) short position (S) (Note 1)
FEFEL)/ FEFAEL/ FAL)ER(S) Epald
EEgE &1 ERCIKRHAHE REAS)EERDEE B 17 48 & (Bta1)
Mr. YAN Li Beneficial owner and 49,143,517 (L) == = 8.99% (L)
interest of controlled
corporation
BakE EalAEAR
NG £
Ms. CAO Xie Qiong Interest of spouse 4,660,000 + 4,660,000 (L) 0.85% (L)
TRt i (B4 &=
Mr. LI Xiaoshuang (Note 2) Beneficial owner = 3,868,000 (L) 3,868,000 (L) 0.71% (L)
FNEEE (f5E2) ExBEAA
Notes: M at -
i This represented the approximate percentage of the total number of issued ik WHEER-ZZE_NF+_A=+—HZEBITRHE
Shares as at 31 December 2024. E i ON= R d
2. Mr. Li Xiaoshuang held 3,868,000 share options of the Company entiting 2. TN AEH3,868,0000 R AR ERE BMTHR

him to subscribe for 3,868,000 Shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company and/or their
respective close associates had any interests or short positions in
any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as being known to the Directors
or chief executive of the Company, the interests and short
positions of the substantial Shareholders or other persons (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) in the
Shares and underlying Shares which have been disclosed to the
Company pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO and have been recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:

BREXHBEEEN  RZZE-_MOF+_A=+—
A HBEXARAEERESTHRAE R HEK
EREZETHEARARA S EEMBE

B(E&ELBAFRBAEGRMEXVE) 2ERBKD
HEARDREZTHEAEAEDZIAS -

FERRRESG  HERORESZ
=

RZEBE-_WNEF+_A=1+—8 MARARES=K
RETBRAEMA  FERERKEMA L (AR
RIESAESTHRABRIN R RMD RIEER DK
HFHEBEREESRBAEERGEXVEE2RID &
ZEXERAQRBEERE L ARIEE SR
BIEHE336KARTATECERMoEE R
KEWT

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company: RAEAQTEBRZHFR

Approximate

Number of percentage of

Number of underlying  Total number of issued share

Shares held in  Shares entitled in Shares in capital of the

long position (L)/ long position (L)/ long position (L)/ Company

Name Capacity short position (S) short position (S) short position (S) (Note 1)

HRAR

FERRAL/ BEfTREZ

FEFEL,/ KEG)HE FAL/ %A BHEM

#B/t% gt RES)RHEE RHO#E ReEE (K1)

Batani Papu Mdharam Beneficial owner 50,530,000 (L) - 50,530,000 (L) 9.24% (L)
ERAEA

Chainrai Balram Beneficial owner 50,000,000 (L) = 50,000,000 (L) 9.15% (L)
ERBAA

Wang Jianyong Beneficial owner 46,511,628 (L) = 46,511,628 (L) 8.15% (L)
FREK ERAEA

Yan Zhen Beneficial owner 30,000,000 (L} = 30,000,000 (L) 5.49% (L)
BZ ERBAA

So Hoi Wing, Jackson Beneficial owner 30,000,000 (L) = 30,000,000 (L) 5.49% (L)

S EaBAA
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Note:

m Based on a total of 546,529,549 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
had not been notified of any other interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or recorded in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts, no other contracts relating to the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During FY2024, the aggregate amount of revenue attributable to
the Group’s five largest customers and the largest customer
represented approximately 72% and 39% respectively (FY2023:
54% and 34% respectively) of the Group's total revenue.

During FY2024, the aggregate amount of cost of services
attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers and the largest
supplier represented approximately 91% and 90% respectively
(FY2023: 92% and 77% respectively) of the Group’s total cost of
services.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in any of the Group's five largest
customers and suppliers as at 31 December 2024.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group has joined the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all of its employees in Hong Kong and
defined contribution retirement plans for the Group’s eligible
employees in the PRC. Particulars of the MPF Scheme are set
out in “Retirement benefits costs” section under note 3.2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during FY2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the best knowledge of the Directors, the Board
confirmed that the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float as required under the Listing Rules during FY2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group has not made any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries during the reporting year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE OF

31 DECEMBER 2024

1. Reference is made to the Company’s announcements dated
11 November 2024, 15 November 2024, 24 December
2024 and 15 January 2025 in relation to the entering into
the 2025 revolving loan agreement.

On 11 November 2024, Joy Wealth Finance Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as the lender,
and HK Zhong Ji 1, Asian Integrated, International Medical
and Longevity Medical, as the borrowers and Mr. Yan Li as
guarantor, entered into the 2025 revolving loan agreement
pursuant to which, among other things, the lender has
conditionally agreed to grant the 2025 revolving loan in the
principal amount of up to a maximum of HK$30,000,000 to
the borrowers for a term from the effective date and up to
31 December 2027 for the purpose of financing new
business development projects and general working capital
of the borrowers subject to the terms and conditions
therein.
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The entering into the 2025 Revolving Loan Agreement
constitutes a continuing connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The transaction is
completed on 15 January 2025 upon the special general
meeting held on the same date. For more details, please
refer to the Company’'s announcements dated 11
November 2024, 15 November 2024, 24 December 2024
and 15 January 2025 in relation to the entering into the
2025 revolving loan agreement.

Save for the above, the Board is not aware of any other
important event requiring disclosure that has taken place
subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this report.

2. Reference is made to the Company’s announcements dated
27 July 2022 and 12 October 2022 respectively in relation
to the entering a nicotinamide mononucleotide (“NMN")
dietary products sale Consultancy Service Agreement with
Speedy Brilliant Investments Limited on 24 June 2022.
Considering the PRC sluggish market circumstance, change
of American-made NMN status as a medicine in FY2024
and other unforeseeable factors, apart from seeking legal
opinions on contractual remedies, the Company since
February 2025 has in re-negation with the concern party
addressing these matters include alternative products or
service sales to perform, and will provide timely disclosure
regarding any material developments.

APPOINTMENT AND REAPPOINTMENT OF
AUDITOR

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 2021 were audited by KTC Partners CPA Limited (“KTC").
However, KTC resigned as the Company’s auditors with effect
from 12 January 2022, and the Board subsequently resolved to
appoint Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite”) as the new auditors
with effect from 12 January 2023 to fill the casual vacancy. The
details of this auditor change were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 12 January 2023.

As further disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 2
December 2024, the Board resolved to appoint CCTH as the new
auditors with effect from 2 December 2024, following the
resignation of Elite.
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 The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 AARBE-_T-_mE+= =] —=HlREe]:

" December 2024 were audited by CCTH, who will retire and, 4AMBEHRECHAAFAXKMAEREREZ -
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the FIEXEFHERARREERRERBAFAE LET L
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. BHEEREBERASLEBAERXZME - !

On behalf of the Board REREZS

Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited FERSENESZEERAT
Yan Li *E

Chairman 5l

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025 BB —E-_AF=ZA=+/N\H




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is committed to uphold a high standard of corporate
governance practices and business ethics in the belief that they
are essential for maintaining and promoting investors’ confidence
and maximising Shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its
corporate governance practices from time to time in order to
meet the rising expectations of Shareholders and comply with
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements (both locally and
internationally), and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Current Board, with the best information available, confirmed
that the Company has applied the principles of, and complied
with, the applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code ("CG Code") set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules
for FY2024, except for certain deviation as specified with
considered reasons for such deviation which are explained
below.

Also, the Company has complied with the risk management and
internal control code provisions D.2.4 during the year. In
particular, the Risk management Committee monitors the
Company to disclose the following:

(a)  the process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks;

(b)  the main features of risk management and internal control
system,;

(c)  an acknowledgement by the Board that it is responsible for
the risk management and internal control system and
reviewing its effectiveness;

(d) the process used to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control system; and

(e)  the process used to resolve material internal control defects
for any significant problems disclosed in its annual reports
and financial statements.

A comprehensive analysis of the risks affecting the business of
the Company and the mitigation measures is set out in the
section of “Risk management and internal controls” on pages 74
to 78 in this Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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THE BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises of four
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. Formal letters of
appointment for Directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment were executed by all Directors.
Mr. Yan Li, Mr. Yan Yifan and Ms. Cao Xie Qiong were not
appointed for a specific or proposed term; and Mr. Li
Xiaoshuang, Dr. He Yiwu, Mr. Lyn Changsheng, Mr. Lee See
Barry, Mr. Huang Jiang and Prof. Huang Cibo were appointed for
a term of two years but all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The key responsibility of the Board is overseeing the business
and how the management serves the interests of the
Shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board assumes
responsibility for leadership and control of the Company and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Directors,
individually and collectively, must act in good faith in the best
interests of the Company and its Shareholders, and ensure good
corporate governance and compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements.

The roles of the Board include reviewing and guiding corporate
strategies and policies, monitoring financial and operating
performance and setting appropriate risk management policies.
All Directors should take decisions objectively in the interests of
the Company. To achieve this, the Board has adopted corporate
governance principles aimed at ensuring that the Board is
independent and fully informed on the key strategic issues facing
the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating
to policy matters, strategies and budgets, risk management and
internal control, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing, and coordinating the daily operation of the
Company are delegated to the management.
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THE COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The Board has established five board committees, being the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Risk Management Committee and the Share
Award Committee (collectively the “Board Committees”) to
oversee different areas of the Company’s affairs. All Board
Committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense.

Under the Bye-Laws of the Company, one-third of the Directors,
or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest one-third, shall be subject to retirement by
rotation. They are required to retire from office at each annual
general meeting and their re-election is subject to a vote of the
Shareholders. Retiring Directors are eligible for re-election at the
annual general meeting at which they retire. Further, any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company but shall
be eligible for re-election at the meeting. Separate resolutions are
proposed for the election of each Director.

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in
pages 34 to 37 of this annual report, which demonstrates a
diversity of skills, expertise, experience and qualification.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are Mr. Yan Li and
Mr. Yan Yifan respectively.
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As at the date of this report, the composition of the Board and

RABERY EFSREZTZESHENHAT

the Board Committees are given below and their respective f0F - MEMEERERBENRANRE wHI -
responsibilities are discussed in this report.
Risk
Audit Nomination Remuneration Management Share Award
Board of Directors Committee = Committee Committee Committee Committee
[ B B 4
EEg ENZE® REZEY yMWEEE EEZE® RBEES
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. YAN Li B LE - chairman - chairman chairman
Mr. YAN Yifan B—mts - - - - -
Mr. LI Xiaoshuang TNE A - - - - -
Ms. CAO XIE Qiong EE -3 n - - - - -
Non-Executive FHTES
Directors
Dr. HE Yiwu A IR E - - - - - -
Mr. Lyn Changsheng aRBLE - - - - -
Independent BIYFHTES
Non-executive
Directors
Mr. LEE See Barry =BRE chairman member member member member
Mr. Huang Jiang =LA member member chairman member member
Prof. HUANG Cibo HERBEHE member member member member member

An updated list of the Directors, identifying their roles and
functions at the Company, is available on the websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the Bye-laws and the CG Code, every Director is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at least once
every three years. All the non-executive Directors are subject to
the aforesaid retirement requirements and are appointed for a

specific term of not more than three years.
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The Board has three independent non-executive Directors, and at
least one of them has the appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. The Board has received from
each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual
written confirmation of his independence pursuant to the Listing
Rules, and considered that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

The number of Board meetings, committees meetings and
general meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2024
and the Directors’ respective attendance record are summarised
as follows:
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EERF-2BUFRTESF MEFRI —
HEABLETRAMRECEEEXERAE
AR EREENE -ESSCRKESR
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YHEEEHRAE AURBEEBIUFNTES
YV RBL e
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Number of Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend

HE/CEREESERY
Risk Annual
Audit Nomination Remuneration Management General
Name of Director 43X Board Committee = Committee  Committee  Committee Meeting
Bk E R B
EEX® EBHnEEY REZR% FHZEg ZE8 AExE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. YAN Li Bk 1m - 2/2 - n n
Mr. YAN Yifan B—lEE 12/12 - - - - n
Ms. CAO Xie Qiong FE3 G 712 - - - - 11
Mr. LI Xiaoshuang FNELE 1212 - - - - 11
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Dr. HE Yiwu AR B 2/12 - - - - n
Mr. Lyn Changsheng BREBEE 1212 = = = - 1
Independent Non-executive Directors BYHTES
Mr. LEE See Barry FREE 1212 2/2 2/2 11 1
Mr. WANG Ning TERAE
(resigned on 10 July 2024) (R=ZZ-WF
+ A+ BEE) 6/6 2/2 2/2 n 1
Prof. HUANG Cibo BRRAR 12/12 2/2 2/2 1 10
Mr. Huang Jiang BILELAE
(appointed on 10 July 2024) (R=F-WF
tA+HE
Z 1) 6/6 = = = =
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Regular Board meetings are convened and held by the Company,
and the Directors are given adequate notice to attend such
regular Board meetings or other Board meetings. The Directors
are also provided in a timely manner with appropriate information
in such form and of such quality as will enable them to make an
informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors. Minutes of regular Board meetings,
other Board meetings or other committees meetings are
recorded in sufficient details. Draft and final versions of minutes
are circulated to all Directors for comments and records
respectively, within a reasonable time after the Board meetings
or committee meetings are held. Final versions of minutes are
kept by the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) and are open for inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice by any Director.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

For having a diversified Board which is regarded as an essential
element in the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development, in August 2013, the Board adopted a
Board Diversity Policy with principles as summarised below.

The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the
composition of the Board and makes recommendations to the
Board on appointment of new Directors. The Nomination
Committee also oversees the conduct of the annual review of
the effectiveness of the Board. In reviewing and assessing the
composition of the Board, the Nomination Committee will
consider the benefits of all aspects of diversity in order to
maintain an appropriate range and balance of talents, skills,
experience and background on the Board. In recommending
candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective
criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service etc.

The workforce of the Group currently comprises a total of 55
full-time employees, of which 19 are male (approximately 34.5%)
and 36 are female (approximately 65.5%). As the principal
business of the Group is engaged in longevity science business,
money lending and financial advisory business, securities and
other investments business, and property investment business.
With a diversify business operation, the Group believes already
achieved a gender diversity.
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The Board currently comprises of nine Directors, one of which
are female, reflecting the Company’s on-going belief to achieve
gender diversity. The Company shall continue to uphold the
appointment based on merit principle while adhering to the
Board Diversity Policy on the whole, and aim to maintain a
comparable level of female representation on the Board.

The Group will continue to source outstanding talents both within
and outside the Group to strive and achieve gender diversity in
the senior management level in the coming five years.

DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of the legal action against the Directors and the officers
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Each newly appointed Director is provided with comprehensive
induction to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
operations and businesses of the Group as well as his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

During the year, all Directors were provided with regular updates
on the Group's business and operation and information which
covered topics including but not limited to the CG Code, the
disclosure and compliance of inside information, updates and
changes in relation to legislative and regulatory requirements in
which the Group conducts its business for their study and
reference. During the year, all Directors have participated in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills, with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code
by reading relevant news, journals, magazines and relevant
publications. The Company has provided information relating to
the regulatory update and extracted certain materials from the
website of the Stock Exchange to directors for their own study
to strengthen their understanding on the Listing Rules from time
to time.
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The record of continuous professional development relating to &HE-_Z-_WNF&E+-_A=+—HItFE EFE
director’s duties and regulatory and business development that BSHEEZ=BRENETULRELERERBONSE
have been received by the Directors during the year ended 31 EEZEZEEMM AT

December 2024 are summarised as follows:

Directors = Type of training
1 Bl
(Note)
(H1 &)
Executive Director BTES
Mr. YAN Li (Chairman) B kE(ER) A B
Mr. YAN Yifan (Chief Executive Officer) B—WNEE(TTHAEZ) A, B
Mr. LI Xiaoshuang TN A A, B
Ms. CAO XIE Qiong EE g A, B
Non-executive Director FHTES
Dr. HE Yiwu ] JR i 18 + A, B
Mr. Lyn Changsheng aRBLEAE A, B
Independent Non-executive Director BIYFHITES
Mr. LEE See Barry ETREAE A, B
Mr. HUANG Jiang I A A, B
Prof. HUANG Cibo B ROR B A, B
Notes: M aF -
Types of training 3Z 5| 48 Bl
A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefing, seminars, A : 2MEBIRE BEATRAGHRE Mg &
conferences, forums and workshops #omERIES
B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant B : MEFELFTRAUSZHER HOEREERTRE
publications relating to the latest development of the Listing Rules, other ERERECNEBIBER - |E - BH - HE
applicable regulatory requirements and directors’ duties and responsibilities 6 78 T 1

66 Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited
2024 Annual Report



DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions as set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules. Having
made enquiry to all Directors, they all have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code during the year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of three independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
Huang Jiang (Chairman), Mr. Lee See Barry and Prof. Huang Cibo.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee are:

(@)  to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration;

(b)  to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management (i.e. the model described in the code
provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code), including benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment, and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee should consider factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-
based remuneration;

(c) to review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

(d) to review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment
to ensure that such compensation is determined in
accordance with relevant contractual terms and that such
compensation is otherwise fair and not excessive for the
Company;
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(e)  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to
ensure that
accordance with relevant contractual terms and that any
compensation payment is otherwise reasonable and
appropriate; and

such arrangements are determined in

(f)  to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration.

The remuneration payable to the Directors and senior
management is determined by reference to their experiences and
duties with the Company and the estimated time spent by them
on the Company’'s matters. During the year, 2 meetings were
held to (a) review the Company's policy on remuneration of the
Group; (b) review the performance and recommended the
remuneration of the Directors and senior management to the
Board; and (c) recommend the remuneration of newly appointed
Directors and senior management to the Board.

Details of the Directors’ and the chief executive’'s remuneration
are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee
comprises of the chairman of the board and three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Yan Li (Chairman), Mr. Lee See
Barry, Mr. Huang Jiang and Prof. Huang Cibo.

The role and function of the Nomination Committee are:

(@) to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and length of service) of the
Board at least annually; and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to implement the
Company's corporate strategy;

(b)  to consider the skills mix needed in respect of the Directors
and make recommendations to the Board;

(c) to identify and nominate candidates to fill casual vacancies
of the Directors for the Board’s approval. Academic and
professional qualifications, business experience, expertise
and knowledge as well as other requirements under the
Listing Rules will be assessed to determine if the
nomination is suitable;
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(d) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and review the independent non-executive
Directors’ annual confirmations on their independence; and
make disclosure of its review results in the Corporate
Governance Report;

(e) to regularly review the time required from a Director to
perform his responsibilities;

(f)  to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of the
Directors and succession planning for the Directors in
particular the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive;

(g) to do any such things to enable the Nomination Committee
to discharge its powers and functions conferred on it by the
Board; and

(h)  to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that
may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the Company's constitution or imposed by
legislation.

During the year, 2 meetings were held by the Nomination
Committee to, among other things, (a) review the structure, size
and composition of the Board, (b) make recommendation for
appointment of the Directors, (c) assess the independence of
each of the independent non-executive Directors, and (d) review
the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered the Group achieved the policy since its adoption.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises of
three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Lee See Barry
(Chairman), Mr. Huang Jiang and Prof. Huang Cibo.
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The role and function of the Audit Committee are:

Relationship with the Company’s auditors

(a)

70

to be primarily responsible for making recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the external auditor and to approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standard. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the external auditor before the audit
commences, the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations, and ensure co-ordination where more
than one audit firm is involved;

to develop and implement policy on the engagement of an
external auditor to supply non-audit services. For this
purpose, external auditor shall include any entity that is
under common control, ownership or management with the
audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed third
party having knowledge of all relevant information would
reasonably conclude as part of the audit firm nationally or
internationally. The Audit Committee should report to the
Board, identifying any matters in respect of which it
considers that action or improvement is needed and making
recommendations as to the steps to be taken; and

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company's relations with the external auditor.
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Review of financial information of the Company

to monitor integrity of financial statements of the Company
and the Company’s annual report and accounts, interim
report and, if preparation for publication of quarterly
reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them. In this regard, in reviewing
the Company’s annual report and accounts, interim report
and if prepared for publication, quarterly reports before
submission to the Board, the Audit Committee should focus
particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;
(i) major judgemental areas;
(i) significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv)  the going concern assumption and any qualifications;

(v)  compliance with accounting standards; and

(vij compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

as regards to (e) above:

(i) members of the Audit Committee must liaise with the
Board, the Company's senior management and the
person appointed as the Company’s qualified
accountant and the Audit Committee must meet, at
least twice a year, with the Company's external
auditors; and

(i) the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be,
reflected in such reports and accounts and must give
due consideration to any matters that have been
raised by the Company’'s staff responsible for the
accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or external auditors.
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Oversight of the Group’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems

(9)

e

to review the Group's financial controls, and unless expressly
addressed by a separate board risk committee, or by the
Board itself, to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with the management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have effective systems. This discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or
on its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure
coordination between the internal and external auditors, and
to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the Group,
and to review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group's financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor's management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management in
respect of the accounting records, financial accounts or
systems of control and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor's management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters set out in this terms
of reference;

to review the Company's arrangements for its employees
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters. The Audit Committee shall ensure that proper
arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up
action; and

to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.
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Corporate Governance Functions

() to develop and review the Company's policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(N to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

(s)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(t) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

(u)  to review the Company’'s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the half-
yearly and annual financial results and reports as well as the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems and internal audit function. The Audit Committee
also met the external auditor and monitored the re-appointment
of external auditor. Besides, the Audit Committee performed the
corporate governance duties as delegated by the Board as
discussed above.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee during the year.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to CCTH CPA Ltd. (“CCTH"), the external
auditors of the Company, in respect of audit services and
non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted to HK$1,280,000 and nil respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE GROUP’S
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of financial statements of the Group which are
prepared in accordance with the relevant statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards in force, and are published in
a timely manner. The Directors are responsible for selecting and
applying on a consistent basis suitable accounting policies and
ensuring timely adoption of Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

The Board understands the importance of presenting a clear and
comprehensive assessment of the Group’s overall performance,
financial positions as well as prospects in a timely manner; and
the Board is pleased to report that, so far, the annual and interim
results of the Group are announced within the prescribed
periods.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board acknowledges its responsibility in (i) maintaining the
risk management and internal control system for the Group to
safeguard the investments of the Shareholders and assets of the
Group at all times; and (ii) evaluating the effectiveness of such
system. The system of internal control aims to help achieving the
Group’s business objectives, safeguarding assets and maintaining
proper accounting records for provision of reliable financial
information. However, the design of the system is to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement in the financial statements or loss of assets and to
manage, rather than eliminate, the risks of failure when business
objectives are being sought.

The Directors acknowledge that they have overall responsibility
for overseeing the Company’s internal control, financial control
and risk management system and shall monitor its effectiveness
on an ongoing basis. A review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems has been conducted by
the Board at least annually.

Aimed at providing reasonable assurance against material errors,
losses or fraud, the Company has established risk management
procedures which comprised the following steps:

o Identify risks: Identify major and significant risks that could
affect the achievement of goals of the Group;
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o Risk assessment: Assess and evaluate the identified risk
according to its likely impact and the likelihood of
occurrence; and

o Risk mitigation:
mitigate the risks.

Develop effective control activities to

Risk identification and assessment are performed or updated
annually, and the results of risk assessment, evaluation and
mitigation of each function or operation are documented to
communicate to the Board and the management of the Company
for reviews.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are,
however, designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

A review on the internal control systems of the Company,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions has been carried out by an independent
professional third party to conduct an independent review.

The Audit Committee reviewed the internal control review report
issued by the independent professional third party and the
Company's risk management and internal control systems in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 and considered
that they are effective and adequate. The Board assessed the
effectiveness of internal control systems by considering the
internal control review report and reviews performed by the Audit
Committee and concurred the same. The Risk Management
Committee, which was delegated by the Board, will review the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management system. The Audit
Committee and the Board will continue to review the need for an
internal audit function on an annual basis.

Also, the risk management committee was established on 31
March 2023. As at the date of this report, the risk management
committee comprises of the chairman of the board and three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yan Li (Chairman), Mr.
Lee See Barry, Mr. Huang Jiang and Prof. Huang Cibo.
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The risk management committee is responsible for monitoring
and overseeing the risk policies and strategies of the Group, and
also support the Board in overseeing the management of climate
risks and providing directions to address the impact of climate
change and consider climate-related risks and opportunities in a
holistic manner.

During the Financial Year 2024, the risk management committee
held one meeting to review the risk management system of the
Company for the Financial Year 2024.

Main Features
Described below are the main features of the Group’s risk
management and internal control framework:

Control Environment

o The Directors and senior management are committed to
developing and maintaining high professional and ethical
standards and the Group provides sufficient training to
accounting and financial personnel to keep pace with the
growth and/or complexity of the business.

Risk Assessment
o Mechanisms are in place to identify and assess the risks of
fraud that affect achievement of the Group’s objectives.

° Any risk identified should be reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board and be investigated. Immediate
action should be taken to mitigate the risk.

Information and Communication

o Administrative information system provides necessary
information to an appropriate employee of the Group at the
necessary level of detail on a timely basis.

o Channels are established for employees of the Group to
communicate suspected improprieties upstream through
other than a direct supervisor.

Control Activities

o Policies and procedures are laid down for key business
processes for ensuring management directives are carried
out.

o Control activities include segregation of duties, authorisation,
physical count, access control, documentation and records,
etc.
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Monitoring

° Ongoing assessment of control systems’ performance is
carried out.

° Professional third party is engaged to assess and comment

on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems.

Identifying, Evaluating and Managing Significant Risks
The management has regular meetings with officers from
different operation divisions to identify significant risks and to
discuss the likelihood of occurrence, the impact of such risks and
risk mitigation strategic. The management then reports to the
Audit Committee and the Board with recommendations and
mitigation measures. The Board is responsible for determining
the risk mitigating strategy.

Internal Audit

The Group has outsourced the internal audit function by engaging
a professional third party to assess and comment on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems during the year. There was no significant
deficiencies in risk management and internal controls reported by
such professional third party.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

In relation to the handling and dissemination of inside information
under the SFO, the Group has established the policy of
disclosure of inside information as an integrated part of its risk
management and internal control policy to provide guidance for
reporting and disclosure of inside information. Such policy,
together with the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” issued by Securities and Futures Commission, are
also distributed across all relevant divisions and employees who
are likely to be in possession of inside information. Under such
policy, the Directors or management shall report any potential
inside information to the Board as soon as possible, so that the
Board can determine whether the matter or its development is
inside information and make disclosure whenever necessary.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERRE

Ex

s AEEESTHFHEESEZMEE -

e AEEERAZE="TEEALTHARE
BEAMEEHNESDRHNEN A7
{/\\_IE’

BE- - FHREEEXNAR
ERETHREIEBHBMAAEBRTEE
EFBERAR YilmARERZAIEME -
MBEzRE EEEERNEZZEGRE
FEREREENREEE EFESRABETRA
$«< J_L Z 335? o

A i

=

A B &
AEBERFRIIHABEZRE BERE=0

EXALTTERABRERERANMEEFNERZS
MEBRM URHER -ZFE=ZNDHEEXEALY
BEEFRAREELRAMEZEEMERNRE -

EERBAABERS
ﬁﬁ@&%% FRHEGRIETZABHER
CAEECHERBEABER ZBE - F
%EHAME&W%Wﬁﬁ RZ— R RER
EEEARBEERHEES - AKENRCAME
AREEEARHEEZHEABMAREEY ZHRE
BREFNBHEFLAEEHERZEGHML
AR BEEREES - REAABR  EFXE
EERERNEFTSERTMEBEEARTHES
NEEEERATABEEXHEERREEARHE
B UYNEFEREHREE -

PERENEEEFARAT i
—E_NMEFR



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
T RERRE

Review of Effectiveness
The Audit Committee also
identified by external auditor, regulatory authorities, the
management and the outsourced internal audit function and
evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems at least annually. The
Audit Committee in turn reports any material issues to the
Board.

reviews internal control issues

The Board has conducted review on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024, covering all material controls in
the financial, operational and compliance controls. The review
also considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programs and budget of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions. The
Board considers the risk management and internal control system
effective and adequate. The Board confirms that the Group has
complied with the Code Provisions on risk management and
internal control as set out in the CG Code throughout the year
ended 31 December 2024.

COMPANY SECRETARY

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Yeung undertook
taken no less than 15 hours of professional training to update his
skills and knowledge during the reporting period.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board maintains an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders
through general meetings and Shareholders are encouraged to
participate.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

On 30 March 2012, the Board adopted a Shareholders’
Communication Policy to comply with the updated Listing Rules
and to reflect mostly the current communication practices of the
Company with its Shareholders. Such policy aims to (i) promote
effective communication with Shareholders and other
stakeholders; (ii) encourage Shareholders to engage actively with
the Company; and (iii) enable Shareholders to exercise their rights
as Shareholders effectively. However, the Board will review the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy on a regular basis to ensure
its effectiveness and compliance with the prevailing regulatory
and other requirements.
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The Company established a range of communication channels to
provide its Shareholders and stakeholders with balanced and
understandable information about the Company. These include
annual general meeting, annual report, interim report, various
notices, announcements and circulars. The annual general
meeting and other general meetings of the Company are primary
forum for communication between the Company and its
Shareholders. The Company shall provide Shareholders with
relevant information on the resolution(s) proposed at a general
meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable
Shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s).

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a Special
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, a special
general meeting shall be convened by the members of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth (10%) of such of the paid-up capital of the
company as at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company. The requisitionists must
submit their requisition in writing, in which it must state the
objects of the meeting, and be duly signed by the requisitionists,
mailed and deposited at Room 220, 2/F, Mega Cube, No. 8
Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong (attention
of the Company Secretary).

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting for
a day not more than 28 days after the date on which the notice
convening the meeting is given, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3
months from the said date. Any reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionists by reason of the failure of the Directors duly to
convene a meeting shall be repaid to the requisitionists by the
Company.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, proposals at
Shareholders’ meetings can be put forward by the members of
the Company holding at the date of the submission of the
proposals not less than one-twentieth (56%) of such of the paid-
up capital of the Company as at the date of the submission
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company;
or not less than 100 Shareholders.

The submission of the proposals must be made within 3
business days after a notice of the Shareholders’ meeting have
been served to all registered Shareholders by the Board. The
proposals must be written and must state the objects of the
proposals, and must be signed by the proposers, and mailed and
deposited at Room 220, 2/F, Mega Cube, No. 8 Wang Kwong
Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong (attention of the
Company Secretary); and may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more proposers.

The proposals will be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon its confirmation that the proposals are proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to update the
resolutions by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the
statutory requirements to all registered Shareholders, provided
that the proposers have deposited a sum of money reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses involved in publishing
supplementary circular and updating related resolutions. On the
contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order, the
proposer will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, no
resolution will be updated as requested.

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company, for the
attention of the Company Secretary, by email: ir@zhongji.com.hk,
fax: (852) 2526 5733, or mail to Room 220, 2/F, Mega Cube,
No. 8 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company maintains a website at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/
zhongjilongevity, where information of the Company including the
list of Directors, announcements, circulars and reports released to
the Stock Exchange and other information are posted.
Information on the Company's website will be updated from time
to time.

The Board conducted a review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’” Communication Policy during
the Year and the Board is satisfied with the results thereof given
the above measures.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There was no amendment made to the constitutional documents
of the Company during the year.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

VRS TR =)

CCTH CPA LIMITED
REXEEEMHEIRAE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ZHONG JI
SCIENCE GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

LONGEVITY

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhong
Ji Longevity Science Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries collectively referred to as (the “Group”) set out on
pages 89 to 224, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

OTHER MATTER

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on
26 March 2024.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

were of most significance
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment of loan and interest receivables and other

receivables

FEEITEEG)
B ER KRR ER R REZBE

Impairment assessment on loan and interest receivables and other receivables

FE W B 5% R F 2R B At W 7% 7R 2 6 1E B 1

As at 31 December 2024, the net carrying amounts of
loan and interest receivables and other receivables
amounted to HK$185,568,000 and HK$164,860,000
respectively.

RZZTE-_WNF+_A=1+—8 BERERKFBEREF
18 9 Bl 49 /185,568,0007% 7T f2 164,860,000 7T °

Management judgement is required in assessing and
determining the recoverability of loan and interest
receivables and other receivables and adequacy of
allowance made using the expected credit losses (‘ECL")
model under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”.
BEEEVEREENFRIemMIA] FREMHE
EFEBE(AREERR]) BT M RET R WER&A
BUAREMERFBBNTTKREEREENBEERS T2
W EIRE R M 2 -

We identified impairment assessment on loan and
interest receivables and other receivables as a key audit
matter because the assessment of the recoverability of
loan and interest receivables and other receivables and
recognition of loss allowance are inherently subjective
and require significant management judgement, which
increases the risk of error or potential management
bias.

HIE e Y E SR R A S DA K H M FE I 5k I8 A Rk (B AT
BRAAARETEE RERTHERERKIEAR
R Em B E AR ERBERBERAGAESE
Bl FTEBTEEBEHERAE MG MERSIE
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Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of loan and interest receivables and other
receivables included:

BB E IR B H U E R F B DA R E At 18 U 50 TE B9 R
B EETHNREF B

o We discussed with management and independent
external valuer engaged by the Group in relation to
the methodology, basis and assumptions used to
see whether the methodology and assumptions
used were reasonable and appropriate;

o BMETERER EXEZRENE VI ER
WAL  EREREBR  UEEMANGER

BRRESAEREE:

o We checked the accuracy, appropriateness and
reliance of the input data used; and

J BMREMAE ABBENERE BEMLRAE
MR

o We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer
taking into account of its experience and
qualifications.

J AP A8 Z BB L 5N BB ik 1B R RO A8 B I B AR 18 AT
HEEe N B OREEMN -

We considered the management’'s conclusion to be
consistent with the available information.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. I|f, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Company or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of
the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

omissions,

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Y8 L 1% BED R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
%8 3L 1% BED R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

CCTH CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

Lam Man Chi
Practising Certificate Number: P05324

Unit 1510-1517, 15/F, Tower 2,

Kowloon Commerce Centre,

No. 51 Kwai Cheong Road, Kwai Chung,
New Territories, Hong Kong
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

|:| \/

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-_NMF+-_A=+—RLFE

2024 2023
—E-OF T S
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
K it FET FE T
REVENUE Iy 25 5] 166,181 64,989
Cost of sales and services rendered 5 & & 18 fR 15 2 B A (108,799) (8,709)
GROSS PROFIT £ F 57,382 56,280
Other income and other gains or H iU A K HAth
losses Y a5 sk & 1B 7 738 30,358
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHMAX (16,337) (5,714)
Administrative expenses THEAX (66,415) (69,535)
Other expenses HEaAX (20,400) -
Reversal of impairment losses EHEEBBEEATZ
(impairment losses) under expected & 1B &5 18 # [
credit loss model OR1EE#E) 9 15,938 (5,699)
Fair value changes on investment KEMERNTFEEZES
properties 16 (2,554) 1,070
Impairment loss on a joint venture —HAEELELRERBE = (79)
Finance costs 51 7% i 7S 8 (1,558) (1,936)
(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX BR B AT (&5 18) % F 9 (33,206) 4,745
Income tax expense FEHEAX 10 (1,595) (2,222)
(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FR(EE)EF (34,801) 2,523
Attributable to: EER
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ DN (34,726) 2,313
Non-controlling interests IF 2 B 2= (75) 210
(34,801) 2,573
(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE EERAQRREEAZ
ATTRIBUTABLE BR(EE)ER
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 14
Basic and diluted ERK#EE (HK4.15 cents) HKO0.15 cents

(4.155& 1li)

0.157% {1l

PERSMESEEARATE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e 2 EWammKR

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-ZT-_NF+-A=+—BLFE

e

2024 2023
—E-mF —E-=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FR(BR)EF (34,801) 2,523
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE Hz2mBAX
Other comprehensive expense AIRE# B EF 752
that may be reclassified to B 2 B2 E -
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of & BIINEFREE ZEH X5
foreign operations (22,649) (3,718)
Net other comprehensive expense REZHHEETS>HEE
that may be reclassified to Téﬁnzﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁiﬁ )
profit or loss in subsequent periods (22,649) (3,718)
Other comprehensive income (expense) T &RE % HFEF 5 HE
that will not be reclassified to B AmEE Nz (%) -
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Equity investments designated at fair EEAEBEAFTEERAEMEE
value through other comprehensive W AR 2 IRAKR &
income:
Changes in fair value NEEEZF 7,539 (3,756)
Net other comprehensive income TEeREERBEEN»BEE
(expense) that will not be reclassified to @z HMe2mWKF(FAX)F5
profit or loss in subsequent periods 7,539 (3,756)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FREMEZEBAS  KNKRBIE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (15,110) (7,474)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FREHEMLLE
EXPENSE FOR THE YEAR (49,911) (4,951)
Attributable to: FEER
Owners of the Company RATHEE A (49,366) (4,992)
Non-controlling interests IE 2= I 0 2 (545) 41
(49,911) (4,951)

90 Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited

2024 Annual Report



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AR e M AR HRR

31 December 2024
et VU e i e

2024 2023
—E-WE e P e e
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
VioN=3 FET T IT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Plant and equipment B K& % 15 876 1,125
Investment properties B Y 16 22,364 25,295
Right-of-use assets TREEE 17 6,438 10,668
Interests in joint ventures REErEIHER 18 - -
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEEBEMER
other comprehensive income W ARZEREE 19 2,158 5,847
Loan and interest receivables JEWE K K&FE 21 — 142,848
Total non-current assets ERBEERLE 31,836 185,783
CURRENT ASSETS nEBEE
Inventories FE 20 1,296 2,523
Loan and interest receivables JEWE K K&F B 21 185,568 34,884
Trade receivables JE W BR 5k 22 72,200 2,141
Deposits, prepayments and other e ENREBEREM
receivables JE W 5k I8 23 180,827 196,602
Tax recoverable A U (B F% 18 3,546 3,681
Amounts due from related companies JiE Ui 78 Bt N B 3RIE 28 2,516 2,549
Amount due from a director JiE U — %%$, ] 28 - 16
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEEY 24 47,842 81,075
Total current assets mBEERE 493,795 323,471
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEE
Trade payables FE 1 BR 3% 25 70,780 206
Other payables and accruals HENRBEREFTER 26 10,203 12,546
Bank and other borrowings WThEMER 27 11,541 9,010
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 4,515 6,978
Amounts due to related companies FE 1< A Bt & R 5K I8 28 3,639 3,763
Contract liabilities ,Gi%1\ 29 2,878 24,207
Tax payable F%N i 18 18,192 16,634
Total current liabilities mE B EARE 121,748 73,344
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEZFEE 372,047 250,127
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERRBEE
LIABILITIES 403,883 435,910
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FkREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBAE 30 689 1,236
Lease liabilities Tﬂ E&aE 17 3,055 4,209
Total non-current liabilities FRBEERE 3,744 5,445
NET ASSETS BEEFE 400,139 430,465

PERENEEEFARAT 91
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
iR B M AR R W&

31 December 2024
eSS s Bl e

2024 2023
—¥_HNF TR =5
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
K7 at FExT F& T
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARRFE

Share capital fi% < 32 5,465 4,554
Reserves i 1 367,957 398,849

Equity attribute to owners of the BBEBRAQATEEA
Company - 373,422 403,403
Non-controlling interests I 255 iR 4 == 26,717 27,062
Total equity AR 400,139 430,465

The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 224 were S$89F224B v &AM RERCN - E-_HF=
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on A-+/\BHEEFeH ERRERZEITHAT

28 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: BEERKRESE:
Yan Li Yan Yifan
E5hva -
Director Director
EE EZE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

*—H— N/ %b %
NG II\I:III\

wm
Year ended 31 December 2024
BE—T-_NEt-_A=+—HIEFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARAREARS
Equity
Share PRC Exchange Share  component of Non-
Share premium Fair value  Contributed statutory  fluctuation option  convertible Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve notes losses Total interests equity
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d) (Note e/ (Note f] (Note 31)
TERERZ
Bx BRGEER OTERE RABE vEEREG EXRDHE BRAEGRE [ $:3:0 Rit S @i FEREH BRAR
(H#a) (Hith) (Hie) (Hitd) (Hie) UED (H31)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR iR TER T T T TR TR TR TER THr T
At 1 January 2024 RZE-@mE-A-H 4,554 966,090 (163,778) 217102 25,021 (34,196) 7 1,755,856 (2,421,317) 403,404 27,061 430,465
Loss for the year FRER = = = o o = = = (34,726) (34,726) (75) (34,801)
Other comprehensive income [expense)  FREM 2 AN E(FX)
for the year:
Changes in fair value of financial assets AT HEBEM ﬁ@ﬂx #ARZ
designated at fair value through other £ REEZATELH
comprehensive income = 0 7,539 0 = = o o o 7,539 = 7,539
Exchange differences on translation of ~ BEENEREELZEHEE
foreign operations = = = = = (22,179) = = = (22,179) (470) (22,649)
Total comprehensive income (expense] ~ FRZEM# (F%) 488
for the year S o 7539 o o (22,179) S S (34,726) (49,366) (545) (49,911)
Transfer of fair value reserve upon
disposal of equity investments
designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income - - 68,140 - - - - - (68,140) - - -
Transfer of equity component of ek EMK"HW 394 335
convertible notes upon expiry
(note 31) - - - - - - - (1,755,856) 1,755,856 o o ©
Subscription of new shares 2BHRH m 18,674 - - - - - - - 19,585 - 19,585
At 31 December 2024 RZZZME+ZA=+-H 5,465 984,764* (88,099)* 217,102* 25,021% (56,375)* ¢ <0 (174,327)* 313,623 26,516 400,139
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARRREARR
Equity
Share PRC Exchange Share  component of Non-
Share premium Fair value  Contributed statutory fluctuation option convertible  Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve notes losses Total interests equity
(Note ) (Note b) {Note ¢/ (Note o) (Note ¢/ (Note f) (Note 31/
e HE LR ZiER FERER
3) ) (Kitad) e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR TiEn TiEn TR TR TR TR TR TiEn TiEn TiEn
At 1 January 2023 RZB-=%-f-R 4,257 951,820 (162,294) 27702 25,021 (30,647) 7 1785856 (2,427,358) 393,829 21,020 420,849
Profit for the year ERET = i 3 = = = i i 2313 2313 210 2523
Other comprehensive expense FREMZARY:
for the year:
Changes in fair value of finencial assets EATEABEMZEUEARL
designated at fair value thiough other £ MEEZATEED
comprehensive income & = (3,756) = = = 2 = > (3,756) = (3,756)
Exchange differences on translation of ~ REBNEHKELZERZE
foreign operations & 5 g 5 = (3549) 5 = 5 (3,549) (169) 3718)
Total comprehensive (expense) income A2 E(FX) k& LE
for the year 2 - (3,756) = i (3,549) = = 2313 (4,992) 41 (4,951)
Transfer of fai valug reserve upon REERATEEALM2ANSA
disposal of equity investments BzRERANERATERER
designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income - = 2212 = i - = = (2.272) < & =
Subscription of new shares 2EHRA 297 14,270 - - - - - - - 14,567 - 14,567
At 31 December 2023 e T e e 4,554 966,090* (163,778)* 217.102* 25,001* (34,196)* T 1,755,856*  (2,427,317)* 403,404 27,061 430,465
5 These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of  * ZERBREESRAVMBERABRRAZGEAEE MR

HK$368,158,000 (2023: HK$398,850,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

368,158,000/ 7T (=& = =4F : 398,850,000/ 7T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SAMKEDE

Year ended 31 December 2024

BE

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

94

= U e e e e

Share premium

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of shares at a
price in excess of their par value per share and is not distributable but may
be applied in paying up unissued shares of the Company to be issued to
the shareholders of the Company as fully paid bonus shares or in providing
for the premiums payable on repurchase of shares.

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve represents cumulative gains and losses arising from
revaluation of equity instruments at FVTOCI that have been recognised in
other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to profit or loss
when those equity instruments at FVTOCI are disposed of or are
determined to be impaired. Gains and losses arising from revaluation of
equity instruments at FVTOCI will not be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus arose in the previous years represented the net
effect of the capital reduction, the share premium cancellation and the
elimination of accumulated losses of the Company. Under the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus account of the
Company is available for distribution. However, the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus
if: — it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due; or — the realisable value of its assets would thereby be
less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium accounts. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company did not have any reserve
available for distribution to shareholders.

PRC statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the People's
Republic of China (“PRC"), the PRC subsidiaries are required to provide for
PRC statutory reserves, including enterprise expansion fund and general
reserve fund, by way of appropriations from its statutory net profit (based
on the PRC statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries) but
before dividend distributions.

All appropriations to the funds are made at the discretion of the board of
directors of the PRC subsidiaries. The board of directors of the PRC
subsidiaries shall decide on the amounts to be appropriated based on its
profitability each year.

The enterprise expansion fund may be used to increase registered capital
subject to approval from the relevant PRC authorities. The general reserves
fund may be used to offset accumulated losses or increase the registered
capital subject to approval from the relevant PRC authorities.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair value of unexercised share
options granted by the Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy of share-based payments set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-_NMF+-_A=+—RLFE

2024 2023
=l wjis I
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FE T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KRETH 2HERE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss) profit before tax = 7 AT (B5 18) i 7 (33,206) 4,745
Adjustments for: A SEMER 2 HE:
Bank interest income RIT A B A (1,120) (132)
Finance costs A& P A 1,558 1,936
Dividend income i& Bk A = (9)
Depreciation of property, plant and M- -BEREZBETE
equipment 236 394
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 6,620 6,940
(Reversal of impairment losses) EWREREFE 2
impairment losses on loan and (REEERD)RERESE
interest receivables (4,003) 3,269
(Reversal of impairment losses) JE W BR 5% 2 CRL (B B 18 5 )
impairment losses on trade B E &S
receivables (21) 24
(Reversal of impairment losses) Hap W I8 2 CREEEREE)
impairment losses on other VEREN !
receivables (11,914) 2,406
Written off of inventories WETFE 913 -
Written off of prepayments and I 88 T8 1 108 K H Ath g W 3OIE
other receivables 3,776 -
Gain on early termination of right-of- IRAMK L RAEEER
use assets and lease liabilities HEaBEzlka (26) -
Net proceeds from bad debts R E 2z FT{8 3R IEF &
recovery = (30,000)
Impairment loss on a joint venture —HEeEErEZREEBR = 79
Fair value changes on investment WENMEZAFEES
properties 2,554 (1,070)
Fair value loss on financial assets at EAFEEBRE AR
fair value through profit or loss TREEAFEERE 148 =
Loss on written off of plant and I 5 RS I wR 2 E5 18
equipment 721 =
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HEHEESRMEEZEIB
financial assets = 15
Operating cash flow before movements % iE & ¢ B a2 K &R RN
in working capital . (33,764) (11,403)
(Increase) decrease in loan and interest & U & 2k & F| 8 (32 hn) sk 2
receivables (9,959) 17,066
Decrease in inventories FE R 314 1,286
Increase in trade receivables JiE iz B 3R 38 N (70,112) (1,511)
Decrease (increase) in deposits, E& - EARIEREMEK
prepayments and other receivables FRIE R A (32 00) 6,590 (13,158)
Increase (decrease) in trade payables  J&{ BR R i on Ok 4) 70,574 (882)
(Decrease) increase in other payables  Hfth B 7R IB K fE:t & A
and accruals (R 4) 32 0 (2,343) 1,285
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities & 4 & & (& 4>) 1 A1 (21,329) 545
(Decrease) increase in amounts due i Al NCIE
from/to related companies R ) 1840 (179) 24,397
Cash (used in) generated from LE (TR ABzHE S
operations (60,208) 17,575
Income tax refund (paid), net RE(BER) ST & 160 (501)
Interest element on lease liabilities HEABEZMETLE (1,006) (1,346)
Net cash (used in) generated from KEETB (A MGBHEE TR
operating activities (61,054) 15,728
FERSHNSBEHEFERAEF 95
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
:vT = Eﬁl éé L B ?%

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NEF+-A=+—HBLFE

2024 2023
=B -F B E e =
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt 7% FET FHE T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BRETHZ2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B Y F B 1,120 132
Dividend received B B = 9
Purchase of property, plant and BEYE BELEZE
equipment 15 (708) =
Decrease in financial assets at fair BERAVTEEEBERARZ
value through profit or loss TR E ER D (768) -
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERAFEEREEA
assets at fair value through profit or BRZ & RbE E 15 A
loss 620 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERRATFEEBR
assets at fair value through other EMme2mElm ARZ
comprehensive income TR E EFSRIE 11,206 241
Net cash generated from investing KEEYFBIREFHE
activities 11,470 382
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Repayments on lease liabilities EEHEEE (6,640) (6,628)
Repayments of bank and other BEERTEREMEE
borrowings (2,069) (5,377)
Repayments of interest on bank and {EERITR EMEEFR S
other borrowings (552) (590)
New bank and other borrowings raised ¥ & & 72 BTk K& & 4,828 4,068
Issue of shares BTk BH 19,585 14,567
Advance to a director —BREFHX = (16)
Repayment to a director BRT—EEZ 16 -
Net cash generated from financing MEREAMEHRS FE
activities 15,168 6,024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REREMEXR

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-_NMF+-A=+—RLFE

2024 2023
—E-UE TS S
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B it FHET FET
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN FRESRESZEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ORL2) 48 1n 3 28
FOR THE YEAR (34,416) 22,128
Cash and cash equivalents at FPzBEEeMREEEY
beginning of the year 81,075 60,069
Effect of foreign exchange rate INEEREE) 2 B
changes 1,183 (1,122)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERZAESRBESEEY
AT END OF THE YEAR 47,842 81,075
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF HEeRBEEZSEYH &
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS: D
Cash and bank balances He RIRITE 24 47,842 81,075
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024
ST EE=H=

1.

98

GENERAL INFORMATION

Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In the
opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company
and the ultimate holding company of the Company is Zhong
Ji 1 International Medical Group (Hong Kong) Limited
(“Zhong Ji 1 International”), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong. As 31 December 2024, the
directors of the Company consider the ultimate controlling
shareholders of the Company is Mr. Yan Li, who is also the
chairman of the Company. The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in the corporate information section to the annual
report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) are as follows:

° Longevity science business

° Money lending & Financial Advisory

o Securities and other investments

° Property investment

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong

Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency
of the Company.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and

HKFRS 16 Leaseback
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non current and

related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with

HKAS 1 Covenants

Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material effect on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

2.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

BRAFIREEIEEMBEREE

100

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements. The Group intends to apply
these new and revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they
become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures?®
Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial

Instruments?

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 21
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
HKFRS Accounting 7. HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and
Standards — HKAS 72
Volume 11

Lack of Exchangeability’

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

) No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

Except as described below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all the new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to
present specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes to
the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs
have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The Group is in the
process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements but is not yet
in a position to state whether this new and revised HKFRS
would have a material impact on the disclosure and the
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in the
future.

2.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R

31 December 2024
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.

102

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. S EBHEFEEER S A2t

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEER (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 31 REMBHRRZEHEEE)

3.2

statements (Continued)

For financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement

RUBHREMS * 2 FEFENRE
AFEAEBARENABEENRE
BB ABBEHAFEAEERMD
ENEEE BTIASTADBRFE—
BB RIE=R

s FABAREBINERBRNE
RHA BB EREEXAR
RIERTISMHER CREE)

date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted . F_RAHMASBIIRBELSE
prices included within Level 1, that are —BHmEI - BEEXBED
observable for the asset or liability, either Tgﬁﬁiﬁ\ﬂkﬁﬁfﬂ_ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi
directly or indirectly; and REBERME)

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities

3.2

s FZABWABEBNEEXKAERE
MAABREABE -

EXEFHERER
BHEAREE
RAEVBREBREARRIAREAT
& E B A A2 5 &) E A B 7% 3R

controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Ko ETHBERT » AR B EASIE
Control is achieved when the Company: 7

. has power over the investee; . G A R A 6
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from . =] %Eﬁ&ﬁﬁ%Z%%% 53k

its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an

ERESTNEDOR: &
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BAONZEAM
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investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there AEdz— @A E3EEE L - BIAR
are changes to one or more of the three elements of SEeEHAGHERTHEREY
control listed above. RE SR o
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3.

104

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date
the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)
Investments in joint ventures
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, an investment in a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group’s share of losses of joint
venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint
venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group's net investment
in the joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the joint venture.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Investments in a joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes a joint venture. On acquisition of
the investment in a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the

period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently

increases.

Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited
2024 Annual Report

REUVBBRREREEREARGH
HEREHR (&)

32 EXERBRER(E)

REETLTFEZRE(E)
REELEZREAREHERKR
EECRERREMEDEAR - R
WE-—REELEZRER KA
RABEARNEEBERKRET AT
MNEEMBBEZRAFREEZEZRERE
RREE U ARZKREZKREAE
A o EHFER - AREESEAR#
MNEERABBEZAFPREEBHERE
RARZEMEBRNERKBIRE Z
HEaERaER -

FEEFEREFETEERRT
REERRRAELE AR
FEEMRE - HEETAFEREE
REBEAE)Z2BEEAESER
BB EHERFERUNE—ZEER
NETRERR - TR RE L EAK
Bl & 28 (fF B EE R X FER O EK
AzgeE)BEREE - EFCHE
RABEBERYTOEEBXNKRE KR
HEFIZEAEE(BEEE)  fH
ZEE AW E S EEZIEN - B3R
BRE B & &t & B £ 365 i R R
BEERD-



~

A
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31 December 2024
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. SZEAUBHRRFREEREASE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEER (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

32 EXERBRER(E)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Investments in a joint ventures (Continued)
When the Group ceases to have joint control over a
joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the
entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the
Group retains an interest in the former joint venture
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the joint
venture and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in
the joint venture is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that joint venture on the same basis as
would be required if that joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore,
if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the joint venture are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the joint venture that are not
related to the Group.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)
Impairment on plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR & B35 R

31 December 2024
=T = Nt el

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #eUBEHRGREEREARS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 32 ERSHBEXERE)
(Continued)
Related parties -k
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: LA &5 %R A B R & B A B
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that a BEFAEALHEALZE
person’s family and that person Z¥E Bz AL
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; () HAEEHESZEHIELE

[R] 22 ) #

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEEAEBEATE
77 8k

(i) is a member of the key management (i) BRAEEFHEAAZE
personnel of the Group or of a parent of F—HZEEERAS:
the Group;

or %
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following b) BEAZAFENIEMGEHZ

conditions applies: e

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of () Z%EBHAASEEARR—%
the same group; B2zKBAA

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture i)y —HERAES T
of the other entity (or of a parent, S—EBZERATF - [B
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other RNElHFE R B AR 2B
entity); ENRNA B D E:

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures (i) ZEREAREBAR—F
of the same third party; —AREEDRE:

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity (ivi, —HEBEE=F2&%
and the other entity is an associate of the TtE ME—EBAEZSE
third entity; =H 2B E AT

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit (v) ZEBABUASENEAR
plan for the benefit of employees of either SEEHB ERBMES
the Group or an entity related to the BAER S 2 BER AR A5
Group; gl
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. AU BHBERGHEEERE A=

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEER (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32 EXSHBXERE)
(Continued)
Related parties (Continued) BHs(E)
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following b) BFHEAZAFETNIEMGHZ

conditions applies: (Continued) T8 (8

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled (vi) ZEBHE@BEAETZATLT
by a person identified in (a); Y2 2k R E )

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant (vii) ( JWEAEZATHZE
influence over the entity or is a member of BEEATEN  HZA
the key management personnel of the i?%%%?ﬁ%(ﬁi%ﬁ?—f‘%z
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and BRAa) FBERBEZ—F

KB &

(vii) the entity, or any member of a group of (vii) ZERIHEHMBEEE 2T
which it is a part, provides key AR EAR - ﬁﬁﬁli
management personnel services to the REB 2R ARRMHE
Group or to the parent of the Group. EBEANBR °

Plant and equipment BERXE

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less BMERZEZXABEFITERE
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. AR EEE AR - BE&ZHHEE
The cost of an item of plant and equipment ZERABRFEEBABUALBEEEE
comprises its purchase price and any directly REBIEMRERMEERERR 2F
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working o] B BB B o

condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of plant and MERXEBEBEEEABERMES
equipment have been put into operation, such as MEERRESZERE L%EAFEHE
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the MEEEROR - M6 ERIEE
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is AlEAEARE AT e EZﬁE
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria JEESHENM BEEEE ° M
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is BELREEBEZEZERLHPBAIEREESE -
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a AAEBeBz2EBrERABB L
replacement. Where significant parts of plant and BE URTEHEZAFAFHARE
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, THENE -

the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024
ST EF=H= =

3.

a2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Leasehold Over the shorter of period of the
improvements lease terms and 20%

Medical machinery 20%

Furniture, fittings 20% to 33%
and equipment

Motor vehicles 25%

Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives
and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R

31 December 2024
===
BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. el BHRGREERE XS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BERER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

32 EXERBRER(E)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are included in the statement
of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

REWF

BREMEDEFAARIEZ KA
R /REATFE(MIEEEESME
EVMERBRITERAR)IXNBEEE
BREPHEZ T NETFHER - B
MYENT RN (BREENEERE
BRI E - R HERE RE
MERRRBEHRRDERRZ A
FlEE -

BRENMEAVEEIMELE 2 W
KERFAMEEFEZRAR -

HE
AEEREHNABEHRIETEY
BHREEMNFIGHRIB T2 ERTES
HWEEARIBEHE - BRIFAHNIIERR
EFMRER M NE  TRIZAOED
SEHME-
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR & B35 R

31 December 2024

=T ===

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

REUVBBRREREEREARGH
BREH ()

32 EXERBRER(E)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

114

(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE (&)
The Group as a lessee AREEFERAHA

(a)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases of buildings that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on
a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability;

@) RHHEMMEEEEME

HREHBE G B RERT /2
BEAXKTEYEBEHBE R
BRNEFTHE AKEEH
RYHERRHRL - AKET
HEEBEEEEHERMAERR
- BHHEREKEBEEEM
ENHENRREREERH
MEGEEREARNER SR
+ .

b) EREEE
ERREEMKARE:

e HEBEBEMVFFER
L

. any lease payments made at or before the . R E 6 B AR sk 2 BIYE A9
commencement date, less any lease FEEEENK  BEME
incentives received; WHERSE:

. any initial direct costs incurred by the . AEBEANERVIEE
Group; and B &

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the . NE BRI H & % B RS

Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on
which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)
Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life
and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position.

(c) Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS
9”) and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

(d) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the
Group recognises and measures the lease
liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR & B35 R

31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(d) Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an

index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement
date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(d)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and
makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market
rent review/expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value, in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

118

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"))
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)  Financial assets

(i)  Classification and subsequent

measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is
achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the
financial assets; and

° the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR & B35 R

31 December 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

REUVBBRREREEREARGH
HEREHR (&)

32 EXERBRER(E)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) AT A(E)
(a)  Financial assets (Continued) (a) ZHEZE (&)
(i)  Classification and subsequent (i) SREENIPBERHERZEE
measurement of financial assets (#8)
(Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at
initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in
a business combination to which HKFRS 3

FrERMEREERERYRA
FEEEBBSE AKRE - HR
NicEREMEEEH @ MK
AEEWIFHRFHEEE - T
REBHTEBBMBREER
FEIRXFALHMBERNERA
FREDNHIALE  AIXE
BA A EEEERN M
| S 25 RARE R FE

MEEED -

Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

TREERATBRARRFIEER

=1

. it has been acquired principally for the . EXxZRATREBHAL
purpose of selling in the near term; EMmEA: 2K
or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a . ERVnEREBRAS
portfolio of identified financial BE—HEEMNE#A <R
instruments that the Group manages THHEH D - AR
together and has a recent actual AR HERN 2 ERE
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or = 3K

. it is a derivative that is not designated . BEAMETABEIWIERE
and effective as a hedging ERRBHZEHAIA -
instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably 1 NN 1] R T I A B el

—RBRBHKARE AT E
EREMEENE ARZER
BEEERRAFTEEBEER
ABRGE MRESBHEER
HER KRR D &R -

designate a financial asset that are
required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(@)  Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #eUBEHRGREEREARS

122

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(a)  Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Equity instruments designated as at
FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at
FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair
value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
the fair value reserve for financial assets at
FVTOCI; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal of the equity investments, and is
be transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in
equity instruments are recognised in profit
or loss when the Group's right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of
part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other
income and gains, net” line item in profit
or loss.

Impairment of financial assets subject
to impairment assessment under
HKERS 9

The Group performs impairment
assessment under expected credit loss
("ECL") model on financial assets at
amortised cost which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(a)  Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets subject
to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events over
the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL
for trade receivables. The ECL on these
assets are assessed individually for debtors
with significant balance or collectively
using a provision matrix with similar credit
risk characteristics based primarily on the
debtors’ aging profiles.

For all other instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12m
ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based
on significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(a)  Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets subject
to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(@)  Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets subject

to impairment assessment under

HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

(Continued)

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that result
in a significant decrease in the
debtor's ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(a)  Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets subject
to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events of default that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(@)  Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets subject
to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

(Continued)

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower's financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

o it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(a)  Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets subject
to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a
default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using
a provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic
information.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(@)  Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets subject
to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes
into consideration the following
characteristics when formulating the

grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors;
and

o External credit ratings where
available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(a)  Financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset
only when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the assets expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset
measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in
equity instrument which the Group has
elected on initial recognition to measure at
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(b)  Financial liabilities and equity

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
either as financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets
of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group's financial liabilities including
trade payables, other payables, bank and
other borrowings, lease liabilities and
amounts due to related companies are
subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group's
obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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132

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
which are not restricted to use.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
and cash equivalents as defined above.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)
Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. AU BHBERGHEEERE A=

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BERER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

32 EXERBRER(E)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(a) the same taxable entity; or

(b)  different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)
A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a
net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one
performance obligations, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or
service underlying each performance obligation is
determined at contract inception. It represents the
price at which the Group would sell a promised good
or service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone
selling price is not directly observable, the Group
estimates it using appropriate technigues such that
the transaction price ultimately allocated to any
performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the promised
goods or services to the customer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Revenue recognition on performance
obligations for contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue from the following
major sources:

Revenue from provision of diagnostic and medical test
services are recognised at the point in time when the
diagnostic and medical test services are rendered to
the customers.

Revenue from sales of health and medical products is
recognised at a point in time when the control of the
health and medical products have been transferred to
the customer.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group's estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of
all relevant non market vesting conditions. The impact
of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options
reserve.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. el BHRGREERE XS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BERER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

32 EXERBRER(E)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to employees (Continued)
When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.

Share options granted to service providers
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received, except where
that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which
case they are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, measured at the date the entity
obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the
service. The fair values of the goods or services
received are recognised as expenses (unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a first-in, first-out/weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
asset, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BERER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

32 EXERBRER(E)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Government grants (Continued)

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income and gains,
net".

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Retirement benefit obligations

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offset as
a deemed employee contribution towards the LSP
obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is
measure on a net basis. The estimated amount of
future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions
that have been vested with employees, which are
deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.

BT 1 B ()

FREELRAXINBERZIBERR
Al AN 5 B 12 1 B % B A SR T IR MR
BB 3 4 R SRR B B AN 2 AT 8 B
EEATURMERNERRER - 66
AN ITEMBEARKRFRIAT

Z25 -

B K15 F A
RISy R DEE: 3 K
~tEwstE((RAREE D ONRR
BRERHRBERSFAZHEERE
BERBFEX -

BIKEFEE
EHERSERETE ARERER
& R 519.93() R BV & K - 1§
BFHTUEENEETRESHRA
RAREREHRARBEESEEN
W WAFHEEESE - BRIAK
B EETEEE - RALHARAE
BuiEeHRATCREREE ZETE
MELEMABERBRA Z2BR
SEEES 2K -

TERSNEREARAT 141
—R-mEFR



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR & B35 R

31 December 2024
=T = Nt el

3.

142

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual
leave) a after deducting any amount already paid.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements
policies (Continued)
Ownership of investment properties

The Group’s management needs to assess whether the
Group has the ownership of the investment property in
Saipan was valid. The judgements the Group used in
determining if it has ownership over the investment
property in Saipan are detailed in Note 16.

in applying accounting

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising
from investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the investment property portfolio of the Group's
subsidiaries and concluded that the investment properties
of the Group are not held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the
Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the
directors of the Company have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Provision for ECLs on loan and other receivables

The allowance for ECLs on the loan and other receivables
is estimated based on assumption about the risk of default
and credit risk of respective receivables. The loss allowance
amount is measured at difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows with the consideration of expected future credit
loss of the respective receivables. Such assessment
involves high degree of estimation and uncertainty. When
the actual future cash flows are less or more than
expected, a material ECLs or material reversal of ECLs may
arise accordingly.

4.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R

31 December 2024

=E-—mE+=H=+—~

BRESTHERAHTTREREN
FERIRE)

FERE T BRI EE HE (8

REWEFEE#E
AEEEREFRNEAEERAEEIS
EREVENEARETER - AKERN
ETHERTREENEREVEZHRE
B P {58 A 22 ) B = B B Y 5E16 -

R EH ¥ 9L IR

A ENRAFEREAEZRENEME
EZEERBREMS  ARREECHE
MASENBRRNKRENEHES AR
SBAEBENREMELIIFUBERARF
B 2Rk eRERERKREDE
EsZ@RMBHRENR  MIFBBLH
E-RAit EEEASERENENEL
HMIEE - KRR EZEERTE  KAAFE
BLAGEZREMEZREEANEBHE
2HEEHORKR L EWHES -

et P EM N E ERIF
TXARBERARGEATESEHET—
EMBRFEFEHEERABRABEFELEXR
HEZERARKNEIEBRRRMAE T HEE
e Ef EERR -

BEREFRAMERF BN R IEE
EBRER

e & R & EoAh B U R TR HIE B B 18
BREDRBEAEHERBREERNEANRRKE
ERBHERRAT  BERBEEREE
MEEERGFARKESRENREZR
MERBE  YEBINHBEKERNE
HAREEER ZABPEREMGTR
THEEYE BEBERARREREINEZ
RIEHE ARt g HELBREXREHAEER
EEIBEAEHEEBHRARME -

PERSHSBREHRRAT 143
“ENFEFR



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
RE

B AR MY R

31 December 2024
ST EF=H= =

4.

144

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
The following significant judgements are required in
applying the accounting requirements for measuring the
ECL:

Significant increase of credit risk

As explained in Note 3, ECL are measured as an allowance
equal to 12m ECL or lifetime ECL for respective
receivables. An asset will use lifetime ECL when its credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.
HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant
increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk
of an asset has significantly increased, the Group takes into
account quantitative and qualitative reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information including available
customers’ historical data and existing and forecast market
conditions.

Default and credit-impaired

The Group considers that default has occurred when the
instrument is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate. In
particular, the following qualitative indicators are taken into
account in determining the risk of default occurring:

° probable bankruptcy entered by the borrowers; and
o death of the debtor.

Model and assumptions used

ECLs on the loan and other receivables which are not
assessed to be credit impaired are estimated using a
calculation model using observable data as at the end of
the reporting period, including the difference between (i) the
effective interest rates of interest charged by the Group for
similar categories of the loans and other receivables; and (ii)
the risk-free rate, and adjusted by forward looking
information, for example, GDP growth, etc. Judgements is
applied in identifying the most appropriate ECL model as
well as for determining the assumption used in the model,
including those relate to key drivers of credit risk.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Model and assumptions used (Continued)

The Group's allowance for ECLs on loan receivables may
also take into account the subsequent settlement, collateral
valuation and the management’'s judgement on the
effectiveness and marketability of the collateral properties
and customers’ capability of payment at the estimated
valuation and the actual valuation may differ from the
estimation.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group's loan and
other receivables are disclosed in notes 21, 23 and 39.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuers.
The determination of the fair value involves certain
assumptions of market conditions which are set out in
note 16.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the
Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the method of valuation is reflective of the current
market conditions. Whilst the Group considers valuations of
the Group's investment properties are the best estimates,
the greater market uncertainty depending on how the
effects of higher interest rates and inflation and elections in
major economies etc. may progress and evolve, have led to
higher degree of uncertainties in respect of the valuations
in the current year. Changes to these assumptions,
including the potential risk of any market violation, policy,
geopolitical and social changes or other unexpected
incidents as a result of change in macroeconomic
environment or other unexpected incidents would result in
changes in the fair values of the Group’'s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the
Group's investment properties is HK$22,364,000 (2023:
HK$25,295,000).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR & B35 R

31 December 2024
ST EF=H= =

5. REVENUE

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers

(i)

REEFEHNZRHFIEN

2024 2023
—E-mE —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA& T
Revenue from contracts with customers & & Bf 3§ 3R & % A
within the scope of HKFRS 15 FIBREERZ
REEFEHZ
g =
Sales of health and medical products HERRLBEE
an 102,411 4,447
Provision of diagnostic and medical test I 2 i & B8 Rl
services = AR 75 39,605 26,879
142,016 31,326
Revenue from other sources H th 38R U 2%
Loan interest income B R B WA 24,165 33,663
24,165 33,663
Total revenue recognised during FARRA 2R KR
the year 166,181 64,989
Timing of revenue recognition within ERBBEREEL
the scope of HKFRS 15 FISHREEARZ
W 2% R R
A point in time A 3 {3 B [ 2 142,016 3, 326

(if) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers
The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its contracts for sales
of health and medical products and provision of
diagnostic and medical test services such that the
above information does not include information about
revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it
satisfies the remaining performance obligations under
the aforesaid contracts that had an original expected
duration of one year or less.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision makers (“CODM"), review the Group's
internal reporting in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. Information reported to the chief
operating decision makers, for the purpose of resources
allocation and performance assessment, focuses on the
types of goods or services delivered or provided.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
expanded the business scope within the longevity science
business and engaged in the sales and distribution of
longevity wine. Accordingly, the Group updated its internal
reporting structure to include the above changes of its
reporting segment.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments
under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

(@) Longevity science business: provision of diagnostic
consultation, health and medical testing and checking,
distribution of cancer prevention & immunity
healthcare supplements and the sales and distribution
of longevity wine which commenced in 2024;

(b) Money lending and financial advisory business:
provision of loan financing for earning interest income
and provision of financial advisory and management
services rendering various loans fees;

(c)  Securities and other investments: holding of equity
investments, investment in short to long-term financial
assets for dividend income; and

(d)  Property investment: investment in properties for rental
income and/or for potential capital appreciation.

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at
the above reportable segments of the Group.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
RE

A5 R M R

31 December 2024
=T = Nt el

6.

148

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/
(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss) before
tax except that bank interest income, impairment loss on a
joint venture, finance costs, fair value loss on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, and corporate
and other unallocated income or expenses, net are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude tax recoverable and corporate and
other unallocated corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, deferred tax
liabilities and corporate and other unallocated corporate
liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

K& MER (&)

RELBBERIMZIRRNFTERR
ERENTHERASEERENAZE
B DBMREDENRTZRD W, (B
18R - BUAKREBRBANEH (BE)
B o KAEBRBAEN (BE)ZFE
HEBRASEBRBREN,(BR) ZHE
HAEERM— B HFFERNERSMRRT
MEWA —RELEEERZRERBIE - &
BRA BAFEEBESARZERE
EZAFEEBE  UWRARREMAKDE
WAHFZFR

HRAWERIBEAR RG] REMRD R
REENEEEEEEE ROMEEDT
BRZFEE -

HREMHE BEEHBEEARRE R
Hit RDEARABEDNEEEEEERE -
BoBMABTEEXFAE -

Money lending

Longevity and financial Securities
science advisory and other Property
Year ended 31 December 2024 business business investments investment Total
RE 39 EER
BE-Z-_ME+-A=+-HLFE MEXE SRBHER Hitt R & NERE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET TER TER TET
Segment revenue 2 Wik &
Revenue from external RENREP 2Kz
customers 142,016 24,165 = = 166,181
Segment results VT (17,559) 34,377 (48) (2,554) 14,216
Reconciliation: k-
Bank interest income RITF BHA 1,120
Fair value loss on financial BATEERER
assets at fair value through ARZEREEY
profit or loss ATEEE (148)
Finance costs B AR (1,558)
Corporate and other unallocated 2 &) % £t & 5 B
expenses, net X 58 (46,836)
Loss before tax BREAEER (33,206)
Other segment information: EHti %5 HEH :
Fair value loss on investment RENEZATAEER
properties = = = 2,554 2,554
Depreciation of right-of-use TREAENE
assets 6,620 = = = 6,620
Depreciation of plant and BERSBHE
equipment 236 = = = 236
Reversal of impairment losses TBHIEEEREER T2
under expected credit loss BEBERE
model (21) (15,917) - - (15,938)
Capital expenditure* ERER* 708 - - - 708
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

NmﬁTmmmmmMHnmmmmsmmmmm
AR B B R

31 December 2024
Gz S e Sl e e [

6. RESHERE

Money lending

Longevity and financial Securities
science advisory and other Property
Year ended 31 December 2023 business business investments investment Total
RE HER EFHR
BE-S-_=5+-A=+—HLEE BMEXE LRAAES Hiig & MERE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THL THT THET THL
Segment revenue 2 5Bk &
Revenue from external RENREEZ W&
customers 31,326 33,663 - - 64,989
Segment results PEEE (24,016) 25,354 (1) 1,070 2,407
Reconciliation: B
Bank interest income HRATHBHA 132
Finance costs B T B A (1,936)
Impairment loss on —HAEREZREER
a joint venture (79)
Corporate and other unallocated 2 & J& £ fth & 5 &
income, net LONG:E: 4,221
Profit before tax BR Bt A0 5 R 4,745
Other segment information: Et 2 & :
Fair value gain on investment R E#E A FERE
properties = = = (1,070) (1,070)
Depreciation of right-of-use FTREEERE
assets 6,940 = = = 6,940
Depreciation of plant and BERZBTE
equipment 394 = = = 394
Impairment losses under BHEEBRERTZ
expected credit loss model, MEEE -
net of reversal M m = 5,699 = = 5,699
Capital expenditure* EAREL* 1,030 = = - 1,030
& Capital expenditure consists of additions to plant and equipment. 2 BERAAZBREAERERZHE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
RE

6.

B 75 R Bt 5
31 December 2024
=T ===
OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 6 RE D EER (&)
(Continued)
Money
lending and
Longevity financial Securities
science advisory and other Property
31 December 2024 business business investments investment Total
RE BER HHER
—B-_mMFE+=A=+-—H REXYE SRMBIAXHR HipiR& MERE 5t
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THER THER TER FET FET
Segment assets PHEE 119,954 332,744 3,134 22,364 478,196
Reconciliation: A -
Tax recoverable A] i = 7% 18 3,546
Corporate and other unallocated ~ A& R E Kk H R EE
assets 43,889
Total assets BERE 525,631
Segment liabilities ZHMERE 76,477 12,999 = = 89,476
Reconciliation: A
Tax payable FERT IR 18,192
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEEE 689
Corporate and other unallocated AR R EMAR DB EE
liabilities 17,135
Total liabilities afE8eE 125,492
Money
lending and
Longevity financial Securities
science advisory and other Property
31 December 2023 business business investments investment Total
R& BE FEHR
Sz e A= —F MEX% RBAED H iz & MERE S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET FHET FET FERT
Segment assets PHEE 81,154 353,932 5,847 25,295 466,228
Reconciliation: H A
Tax recoverable A] 4z [e] % 18 3,681
Corporate and other unallocated ARAIREM KD EE
assets 39,345
Total assets BEMAE 509,254
Segment liabilities AHEE 26,726 13,574 = = 40,300
Reconciliation: Ey 3
Tax payable E#HE 16,634
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEEE 1,236
Corporate and other unallocated ARIREMARDEEE
liabilities 20,619
Total liabilities BERE 78,789
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

RETHER ()

ih & & R

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
REIREF 2R = REBEE

2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-mF —E=F —EC-MF —ZEZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T FHET THBT
Hong Kong BA 118,009 15,158 6,766 11,793
Mainland China A A 48,172 49,831 10,892 155,479
The Island of Saipan ENE = = 12,020 12,664
166,181 64,989 29,678 179,936

The Group’s revenue from external customers is presented
based on the location of customers. Information about the
Group’s non-current assets is based on the geographical
locations of the assets and exclude equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

Information about major customers

A summary of revenue earned from each of the individual
customer with its corresponding segment, which
contributed over 10% of the Group's revenue for the year is
set out below:

AEBERANAZTPZWEIZE P K
2  AKEZIRBEEBEHIZEEN
WENEREKEBERTEBEEERRATE
ERHEMEEEEARIRAKRE -

FREEFEFZEH

KEEAREBFARREIO% A EZ2E 7D B
BRIFEFZWEMERLIIMT

2024 2023
—E-lmEF =2RE=
Money Money
lending and lending and
Longevity financial Longevity financial
science advisory science advisory
business business business business
RE BER k& BEER
BBEK SRIEAE 1} 2 2 7 Gl T
HK$'000 HK$°'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET T T TH& T
Customer A =FEH - N/ATE A * — 8,090
Customer B =7 65,650 — — —
Customer C XFR 32,900 - — —
i The customer did not contribute over 10% of the Group's revenue 2 ZEPRBE_T_NE+-_A=1+—HIHF

during the year ended 31 December 2024.

B EEMAEEREI0%IA E -
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4R A BT R M EE _
31 December 2024
=T ===
7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS OR 7. HMWARHMKRFZREE
LOSSES
2024 2028
=R = (|42 Sl e 1=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Bank interest income R1T A B A 1,120 132
Proceeds from bad debts recovery W B £ AR 19 FT 1S SRR - 30,000
Exchange gain, net P 5 U = F 2R 1 84
Loss on written off of plant and equipment Hil $& /& &= & & & < &5 18 (721) -
Fair value loss on financial assets at BEATEEAE=AKRZ
fair value through profit or loss cMEEZAFEEE (148) -
Gain on early termination of right-of-use RAIKIETRAEEER
assets and lease liabilities HEaB 2l 26 -
Others H A 460 142
738 30,358
8. FINANCE COSTS 8 ®MEMRK
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH& T
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMEEF A 552 590
Interest on lease liabilities (note 17(c)) HEBBEMNE(HZE17() 1,006 1,346
1,558 1,936
152 Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited
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(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX g

The Group's (loss) profit before tax is arrived at after
charging (crediting) the following items:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

BR Bt A1 (&5 18) % 7

AR 2 B B AT (5 38 FI R (K )
UT&BEEH

2024 2023
—E-F e ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T F& T
Depreciation of plant and equipment iR = X 5% 1 3T & 236 394
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 6,620 6,940
(Reversal of impairment losses) impairment JEW & Z &5 8 2
losses on loan and interest receivables (BREEBEERD)
AR & 1R (4,003) 3,269
(Reversal of impairment losses) impairment & Y Bk 3 2
losses on trade receivables (Rt 1B 518 £ [B)
VZRIEN SR (21) 24
(Reversal of impairment losses) impairment £ fth & I 518 2
losses on other receivables (BREEBEERD)
AR & 1R (11,914) 2,406
(Reversal of impairment losses) impairment FBHi{E EEEE A T2
losses under expected credit loss model (5 & & 18 # @)
BB B 18 (15,938) 5,699
Auditor's remuneration % 25 A B 5 1,280 1,400
Other expenses* H Az 20,400 -
Employee benefit expenses (excluding EERAMAZ(TEE
directors’ and chief executive's EERESTBRAEBY
remuneration) (note 17) e (HfaET1)
— Wages and salaries = & FE s 14,999 12,614
— Pension scheme contribution — RN 5T S g 1,030 517
16,029 183, 16831
3 Other expenses of HK$20,400,000 (2023: nil) incurred during the year % BEZ_NF+-A=+—RBLFEEEN

ended 31 December 2024 represent the legal and service fee paid
for (i) the preparation, analysis, and information and materials search
before the negotiation with borrowers, and (ii) assessing the
effectiveness of legal proceedings for taking over the ownership of
the pledged assets from the borrowers and guarantors on debts
incurred in Hong Kong, the PRC, Saipan, and the British Virgin
Islands for debts recovery of loan and interest receivables.

H b B 220,400,000 T (Z T == : T) 5
EREREENEERAERDNERS 2K
BREMMME ()FERES  FE - B
ERNBHRARHEENESZRNFR 28
BEEERARERAFLAERREEKREED
AR EMKEERES R ERFE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR & B35 R

31 December 2024
=T = Nt el

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FTEHEAX
2024 2023
—E-MF ZTEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT F& T
Current tax: BNAR
Hong Kong A
Credit for the year FREK R (476) -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") PRl TS
([E#mEH))
Charge for the year FRATH 2,582 1,608
2,106 1,608
Deferred tax (credit) expense EERIE(KR) A (511) 614
Income tax expense for the year FRNAERRX 1,595 2,222

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in Hong Kong,
the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of the
qualifying corporation in the Group are taxed at 8.25%, and
assessable profits above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%.
The assessable profits of corporations in Hong Kong not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will

continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The two-tiered profits tax rates regime is applicable to the

Group for both years.

Under the Law of the EIT and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%

for both years.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

? 10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FRIEHEXZE)
P
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to FAMBHASZTEAASERRNOKREA
the (loss) profit before taxation per consolidated statement (BER)HNHE B0

of profit or loss as follows:

2024 2023

ZEIME T =F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

(Loss) profit before tax B % AT (B3 48) i 7 (33,206) 4,745

Tax at the statutory tax rate BEAERERTE 2RI (4,947) 3,031
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AT X 2 HEF £

for tax purpose 7,765 7,591
Tax effect of income not taxable for BEFHBRAZHEZE

tax purpose (3,690) (4,746)

Tax effect of tax losses utilised from PRABAHHEBEEE M2

previous periods (2,201) (5,703)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRIERTRIEE B KT £ 4,668 2,049

Income tax expense for the year FRMEHAX 1,595 2,222
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1.

156

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 1. EERRSTTHRAEFHFMH
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, BRIEEAEMBAUREBRAIGHEE
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the FRNEERERTHRABESMHOT :
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
Salaries, Pension
allowances and scheme Total
Fees  benefits in kind contribution remuneration
LR 1 Bk a8
He RENEAN i FmeE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT
2024: “E_mE:
Executive directors: WTES:
Mr. YAN Li vt = 1,200 18 1,218
Ms. CAO Xie Qiong BERUL - 600 18 618
Mr. LI Xiaoshuang TNERE - 600 18 618
Mr. YAN Yi Fan B—M%E4E 1,200 - 18 1,218
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Dr. HE Yiwu AR EL - - - -
Mr. LYU Changsheng aRBLE - - - -
1,200 2,400 72 3,672
Independent non-executive directors: BUEHTES:
Mr. LEE See Barry TREE 240 = = 240
Mr. HUANG Jiang (appointed on BEIAE(RZZ-RE
10 July 2024) +RAtBEZE) 114 - - 114
Mr. WANG Ning (resigned on 10 July 2024)  FELA(R-F-W#E
tA+AEA) 127 = - 127
Prof. HUANG Ci Bo BRRAR 240 = - 240
721 - - 721
Total Bt 1,921 2,400 72 4,393
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024
| : sl e e o SR =
= 4~ 11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S N EEREBTHASHFMG
# REMUNERATION (Continued)

Salaries, Pension
allowances and scheme Total
Fees benefits in kind contribution remuneration
-1 RS E
e REMEM #HR HiEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT THT THT
2023: —E-=F:
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. YAN Li SRS - 1,200 18 1,218
Ms. CAO Xie Qiong EBLt - 600 18 618
Mr. LI Xiaoshuang FNERE = 600 18 618
Mr. YAN Yi Fan B-ME4E 1,200 - 18 1,218
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Dr. HE Yiwu AR EL - - - -
Mr. LYU Changsheng aREEE - - - -
1,200 2,400 72 3,672
Independent non-executive directors: BIUFHITES:
Mr. LEE See Barry TREHE 240 = = 240
Mr. WANG Ning TELAE 240 - - 240
Prof. HUANG Ci Bo BRREE 240 = = 240
720 - - 720
Total B 1,920 2,400 72 4,392
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were Lo T EEMEe T EERBERESEAR
mainly for their services in connection with the NI R AEBERFTIRMERRAG - 53
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. HITEEMEe T EMR BEZIEITALT K
The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above HMB AT EEFIEMERIE - F3BY

were mainly for their services as directors of the Company
or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as
directors of the Company.

FRTEETMS T ERARNBRFETARTA
EEmREENRSE -

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to FRAC-AKEALEATFNEFTINMS
any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon EREZ I A KR AZ KL B A SR E) sk
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office BEEAECZE_=F:8)-

(2023: nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director or the ERNTEITEEXSSTRASEE
chigf executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration HEXRSKECAEM 2 (=2
during the year (2023: nil). =& @)
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12.

13.

158

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
two directors (2023: two directors). Details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 11 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2023:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

12. AEBREHFEE

FALEESFEETEEMAESR (=%
T MBER) - EFMARBIENLEX
MEN - B F=R(ZF=_=F:=%)IF3k
ARREEFXNRSTRABZESFHES
FAZHMAFROT

2024 2023

—E-_MEF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET T T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e 2MEEYER 2,963 3,862
Pension scheme contribution g N K 50 39
3,013 3,901

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

MemEmEMNT

Number of employees

A
2024 2023
—ENHE —E-=F
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 7T 1,000,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t 1,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7t = 2,500,000 7T - 1
3 3

There were no non-directors and non-chief executive
highest paid employees being granted share option during
the year (2023: same).

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2023: nil).
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(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculations of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per
share attributable to owners of the Company are based on
the following data:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

BR(GR)ER

BERARRHEAZEREAREE (B
B)BNDERTIHEAE

2024 2023
—EoE == =k
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Loss) profit: (E518) & Fl
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to ARFESRERRK
owners of the Company, used in the (B8R ANz
basic and diluted (loss) earnings per SERARREEALZ
share calculations FR(EE) = F (34,726) 2,313
Number of shares
BB EA
2024 2023
—E_ME —_F-=
Shares: B4
Weighted average number of ordinary FRNEETEERME
shares in issue during the year 15 8 507,349,121 455,441,300
Mandatory convertible notes oF i M Al R R 328,854,795 1,091,200,000
Weighted average number of ordinary R EERERRES
shares in issue during the year used in (FEHTE)&WZEWE%
the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per T IR N R I B

share calculation

836,203,916 1,646,641,300

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue has been
adjusted for the number of ordinary shares that will be
issued upon the conversion of the mandatory convertible
notes as the convertible notes were mandatory convertible
into ordinary shares. Hence, the ordinary shares that will be
issued upon conversion are included in the calculation of
basic and diluted earnings per share from the date the
contract is entered into.

A share consolidation on the basis that every ten (10)
issued and unissued then existing shares be consolidated
into one (1) consolidated share had been completed on
2 August 2023. The weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per
share has been adjusted retrospectively for the year ended
31 December 2023.

He=—Z ==& == —HIFEE ' E
BT T B AR INE TS B BL oA B 1 AT IR AR
FEREENESTETNTAREEED
HE ARAUBRBREETARH SR AT M
B - Btk Bl A B EtESE
EAR B ERFEGERANEBE T
BT @A o

BAR_E_=FNA_BZKKMHE 6
BERTTI0)KREET &*%*fiﬁﬁfﬁﬁ
BoeEHE—(WREHKRND  -REBEEZ
e el e e e EL%ﬂ
BOAESREARE TSR FERN T BR
kg & -
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31 December 2024
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14. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 14. BR(ER)EN @
For the year ended 31 December 2024, and before the BHE_Z-_NE+A=T—HLFEK
expiry of the mandatory convertible notes on 20 April BHMAUMBREER T _OMFNA =T
2024, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in HEHR r ERTEBRINEFLIHEH®
issue has been adjusted for the number of ordinary shares o8 BRI IR ER E E R T ERITH
that will be issued upon the conversion of the mandatory ﬁt%ﬂx%ﬁ(@k‘ﬁ;ﬂﬁ RE AR ER
convertible notes as the convertible notes were mandatory AR flERAsTREE - Bt BRIVED
convertible into ordinary shares. Hence, the ordinary shares H HA 48 = 54 \iiL—HﬁH ZEER-_ZT_MF
that will be issued upon conversion are included in the WMAZ+HE A ;T ESRERAREE
calculation of basic and diluted loss per share from the BFFEMAREBREETEITHT B
date the contract is entered into to the expiry of the % o
mandatory convertible notes on 20 April 2024.
The computation of diluted (loss) earnings per share for the FAEBEE_NFERTE_=F1+=H
year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 does not assume =T —BHIEFEZEREE (E18) BH R -
the exercise of the Company’s share options because the WEBRAQFEREETSE BZSE
exercise price of those share options was higher than the RENTEESRERNTFHEME -
average market price for the year.
15. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. BMERKE
Furniture,
Leasehold Medical fittings and Motor
31 December 2024 improvements machinery equipment Vehicles Total
HENE Bl £8
—E-_ME+ZA=1-H £ BREMN R#EE AE @t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000
THET THERT THERT THET THERT
At 1 January 2024 RZZE-NFE—-A—R:
Cost A 1,030 815 864 62 2,771
Accumulated depreciation ZiiNE (309) (442) (833) (62) (1,646)
Net carrying amount REFE 721 373 31 - 1,125
At 1 January 2024, net of R-ZE-_m&E—-R—AB -
accumulated depreciation TMKR R E 721 373 31 - 1,125
Additions NE = - 113 595 708
Written off ik (721) = - = (721)
Depreciation provided during FRFRTE
the year = (163) (25) (48) (236)
At 31 December 2024, net R-ZFE-_WF
of accumulated depreciation e =
BMRRATE = 210 19 547 876
At 31 December 2024: R-ZE_WF
Pl
Cost A - 815 977 657 2,449
Accumulated depreciation ZiiNE = (605) (858) (110) (1,573)
Net carrying amount REFE = 210 119 547 876

160
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15. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

15. BMERKE @)

Furniture,
Leasehold Medical fittings and Motor
31 December 2023 improvements machinery equipment Vehicles Total
HEME Btk KB
e Tt et el £ BERM B "E B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TERT FAET FTAET
At 1 January 2023 RZZ-=F—H—H:
Cost PR 1,030 815 864 62 2,771
Accumulated depreciation Rt E (103) (279) (808) (62) (1,252)
Net carrying amount REFE 927 536 56 - 1,519
At 1 January 2023, net of RZZ-=F—H—R"
accumulated depreciation BMBRRHATE 927 536 56 - 1,519
Depreciation provided during FRFRME
the year (206) (163) (25) - (394)
At 31 December 2023, net R-B-=%
of accumulated depreciation +-—A=+—-H
BHKZATE 721 373 31 = 1,125
At 31 December 2023: RZZEZ=F
+=A=+—H
Cost B AR 1,030 815 864 62 2,771
Accumulated depreciation BEtiE (309) (442) (833) (62) (1,646)
Net carrying amount REFE 721 373 31 - 1,125
FERSHBEEFRAT 161
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16.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. BEWHE
2024 2023
=2=ME ZTEZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TH T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZzZEE®® 25,295 24,411
Net (loss) gain from fair value adjustments A F{E 7% (E518) W 2%
H (2,554) 1,070
Exchange realignment bE o 8 % (377) (186)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+—A=+—HZ2
REE 22,364 25,295

Note: As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's investment
properties consist of two commercial properties, and one residential
property in Mainland China and one leasehold land in the Island of
Saipan. The directors of the Company have determined that the
investment properties consist of three classes of assets, i.e.
residential properties, commercial properties and leasehold land,
based on the nature, characteristics and risks of each property.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Company discovered that the leasehold interest of the
property in Saipan was being recorded and executed
pursuant to a lease agreement without any knowledge and
authority of Zhong Ji.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
therefore authorised the Saipan law firm to commence legal
actions in order to invalidate the forged lease assignment,
recover the possession of leasehold interest, trace the
consideration provided by the assignees under the lease
agreement, rectify the record and report the case to the
Police of Saipan and other appropriate authorities on behalf
of Zhong Ji.

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the Saipan law firm has provided legal action
plan to the Group and commenced the legal actions since
2023.

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, in view
of the directors of the Company, the Group still have the
ownership of the investment properties of Saipan and the
Group’s possession of investment properties was still valid.

Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The Group's investment properties in Mainland China and
Island of Saipan were revalued on 31 December 2024
based on valuations performed by PAL Advisory Limited
(2023: Prism Advisory Limited), an independent
professionally qualified valuer not connected to the Group.
The properties in Mainland China were revalued at
RMB9,720,000 (equivalent to HK$10,344,000) (2023:
RMB11,480,000 (equivalent to HK$12,631,000)) and the
leasehold land in the Island of Saipan was revalued at
USD1,541,000 (equivalent to HK$12,020,000) (2023:
USD1,624,000 (equivalent to HK$12,664,000)). Accordingly,
a fair value loss on investment properties of HK$2,554,000
(2023: fair value gain of HK$1,070,000) were recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2024. Each year, the
Group’s management decides to appoint which external
valuers to be responsible for the external valuation of the
Group’s properties. Selection criteria includes market
knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The Group's
management has discussion with the valuers on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuations are performed for financial reporting purpose.

Particulars of the Group’s investment properties are as
follows:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

REWE )

7 11 T ] e =] /4 5 7
RAEER R ERESZERENETIENE
S HEELERHERIPAL Advisory Limited
— T = =% : Prism Advisory Limited) (£
AEBWEBE ETZHEEERM - LR
A M 2 ) 2 T iR A R #9,720,0007T
(18 & 110,344,000 T (ZFE=Z=F : A
R #11,480,0007t (48 % 712,631,000/%
TINEG MURERS 2 E £ 1 J5i%
1,541,000 7T (F8 & #12,020,00058 T )( =
T — = 1,624,000 T(EH F B
12,664,000 0)) Eft - At HEZT
“HE+-A=+—BIEEERREY
2R RN FEEE2554,0008 (T =
=4 A F{EUY 21,070,000/ 7T) © FEFE
AEBZEEEBATZEIINEGMEBERMAER
ETASEYE 2N ME  EREER
FEhmEaE B2 BIUEMRLEREH
REIZE - AEBEEEC RGHEMS®
AV ERREMNETHERZHERS
HELR -

AEEREMEZFHBWT

Attributable
interest of the

Location Use Tenure Group
BEEREAEE

B Ji:k=S 8 Z =

Units 101 and 102, Block 7, No. 18, Chengshousi Commercial Medium term lease 100%
Middle Road, Fengtai District, Beijing City, Mainland
China

PRI RTEREXKSFTHRISHIREIE101K102 mEmE hEAEE

Unit 604, Block 33, Shiyuan Southern District, Shunyi  Residential Long term lease 100%
District, Beijing City, Mainland China

FEIERMIEERE A E R RI3EIECE 18 604 F=£ RAEAEE

Tract Numbers 22845-6 located in Capitol Hill, the Residential Medium term lease 100%

Island of Saipan
iz 72 Capitol Hill, the Island of SaipanZ x= FHIAE
b 8 4% 5 22845-6
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

16.

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group's investment properties:

REWE®

RFEEBR

TRETAGEREMEZAVEFERE

L

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2024 using

R-E-NE+=-A=+-HERTHBEZATLEHE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
BB EXTHE EATTEE
mZRE BASE BAHE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(E-%) (E=4) (E=4) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Recurring fair value NS ]
measurement for:
Commercial properties BENE = - 5,991 5,991
Residential property TEME = = 4,353 4,353
Leasehold land ME i - - 12,020 12,020
= = 22,364 22,364
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2023 using
RIEZ=F+_A=+-BEATHEBE 2R TE:E
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
R ERABE EATUEXR
Min i E ¢ EIN-¢
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(B—%) (B=#) (E=%&) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TAL TET
Recurring fair value BEBNFEGES:
measurement for:
Commercial properties EEYE = - 7,823 7,823
Residential property EENE = = 4,808 4,808
Leasehold land HE L = = 12,664 12,664
= = 95295 25,295
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there Ry ES s R el = s b DRl e L

were no transfers of fair value measurements between
Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level

3
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S ? 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 16.
3 //f'

Fair value hierarchy (Continued
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

REWE®E)

AP EBRE)
RATFEINEERE=BANEZLTME
SRR

Commercial Residential Leasehold
properties property land Total
WENE TEME HE T @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETL THET TAET THL
Carrying amount at i —- =
31 December 2022 and +ZA=+—-8k
1 January 2023 ZZ-=F-A—-HZ
FHEH 9,184 4,542 10,685 24,411
Fair value (loss) gain recognised R&ABEANERZ
in the consolidated statement A& (& 18) U
of profit or loss (1,241) 332 1,979 1,070
Exchange realignment B X3 B (120) (66) - (186)
Carrying amount at AZTZ=F
31 December 2023 and +ZA=+—-8k
1 January 2024 “Z-NE-R-HZ
Ea 7,823 4,808 12,664 25,295
Fair value loss recognised in the R&ARBERNERZ
consolidated statement of ATEBB
profit or loss (1,606) (304) (644) (2,554)
Exchange realignment BE X, B (226) (151) = (377)
Carrying amount at R-Z-MmE
31 December 2024 T=H=TEZ
FEe# 5,991 4,353 12,020 22,364
hERSEHNBEEAFRAT 165
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31 December 2024
ST EF=H= =

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and

16. BEWE (&)

RV EBRE)

REMEHEMAGBERNTEEEZEH AR

the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: BEEENT
Range or
Investment properties Valuation Significant weighted Relationship of
held by the Group techniques unobservable inputs average input to fair value
HEH W ABRE

AEEMBHREYE fiy B £ fig BANAERE A B HEFE EATEZER

Units 101 and 102, Block 7, Sales comparison Estimated market price 36,972— The higher the
No. 18, Chengshousi method per square meter 45,272 market price, the
Middle Road, Fengtai (RMB) (2023: higher the fair
District, Beijing City, 38,408— value
Mainland China 47,410)

FEIERTERRE 6 &t BUE HEABFARATE 36,972- MEM® @ AFE
X 58 <5 BR185R 755 12 (AR#) 45,272  H®
1/8101 52102 —E =

38,408-
47,410)

Unit 604, Block 33, Sales comparison Estimated market price 23,337— The higher the
Shiyuan Southern District, method per square meter 27,607 market price, the
Shunyi District, Beijing (RMB) (2023: higher the fair
City, Mainland China 25,928- value

26,098)

PEIERTIRE R i B L BUX mEr B TFAARME 23,337- MEME r AFE
AEFER33E (AR®) 27607 M5
6/E 18 71604 e e

25,928~
26,098))

Tract Numbers 22845-6 Sales comparison Estimated market price 191-286 The higher the
located in Capitol Hill, method per square meter (2023: market price, the
the Island of Saipan (US$) 222-283) higher the fair

value

{iZ 72 Capitol Hill, the Island 4% bt &% HErBERARTE 191-286 MEMS @ 2 FE
of Saipan 2 it 8 4 3% (E=7E) —E=F: A=)

22845-6 222-283))

Fair value of the Group’'s investment properties are
generally derived using comparison approach based on
market comparables of similar properties.
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17.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued

The sales comparison method is adopted by making
reference to comparable market transactions in the
assessment of the fair value of the investment properties.
The approach rests on the wide acceptance of the market
transactions as the best indicator and pre-supposes that
evidence of relevant transactions in the market place can be
extrapolated to similar properties, subject to allowances for
variable factors, including the transaction date, level of
floor, environmental atmosphere, size of apartment and etc.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office
property units which generally have lease terms of 2-3
years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R

31 December 2024
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16. BEWE &)

RFEERE)
HELBRNDEBRFIEREVEAFE
R2EAELBMERZRM - AT
UM aMBECEMRRERELSE
BOUIBRELEEXZAY BERER
ARBMNKRKNEAERRR  HEAMEHEX
ZBRBEANERRBELUYE -

17. &

RAEBEERHEEA
AEBERSERAYEENMRBIARE
BR HH-—RA/2EIF - —KRMF A
SEEBERETERAKENIILERDHE
HEEE -

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) RFEEZE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use AEEFREEEZCFAcERE
assets and the movements are as follows: BT
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
At 1 January e 10,668 1,265
Additions nNE 5,127 16,441
Derecognition upon early termination 12 A 4% |- 70 & B & |F #E R
of leases (2,737) =
Depreciation he (6,620) (6,940)
Exchange realignment ME H B = (98)
At 31 December i H =G 6,438 10,668
hEREREBKERRAT 167
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31 December 2024
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17. LEASES (Continued)

168

17. &)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) rEBEREABAGE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEERE
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Lease liabilities payable: EANEEAE
Within one year —F A 4,515 6,978
Within a period of more than one —FA EBTBIBWE
year but not more than two years Z HAEA 3,055 4,209
7,570 11,187
Less: Amount due for settlement BmEBEE TR
within 12 months shown 1218 A A 'J A
under current liabilities HEIHR (4,515) (6,978)
Amount due for settlement after 12 JEREEBEIE TR~
months shown under non-current 121E A 12 2| 58
liabilities &S H SR8 3,055 4,209

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease
liabilities ranged from 10.79% to 11.01% per annum
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease
liabilities was 11.01% per annum during the vyear
ended 31 December 2023.
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.( _ 17. LEASES (Continued)
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The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)

(d)

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT AR M R

31 December 2024

Gz S e Sl e e [

17. &%)

AEBEZEBAE)
REHERNGABRERERZEEDN

(c)

e

2024 2023

—E-mE T = =4

HK$'000 HK$'000

T TFH& T

Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 1,006 1,346

Total cash outflow for leases

(d) HEERLHHHEE

SIARBRERERZEER TR

Total cash outflow for leases included in the

consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: WEENR ¢
2024 2023
—EMEF —EZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TE T
Within operating activities K EE A 1,006 1,346
Within financing activities BEEHA 6,640 6,628
7,646 7,974
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31 December 2024
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REELEESR
2024 2023
—E-ME SRV =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHE T
Share of net assets ElEFEE - 80
Impairment loss R EN TR = (80)
Goodwill on acquisition W B By 2 i B = -
The Group's loan and interest receivable balances due from AEBEWREECEZCERRFEBEHR
the joint ventures are disclosed in note 21 to the FEMBmMERMT21HRE -
consolidated financial statements.
Particulars of the Group's joint ventures are as follows: AEBEELEZFHBOT
Place of
Particulars of issued registration and Percentage of
Name shares held business ownership interest Principal activities
=% FBEERTROFEE ZEREELE REREZEIL FTEEER
2024 2023
ZECWME ZBCZ=F
Chongging Juguan Business RMB1,020,000  PRC/ 51%* 51%* Business Information
Information Consulting Co., Limited Mainland China Consulting
(“Chongqing Juquan”)*
EEEREBERAANERAT AR¥1,020,000T HE/HERM EEAE L
((EEERD"
Wuxi Juguan Qutsourcing Service RMB1,020,000 PRC/ 51%* 51%* Business Information
Co., Limited (“Wuxi Juquan”)* Mainland China Consulting
EHERNBRBERAF AR®1,020,000c FE/HERH ERi =D
([EBER]
The above interests in joint ventures are indirectly held by AAREEFRAELIREEDE I #ERS -
the Company.
The Group exercise joint control over Chongging Juguan as AEEHEBRERTEXRZEHNE  BA
the Group’s voting right over Chongging Juguan and the AEBEHEEERBEAERAE  BHEHZE
strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the FEENRBUERERCERARBLE]S
activity require the unanimous consent of both parties. —HAE- Al AEENEZNEGE D
Accordingly, the Group’s interest is accounted for as joint FARR -
venture.
170 Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The Group exercise joint control over Wuxi Juquan as the
Group’s voting right over Wuxi Juquan and the strategic
financial and operating decisions relating to the activity
require the unanimous consent of both parties. Accordingly,
the Group's interest is accounted for as joint venture.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group made
an impairment of HK$80,000 against the carrying amount of
interest in Wuxi Juquan.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of
loss of a joint venture, Chongging Jugquan because the
share of loss of the joint venture exceeded the Group's
interest in that joint venture and the Group has no
obligation to take up further losses. The amount of the
Group’s unrecognised share of loss of this joint venture for
the current year and cumulatively were nil (2023: nil) and
HK$3,155,000 (2023: HK$3,155,000), respectively.

The Group’s joint ventures are accounted for using the
equity method.

# The English name of the joint ventures represents the best effort by
the management of the Group in translating their Chinese names for
identification purpose only as they do not have an official English
name.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

18. REELEREFE(H)

AEBHEEGERTELARZESNE AL
AEBEHEGERBHEROE  BREZA
BEBNRBEMBEREERRAKET
—HAE- Al AEENESASED
EAR-

BE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIEFE 'K
SERREHER 2R 2 RABEEDR
{E80,0007& JT °

AEBORIBREBEAECEEEE
R2EE BRRAEBEGZALECEZER
BBAEBERZELELEZHER  MAE
B EXGREE—FPER AEBAKRF
EREMZABRELEZAELEBES
BHORNAZS(ZZE=-=4: %) K3,155,000
AL (=2 = =4 : 3,155,000/& L) °

ARBzEEhREABESAAR -
# ERAECEYMEREXER HRZZH

NERAAGBERERIBEEPNEREM
5 EHER -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR & B35 R

31 December 2024
= RS HE

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 18. REELXEZRE(H)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of Chongging Juquan and Wuxi Juquan,
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and
reconciled to the carrying amount in the financial
statements:

TERBMINEFEERREHER 2 PEER
(EAMetRRE=EETAELEE
R R2EFEESEEE) ¢

Chongqging Juquan Wuxi Juquan

172

EEER EIRE R
2024 2023 2024 2023
TEDOFE = ZEZ@FE —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHETT FERT F& T
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBCEEY 2,113 2,113 1,430 1,430
Other current assets Hfhmeh & E 10,908 10,908 7,957 7,957
Total current assets mMEEERME 13,021 13,021 9,387 9,387
Non-current assets EREEE 65 65 35 35
Goodwill on acquisition of the WA & DR
joint ventures GRS = = = =
Current liabilities mEAaE (20,766) (20,766) (9,422) (9,422)
Net liabilities BEFE (7,680) (7,680) - -
Net liabilities excluding goodwill BEF% @ T~ B EEE (7,680) (7,680) = =
Reconciliation to the Group's HAEEREEREZ
interests in the joint 1 2 ¥ BR -
ventures:
Proportion of the Group's NEE A R
ownership 51% 51% 51% 51%
Group's share of net assets of AEBEEESLEGEEL
the joint venture EFE - = - =
Share of net assets included in FTAKREEEMESE Z
carrying amount of the EHFEE
investment = = = =
Revenue I &= = = = =
Income tax expense Frisfi M & - = - =
Loss and total comprehensive FAEEREZHEMX
expense for the year Rt = = - 7

Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited

2024 Annual Report



20.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

19.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024

===

BEAFEZBHMEZEREARZ
TREE

2024 2023

—EC-MF —T-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THER FA T

Listed equity investments, at fair value EmRAEE  BAFE 2,158 5,847

The above equity investments are investments in
companies listed on the Stock Exchange and were
irrevocably designated at fair through other
comprehensive income as the Group considers these
investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held
for long-term strategic purposes.

value

During the year, Group sold certain of its equity
investments at an aggregate consideration of HK$7,617,000
as these investments were no longer coincided with the
Group’s investment objective of the Group. A cumulative
gain on disposal of equity investments of FVTOCI of
HK$68,140,000 (2023: HK$2,272,000) recognised in other
comprehensive income was transferred to accumulated
losses during the year ended 31 December 2024.

HRASER S LA RBA EH AR Z
BAREYHRRRZBNMBEE - MES
EHRBEBENMIER  REFRECHA
BEMEEREATFEEEEMEE S
N

FA-ANEBENRET617,0008 T HE
ETRAKRE  RAAZEERETHA
EAREECEEREE BE_T_MFE+
AT —HALEFE REMZAEKERE
RZEEZRATFEERAEME2EEKE AR
2R E 2 R #68,140,000/8 7T (=
T~ =4 :2,272,0008 )8 EEE 2t
18 -

INVENTORIES 20. &
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER F%& T
Health and medical products EREEEE®
— Finished goods — SR 1,296 2,523

The directors of the Company have assessed the net
realisable values and conditions of the Group's inventories
as at 31 December 2024, and have made written off of
inventories of HK$913,000 (2023: nil) for the year ended 31
December 2024.

ARARESETHAEBREER-_Z-X
E+-A=+—HZUEBRFERMNKR
WEREE=ZF =g e = = Hik
FEHEEF 5913,0008 T(Z T - =%
) o
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21.

174

LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 21. EWEREFE
2024 2023
== (mjEE T =
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T T
Non-current IR E
Loan and interest receivables EWE R EF B
— corporate loans — EEX — 157,823
Less: impairment R E
— Stage 2 — [E &2 = (14,975)
= 142,848
Current B
Loan and interest receivables JE B 3R K F B
— corporate loans (notes (i), (ii) and (iii) — D EE (K
(i) R (i) 582,934 422,070
Loan and interest receivables JEWE KT B
— personal loans (note (iii)) — B A B 3 (B & (i) 239,345 239,562
822,279 661,632
Less: impairment "R E
— Stage 2 — PEER2 (14,854) (4,556)
— Stage 3 — BBE3 (621,857) (622,192)
185,568 34,884
185,568 177737
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LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The terms of loans entered with its customers are on
credit. The credit period is generally within four years,
extension can be made after monitoring assessment and
further creditworthiness analysis on the debtors reviewed
by senior management. The loan receivables carried
interest at fixed interest rate ranging from 6% to 18%
(2023: 6% to 18%) per annum. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. The Group held collateral or other credit
enhancements over certain of its loan and interest
receivable balances. Please refer to note 39 for
concentration of credit risk.

The Group’s loan and interest receivables, which arise from
the money lending business under corporate and personal
borrowers loan business model of providing corporate and
personal loans in the PRC and in Hong Kong and the
carrying amounts approximate their fair values.

Except for loan and interest receivables of HK$654,515,000
(2023: HK$654,459,000) which are unsecured, loan and
interest receivables are secured by collateral provided by
customers, bear interest and are repayable with fixed
terms.

Included in the Group's loan and interest receivables are
amounts due from the Group’s joint ventures with net
carrying amount of HK$28,113,000 (2023: HK$27,520,000),
which are unsecured, bearing interest at 12% (2023: 12%)
per annum and repayable in between 2024 to 2025.

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2024, included in loan and interest receivables
amounting to HK$129,174,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$117,362,000), are secured by share charge of borrowers, carried
at fixed interest rate at 6% (31 December 2023: 6%) per annum.

(ii) As at 31 December 2024, included in loan and interest receivables
amounting to HK$1,576,000 (31 December 2023: HK$1,457,000),
are secured by financial assets, carried at fixed interest rate at
15.6% (31 December 2023: 15.6%) per annum.

(iii) As at 31 December 2024, included in loan and interest receivables
amounting to HK$51,421,000 (31 December 2023 HK$51,249,000),
are unsecured, carried at fixed interest rate ranging from 6% to 15%
(31 December 2023: 6% to 15%) per annum.

21.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R

31 December 2024
Gz S e Sl e e [

FEHRERRFNE @
AEBEREFPAVZERGR B °
RERBERSNE ?&%@Efiiﬂﬁ%
ANETEEFGERE-FERINMRAE
- RBUERZBEEFNENF6EEIBE
(ZEZ=%: 6%:187) REBEBRNYH
HARYE 2 BUKR AR BFBERER &
i&%?i%/‘fﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁrﬂtﬁﬁméﬁ AEE
HTREERRANBEHRFEEMMAE
fEEMBRIEE - FL2HME39 - AT #
FEERBEPZFE -

AEENEREREMNEXREETBRRE
BAEEREAERAEREBRA R H
m%& /\fmﬂ’ﬂﬁ“ii‘“ FREEEE
N EEE

Br654,5615,000% (= T = =
654,459,000/ 7T) K JE L E 3R K 7 8. 7
TN BMEREFEH AT F R
EAIRRIEEE - s E RIZE T HRER

3 4HE

/AT

t A

|a?l-\té\m-m

74 82 80 8 R
AE DR

EFBERKRAEER
15 - BR ¥ 18 428,113,000/8
T (ZZ = =% :27,520,000/ 7T) * AEEK
# ﬁziﬂfﬂﬁf?f £ 122) 5

WEAR-_E-_NFE_ZT_AFEE -

S

(i) R-ZZE-—_mM&E+=—A=+—8 st ABKER
R B H #49129,174,0008 T (ZE-_=F+=
A=+—H:117,362,000%J0) * ERAZ K
HDIREIERF  BEEREAE(ZTE_=F
TE =Rl =) FHEDD

(ii) RZTBE-mME+=-A=+—H SFABRKEX
K F| B /91,676,000 T (Z T =4 +=A=
+—H 1,457,000/ 7T) A& B E EEEKT -
EFMERI56E(ZE=_=F+=-A=+—8:
15.6[E) °

(e = s P bR e Fl oA e
R F B #K951,421,0008 T (ZE=_=F+=-HA=
+—H : 51,249,000/ 70) A &K - B EEF
SR 65 SN BE (e e et e e = e
N FEEEIGE) ©
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LRE B TS R MY R
31 December 2024
=T ===
21. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. BEIREREF B (&)
The breakdown of the gross loan and interest receivables REARABMEREFRELEDNERER K
by loan type as of the dates indicated is as follows: MEBEEBAADT
As at 31 December
R+=—HB=+—H
2024 2023
—E-WEF ZEZ=F
Number Number
of loan of loan
accounts HKS$'000 % accounts HK$'000 %
B B®
REH FET % BRPE & T3 %
Corporate Loans TEER 9 582,934 71 9 579,893 71
Personal Loans 8 A &% 5 239,345 29 5 239,562 29
Total 485t 14 822,279 100 14 819,455 100
The table below sets out the average loan size of the TRV EE_ZE-_NWEFER T - =F+
Group's loan products during the year ended 31 December A=+ HLEFEAEBERERNF
2024 and 2023: HEREE:

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1t—HLEE

2024 2023

—E-ImF —EZ=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Corporate Loans TEER 64,770 64,433
Personal Loans EAE 47,869 47,912
Overall Bz 58,734 58,533
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LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The table below summarizes the range of interest rates that
charged during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
2023:

21.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

FEHRERRFNE @

TR E—_E_NER_ST_=F+
A=+ BUHEFEURBRHNFXREHE :

Year ended 31 December
BE+T-A=1+—HIELEE

Corporate Loans TEEX
Personal Loans @ A& X
Overall ze

2024 2023
—E-MF —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET

6% to 18% 6% to 18%
6/ £18E 6E =18
10% to 15% 10% to 15%
10E E£15E 102 £15[F
6% to 18% 6% to 18%
6/ £18E 6E =18

An ageing analysis of loan and interest receivables based
on maturity date is as follows:

EREZREFNEZIEBEORE TN
T

Year ended 31 December
BE+t=-A=1+—HILLEE

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT T T

Corporate Loans TEEX
Current B H#R 933 983
1-180 days 1-180K 2,799 2,887
181-365 days 181-365X 2,800 2,919
Over 365 days 365K A &£ 576,402 573,104
582,934 579,893

Personal Loans BAEXK
Current B HA = =
1-180 days (il BUA - =
181-365 days 181-365K - =
Over 365 days 365K A &£ 239,345 239,562
239,345 239,562
822,279 819,455
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21.

178

LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. BEREREF B (&)
An ageing analysis of the loan and interest receivables as at ERFEILE R % 2 ta B 8 K% FE 5t Al
the end of the reporting period, based on the BUWAEERAERRNGREER  EKRKE
commencement of loan agreements entered into and the RAEFERBERRZERITAOT
date of interest income accrued, net of provisions, is as
follows:
2024 2023
—E_ME T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FE T
Within 30 days 30K 933 983
31-90 days 31290k 2,799 2,887
91-180 days 912180k 2,800 2,919
181-365 days 1812365 2,799 4,790
Over 365 days 365K £ 176,237 166,153
185,568 177,732
The Group applies the general approach to measure AEBERERAB—MAZEZUNREABHEES
expected credit losses which uses a 12-month ECL basis BAERWERLEFE - A BEFEER
for loan and interest receivables. However, when there has RERBUARKIBIENE - Z2HBEHE
been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, EEETRER -
the allowances will be based on the lifetime ECL.
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of EKEREFEBREBBEHEE 2Z3H0M
loan and interest receivables are as follows: S 3
2024 2023
=Ll es o e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F& T
At beginning of year 0 F A 641,723 647,114
(Reversal of impairment losses) impairment (REEEREER)E®ER
losses recognised (note 9) (B S 1B (A iE9) (4,003) 3,269
Exchange realignment PE R A% (1,009) (8,660)
At end of year RE R 636,711 641,723
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LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The table below shows the credit quality and maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's internal credit
rating system and period-end stage classification. The
amounts presented are gross of impairment allowances.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

21. EWERERNE(®)
TRITERFAEBANBEETIREGR

HARABRIBEZEEERZERRAEER
RO - A2 R AREREEAHE -

12-month ECLs

31 December 2024
—E-mE+=A=+—~
Lifetime ECLs

1218 A FE 8

EEEBSE HEHGEEER
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
EIRE 2P B EIMER F
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET THET FTExT

Loan and interest receivables [& U & X & &

Performing (good) (i) & 4 (R 1F) (i) = = - -
Performing (bad) (ii) B4 (R (i) - 200,422 - 200,422
Non-performing (iii) & 49 (i) - - 621,857 621,857
Total 4 Et = 200,422 621,857 822,279

12-month ECLs

31 December 2023
—E-=f+=ZH=+—8H
Lifetime ECLs

121& A 78 5
EEEIE >HBHEEEIE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F1PEER F 2P B FIMER FE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FH T T T T
Loan and interest receivables & U & 7 & F| &
Performing (good) (i) B # (R 4F) () = = = =
Performing (bad) (ii) B# (T R) (i) = 188,328 - 188,328
Non-performing (iii) S FE £ (iii) = = 631,127 631,127
Total #Et = 188,328 631,127 819,455
(i) Performing (good) (i) refers to exposure which credit risk has not (i) BARE) (VEFEHZEERRBE YK ER

increased significantly since initial recognition.

(ii) Performing (bad) refers to exposure which credit risk has increased
significantly.

(iii) Non-performing refers to exposure with objective evidence of
impairment.

LAY BEBRE LT o

(ii) BH(TR)EFES 2 EERBREBRZLA -

(i) TEAKHRETBEREZEZEAR -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024
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21. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. BEWEREF B (&)

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount in HEBEKERKNEZ RAAEES
relation to loan and interest receivables is as follows: DT
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F1BE R F2R B HEIRER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T F& T FET
At 1 January 2023 R-_E-—=F
—H—H = 181,445 637,915 819,360
New 12 = 11,659 = 11,659
Repayment E & = = (1,551) (1,551)
Exchange realignment bE 5 3= = (4,776) (5,237) (10,013)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE— =
and 1 January 2024 +=—A=+—H
k=T _MF
—H—H = 188,328 631,127 819,455
New 14 - 11,199 - 11,199
Exchange realignment bE 5 38 & = 895 (9,270) (8,375)
At 31 December 2024 R-E-_W&E+=
A=+—H = 200,422 621,857 822,279
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LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group determines the provision for ECL by exercising
significant judgements to evaluate the collectability from
individual loan and interest receivables after taking into
account their creditworthiness, whether they have financial
difficulties, experience of default or delinquency in interest
or principal payment, ageing analysis and forecast of future
events and economic conditions which may impact the
recoverability of loan and interest receivables.

Movements in allowance for ECL are as follows:

21.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

FEHRERRFNE @

AEEEREXHBETRUEEERR
- FHEE R B E R R R 2T E N
EPSALEGCE REIEHYREE -2
MR B RS NRER - Rk DT
VA B 7 7] 88 52 2 e W B 3R B ) B AT M [l 1
ZARBREHREEBERZTEA -

BHMEEERBENEHNT

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E1RER H2P ER FE3MER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FAET FHET
At 1 January 2023 RZT—=F
—H—H - 19,039 628,075 647,114
Impairment losses B RREEE
recognised = 1,995 1,274 3,269
Derecognised BUH #E R = = (1,551) (1,551)
Exchange realignment bE W 38 & = (264) (6,845) (7,109)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F
and 1 January 2024 +—-HA=+—H
R_Z M4
—H—H = 20,770 620,953 641,723
(Reversal of impairment B2 52
losses) impairment losses (REmBERE)
recognised VERIEN, TR = (4,519) 516 (4,003)
Transfer to Stage 3 RS = (1,060) 1,060 -
Exchange realignment bE W 38 B = (337) (672) (1,009)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZZE-_NF
T A= - 14,854 621,857 636,711
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31 December 2024
ST EF=H= =

21.

22.

182

LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. BEWERKFE (&)
The Group has sent numerous demand letters to the AEEBEZRMERA RERAZE DK
borrowers and guarantors but the loan and interest BBEEERERENEMAREREE
receivables were still outstanding and in default position, WERRELHMRE  REB I EE ZKERK
the Group will continue to demand repayment from the ARERAER - AEEITMEZTLEMME
borrowers and guarantors. The Group has engaged the BRARERAZDLZNE  ZXAEX
lawyer to issue legal letters to the borrowers and NEAEBEEEXREMNE -AEEBERRERE
guarantors demanding for immediate payment of B MEZEERARERAZLEAS
outstanding loan and interest. The Group has commenced Mo AEBRESKEZMZER - N#E
legal proceeding and issued the Writ of Summons to TERERFRERARERAZEH G
several borrowers and guarantors. The Group is currently BEZHERRE-
seeking advice from the lawyer to proceed with legal
procedures for taking over the ownership of pledged assets
from the borrowers and guarantors.
TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. EWERR
2024 2023
—E-NmE —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHETT
Trade receivables JE U BR 5K 72,212 2,174
Less: impairment BB (12) (33)
72,200 2,141

As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts
with customer amounted to HK$654,000.

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit period is generally 30 to 90 days (2023:
30 to 90 days) for its trade receivables. Regarding the
longevity science business, the Group generally requests for
deposits in advance from customers (note 29). The Group
seeks to maintain strict control its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk and overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

over
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

_ . 22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22. EWERR@E)
P
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables, based on the EREZHHFAERRNBREEBR - B
invoice date and net of provisions, was as follows: BRRZERBR DT
2024 2023
—E-mF —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA& T
Current to 30 days BIEf=30H 71,138 8
31-90 days 31£90H = -
91-180 days 91£180H 9 -
181-365 days 1812 365H 364 2,133
Over 365 days 365K A E 689 =
72,200 2,141
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of JEWERFOREEBEEFEE 2ZEHMT

trade receivables are as follows:

2024 2023
—E-OF —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAE T
At beginning of year REH] 33 9
(Reversal of impairment losses) (R (B B 18 B [e)
impairment losses recognised BEHERBEER
(note 9) (K7a£9) (21) 24
At end of year RER 12 33
The Group applies simplified approach to measure expected REBERFAERKEREAB(LEFEE
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance HiEERE FER2HEHERER -
for all trade receivables. The Group determines the AEEBEBRBEERRKRMEMYUCEBBERD
provision for expected credit losses by grouping together HEBTMKE 2T LEEEBRE
trade receivables with similar credit risk characteristics and EEEREE  ERAREFNLCEIRE

collectively assessing them for likelihood of recovery, taking
into account prevailing economic conditions.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e mRN T _
31 December 2024
= T U e i el F
22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22. EWERRE)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk BREBEBEI ZAEERRKEREER
exposure on the Group's trade receivables using a provision BRI
matrix:
As at 31 December 2024 R-B-ONFE+=A=+-—H
Past due
8 5
Not Less than 31 to 91 to 181 to Over
past due 30 days 90 days 180 days 365 days 365 days Total
91% 181 365K
REH DPH30KX 30F90X 180Kk 365X Mk e
Expected credit losses rate EHEEBEX 0% 0% 0% 1.17% 1.17% 1.17%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) #2BRME & 58
(FExT) 71,150 = = 9 364 689 72,212
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHI(Z EE1E
(F#7m) = = = = 5 7 12
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=%F+=-HA=+—H
Past due
Not Less than 31 to 91 to 181 to Over
past due 30 days 90 days 180 days 365 days 365 days Total
INE 181& 365K
K@ PR30k 31EI0K 180K 365K Ak M
Expected credit losses rate EHEEBHEX 0% 0% 0% 0% 1.54% 0%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) #2BRE € %8
(F#&T) 8 = = = 2,144 22 2,174
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHI{ZEEE
(FAmT) = o i = 33 = 83
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DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

23. & ANRERHEMGERKE

2024 2023
—2-mEf ZTEZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH& T
Prepayments SERNE 12,443 30,828
Deposits oA 3,624 3,000
Other receivables — personal loans via HEmEWRE — @A
strategic partners by 100% contribution BB & 1ERH100%
HE®EAE R 126,750 159,671
Other receivables — personal loans via Hm gl sE — @if
strategic partners by 10% contribution B A S ERH10%
HEREAE R 46,168 47,571
Other receivables — others (note) Hfth fE U R IE — H A
(Kt &t) 89,860 52,107
Less: impairment R E
— Stage 2 — & ER2 (71,201) (87,622)
— Stage 3 — & ER3 (26,717) (8,953)
(97,918) (96,575)
180,827 196,602
Note: B it -
As at 31 December 2024, other receivables — others included the RZZ-MFF+-_A=+—08 ' HMERNE — &£

refundable receivable of HK$19,738,000 (2023: nil) for consultancy fee.

B35 B A BE S B A AT AR 4B FE IR IE 19,738,000/ 7T (=
T=F &)
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31 December 2024
ST EF=H= =

23.

186

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Deposits of the Group mainly represent rental deposits.
Given that the Group has not experienced any significant
credit losses in the past, the directors of the Company
considered that the allowance for expected credit losses for
these deposits are not in significant.

Other receivables mainly represent the receivables from an
independent third party with net carrying amount of
HK$90,364,000 (2023: HK$90,364,000) which are secured,
carried at fixed interest rate from 8.4% to 16.8% (31
December 2023: 8.4% to 16.8%) per annum.

The Group’s other receivables, which mainly arise from the
money lending business under Strategic Partners Business
Model of providing personal loans in the PRC by 100%
contribution and 10% contribution via the strategic partners
acting as direct lender with the Group as co-manager, and
the carrying amounts approximate their fair values.

Except for other receivables of HK$89,860,000 (2023:
HK$52,017,000) which are unsecured, other receivables are
secured by collateral provided by customers, bear interest
and are repayable with fixed terms.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no other
receivables have been written-off (2023: nil).
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Be RAIREREMERRE

(%)

AEBZRSTEREHSRE - ERAE
EREIRRIEMEREERL AR
RAEERANZEREFRZBHNEES
BEEILTEK-

Hh W REEEEER— 2B LE=F
XA BR ¥ {890,364,0008 T (ZE = =
% :90,364,0008 L) BREEF - BEF
FMENFRAE F168E(ZE-_=5:84
[EE£16.8E) °

AREBEWEMBUKIAT ERE B S (F
BHEBEATNEERS  BETBEMN
100% H & 210% HE T A REFEAE
o BBRAIEBHIERERENRA K&
BEAHRAERA EEEESREATER
3 o

489,860,000/8 7T (ZZ = =% : 52,017,000
7 70 ) B9 E fth JE UL IE B E RN - Efh e
WRIEH AR FIREREK R MR IEERE - 5
B RIZEE HREE -

BE_T_NWNFE+_A=t—BLEE"
TEEMERREESHME(CT =5
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024
===

23. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 23. BE& -FEARNRERAEMERIE
RECEIVABLES (Continued) (&)
The breakdown of the other receivables by loan type as of KT H B B MR A 8 5 /) H b B IR
the dates indicated is as follow: THBRAT

As at 31 December

R+=—B=+—H
2024 2023
—E-ME —T-=F
Number Number
of loan of loan
accounts HK$'000 % accounts HK$'000 %
B =
EF# FET % P& FTHT %
Personal loans via strategic ~ BBEEAEZH
partners by 100% 100% i & 9
contribution HAER 170 126,750 73 185 159,671 77
Personal loans via strategic BB E I A (EE
partners by 10% contribution 10% H & )
(EPNS=E 233 46,168 27 233 47,571 23
Total Bt 403 172,918 100 418 207,242 100
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & S R MY

31 December 2024
=T = Nt el

23. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 23. & FANREREMEKRIRKE
RECEIVABLES (Continued) (&)
The table below set out the average loan size of our loan TREIEEZEZZFE-_MFERT_=FF
product under strategic partners business model during the AT HEFERMERBSIERHE
year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023: BEATHEREGRNFHIENRE:

Year ended 31 December

BEZE+t-A=1t—HLEE

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=4F
HK$°’000 HK$'000
FET F& T
Personal loans via strategic partners by BB S ERH100%

100% contribution &/ E A B 746 863
Personal loans via strategic partners by BB ASERH10%

10% contribution HE S EAER 198 204
Overall B 429 496
The table below summarises the range of interest rates that TERABE_T_WFR T _=F
charged during the year ended 31 December 2024 and AT —HLEFERDRHF XEHE
2023:

Year ended 31 December
BZEZ+-A=1+—HLEE
2024 2023
ZE-OF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHE T
Personal loans via strategic partners by MBS ERHEI100% 84% to 19.2% 8.4% to 19.2%

100% contribution H & B8 A B X 8.4%%19.2%  8.4%%E19.2%
Personal loans via strategic partners by BB AERFEI0% 12% to 18% 12% to 18%

10% contribution HE R EAE K 12% Z18% 12% Z£18%
Overall e 8.4% to 19.2% 8.4% to 19.2%

8.4%%19.2%

8.4% £19.2%
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RECEIVABLES (Continued)

23. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 23.

An ageing analysis of other receivables under strategic
partners business model based on maturity date is as

follows:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =
Re BEAREREMERRE

(%)

BRAEEHEBEATEMRKKIAR
BB RE DT

Year ended 31 December

BEZE+t-A=1t—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-OF ZTEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T

Personal loans via strategic partners by EBEEES/EE #100%

100% contribution HENEAERK
Current B HA 897 1,921
1-180 days 1-180K 5,383 11,342
181-365 days 181-365K 5,427 11,280
Over 365 days 366K A E 115,043 135,128
126,750 159,671
Personal loans via strategic partners by EiB B K S /EE #£10%
10% contribution HENEAER
Current Bl HA 109 202
1-180 days 1-180K 656 1,213
181-365 days 181-365K 547 1,210
Over 365 days 365K A £ 44,856 44,946
46,168 a7 571
172,918 207,242
FERSHEEEBRAT 189

—E_NUFEFR



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e B R M R
31 December 2024
=T ===
23. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 23. & ENARERAEMERFIE
RECEIVABLES (Continued) (#&)
The movements in impairment allowance of other HmEkFREBEREEER ZEZHWO T :
receivables are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-F —F_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FE T
At beginning of year R E 4 96,575 93,113
(Reversal of impairment losses) (R B BB R E) B RR
impairment losses recognised (note 9) BEE K L) (11,914) 2,406
Exchange realignment PE W& 13,257 1,056
At end of year RER 97,918 96,575

Expected credit losses on the other receivables balances
are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with
reference to historical loss record of the Group. The loss
rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The
loss rate as at 31 December 2024 was 37.8% (2023:

HEMERGEE#ZTEHEEEBR LR
EREEBRT 2 ERELHEERBEERE
fhar - BEEERSERAE  URBERNRRT
RS AR R EAR R 2 TR (W@ A) - =
E_NF+ A=+ —HZEEXA37.8%
—E-=%:34.8%) °

34.8%).
24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24, BeRBeEEY
2024 2023
—E_OEF ST =4kE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH& T
Cash and bank balances Be MIBITHE % 47,842 81,075
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25.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024
===

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 24, BERBESEEYH)
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank RBERR  AEENAREFEZRE
balances and time deposits of the Group denominated in N8R 17 45 82 DA I 5E B 17 38 & 45,261,0007%8
RMB amounted to HK$45,261,000 (2023: HK$79,348,000). T(ZEZ =% :79,348,00087T) - ARY
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, TAERARAEMER  BREFEA
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control WANEEIBIEH R EE - EE RTIESIE
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and RE AEEEBEATEAREERSINESE
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is BZHRITBARELBRBEMEE -
permitted to exchange RMB for others currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rate based on daily RITHE SR B EBRITTRFERIUEE A
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for B -RHEHRFIRIAEEHNKREH
period of seven days depending on the immediate cash D EFEXHAELE REAREHEHRER
requirements of the Group, and earn interests at the = BRELH B o RIT4 88 K E B 17 517 IR
respective short term time deposits rates. The bank REBYEENLCERBEE]SE ZRIT o
balances and time deposits are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.
TRADE PAYABLES 25. IR
2024 2023
—E_mE —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FA& T
Trade payables J& - BR X 70,780 206

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date
is as follows:

EREREEZAHI SO RE TN
R ¢

2024 2023
—E-OF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FE T
Current to 30 days BPEA =30H 70,575 -
31 to 60 days 31£60H = 1117
Over 90 days 90H M k 205 94
70,780 206
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e B R M R _
L]
31 December 2024
= T U e i el F
26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. Hitt BN RIEREE
2024 2023
—E-ME T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER T T
Other payables H Ath fE 5 5008 3,457 3,061
Accruals st E A 6,746 9,485
10,203 12,546
Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an HibENZEA® S  EHEBRAE—FR
average term of less than one year or on demand. IR EF o
27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 27. BABEMES
2024 2023
—E_ME —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FE& T
Bank borrowings, secured RITEE BER 2,128 2,068
Other borrowings, unsecured HMEE  EER 9,413 6,942
11,541 9,010
The carrying amounts of the above borrowings are analysed LR ESCEEEREAYNEERE SN
based on contractual repayment date is as follows: M
2024 2023
ZEB-NEF ZTEZ=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FH& T
The carrying amounts of the borrowings are BEZEREEAR
repayable within one year R—FAEE 11,541 9,010
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27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

The loans are obtained from independent third parties to
the Group with principal amounts of HK$6,380,000
(approximately RMB6,000,000) (2023: HK$6,602,000
(approximately RMB6,000,000). The loans are unsecured,
bearing interest of 5% and 25% per annum which
denominated in RMB and HK and payable on demand, and
thus shown under current liabilities.

The unsecured HK$3,168,000 loan for only 6 months during
the COVID-19 city isolation period has been repaid during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group also obtained a short-
term other borrowing of HK$2,700,000, which is
guaranteed by Mr. Yan Li, bearing interest of 27.00% per
annum and repayable within one year, and thus shown
under current liabilities.

As at 31 December 2024, in addition, the Group obtained a
PRC bank loan of HK$2,128,000 (approximately
RMB2,000,000) (2023: HK$2,068,000 (approximately
RMB1,880,000), which is unsecured, bearing interest of
4.25% per annum and repayable within one year, and thus
shown under current liabilities.

27.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R

31 December 2024
===

RITRHEMEE @

ERREAEBR —RBIE=F L8
/6,380,000 T (¥ A R #6,000,0007T)
(ZE = =4 :6,602,000/ T(H A R
6,000,0007T)) - ZERAEET « 55K
FHEpE K2BEF B (AARERBIITLA
B) BREXEEZ YHRRHEGEETE
| o

B 37 7 F A 3k T B B EA R (E S E A B9 R
HE 73,168,000 tEREE T —=F
+—A=+—HItEEEEZ -

R-E-_WNF+_-_A=+—H ' "EBER
BEEE M {EE2,700,0008 T © B %
ERTHEE  BEMR27EFE AR —F
WNEE IYRRBHEBEETZE -

RZEBE-_WE+=_A=+—H  KEBEI
HY 18 AR B 4R 77 & 542,128,000/ T (K A B
#2,000,0007T) (=% = =4 : 2,068,000/5
7T (4 AR #1,880,0007T)) ©» AR - %
FRERA4BEFE AR —FANEE I
RARBEFEE 27 -
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31 December 2024
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28. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED 28. EW (BB LAT  —BEEX
COMPANIES/A DIRECTOR |
The amount(s) due from/(to) related companies/a director W () R, — ERBERE
were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. iR 2B RARE Tfé =
Mr. Yan Li is a director and beneficial owner of those BIYAERBAARIBHARINEELER
related companies of the Company. BEHA-

29.

194

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

29. EHEE

2024 2023
—EBE-mEF —E-=F
HK$°’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Provision of diagnostic and R E R
medical test services B OB A AR 7% 2,878 24,207
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRBERELEHSNBEEE CEERII
recognised relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and HneELEBAHEERTNROELE
how much relates to performance obligations that were MzERRK =S -
satisfied in prior periods.
2024 2023
—E-NE =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA& T
At beginning of the year F 1) 24,207 23,662
Revenue recognised from performance STAGBHBEZERE
obligation satisfied that was included in TREAEEER
contract liabilities 2z (21,736) (8,928)
Increase due to cash received, excluding H Uk B IE S mig o -
amount recognised as revenue during the TEFEERNEDRE
year W 55 B & 407 9,473
At end of the year F R 2,878 24,207
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance EHNEBEFEEREHEHZ2EHREEIARY
consideration received from customers for provision of MEEFPWAMNENREER  Hiim<
diagnostic and medical test services, for which revenue is E—ERMERLLER LR REE
recognised at point in time. This will be recognised as ARG RETEPHRERAS K o

revenue when the diagnostic and medical test services are

provided to the customers.
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~ ? 30. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
3 //f'

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are
as follows:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

30. EEBIEES

FAREHBREEZEBHMT:

Fair value

adjustment of

investment

properties

REMEZ

AFEFE

HK$'000

FA& T

At 1 January 2023 R—_ZFB-_=F—H—H 637
Charged to profit or loss 18 & A BR 614
Exchange realignment & 5, 38 & (15)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=ZH=1—H 1,236
Credited to profit or loss STAE = (511)
Exchange realignment & 5, 38 & (36)
At 31 December 2024 R-EB_WFE+-_A=+—H 689

The Group has unused tax losses of HK$39,940,000 (2023:
HK$33,167,000) that are available for offsetting against
future profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
Deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of
these losses as the utilisation of these tax losses is
uncertain.

AREB B R E) AT IEE 839,940,000 7T
—F — =4 :33,167,00058 7T) o] A R K 85
EEBEAGZARKEN - HRBEEREE
ZEBBBEENBABR  WHERZS
BEEREEHBEEE -
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31.

196

MANDATORY CONVERTIBLE NOTES

In October 2015, the Company issued zero coupon rate
mandatory convertible notes with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$2,400,000,000 (“MCN"), for the purpose of
satisfying the consideration of HK$2,400,000,000 (subject
to adjustment) pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement
dated 20 May 2015 entered into between the Company,
the controlling shareholder of the Company (the “Vendor")
and the guarantor, under which the Company acquired 96%
equity interest of the Katar Global Group.

The MCN bear no interest and will mature on 19 October
2020 (the “Maturity Date”). The Company may not redeem
the MCN at its option while the holder of the MCN has the
right to convert their MCN into shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$0.2 per share at any time during the
issue date to the Maturity Date, and the MCN is freely
transferrable by the holder of the MCN provided that they
may not be transferred to any connected person of the
Company without written consent of the Company and the
compliance of any applicable Listing Rules. Any outstanding
MCN at the Maturity Date will automatically convert into
shares of the Company.

The summarised information of the MCN is set out as
follows:

20 October 2015
19 October 2020
HK$2,400,000,000
0%

HK$0.2

Issuance date

Maturity date

Original principal amount

Coupon rate

Conversion price per ordinary share

Further details regarding the principal terms and conditions
of the MCN are contained in the circular of the Company
dated 29 September 2015.
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RZZT—RAFE+H ARARETEALER
/#2,400,000,0007% 7T 2 & B.58 il 1% AT 32 f%
ZR((REAETRRERE])  UBREAR
AIEAQRZERBRE(ES]) RERAR
FAIVESA—E—RFRA-THZEE
Wpiz (AN A BRI W BB N IR PR EE 2 96%
A% #E) {& <t X {8 2,400,000,00078 7T (7] ¥ 7

=)

BREMERTREREAH LR _FE_F
FTATABTEHAD B - KRFAA]
REEEE @RS AR R - Mok
HARERERFRBEABRERZEITAZRH
FHMEMAEREZERESR2ETH
HBGFMARRERER R ARARD -
HaflErA @Bl REREATEHAEER
BRI BRRER  EEREARREER
ERETEMERLTRUMNZBERLT &
GEETARRMEMNEAEAL - REHA
ERRRTE 2RV EATREZRERED
BHASARRRRMG -

BEIERRBEREBE CENBEREINMAT

E1TH —E—RF¥+A=+H
ZH B —E-ZEF+A+ 1A
RA% 5 2,400,000,0007 7T
EFHEX 0%
ERETBRRERE 0.2 7T

090 6 T 2 R R R M 2
E—F I BEIRNANAREBEHA=ZZE—HE
AA=t+hBZEE -



MANDATORY CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The MCN was classified under equity and no present value of
the fixed interest payment was represented during the life of
the MCN, therefore, no effective interest for the financial
liability element being calculated. The acquisition of the Katar
Global Group was completed on 20 October 2015. On the
completion date, the fair value of the MCN was
HK$2,341,896,000, based on the valuation performed by BMI
Appraisals Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the MCN with
a nominal value of HK$217,600,000 was converted into
1,088,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$0.2 per share. Immediately after
the conversion, the outstanding principal amount of the
MCN amounted to HK$2,182,400,000, with its fair value
of HK$2,129,564,000 was included in equity component of
convertible notes as at 31 December 2016 and 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company
and the Vendor entered into the modification deed dated
27 August 2016 (as amended and supplemented by the
supplemental modification deed dated 4 October 2016 and
the second supplemental modification deed dated 7 June
2017) pursuant to which the Company and the Vendor have
conditionally agreed to amend certain terms of the MCN
with an aggregate principal amount of HK$2,182,400,000
(the “Amended and Restated MCN").

The summarised information of the Amended and Restated
MCN is set out as follows:

Issuance date 31 August 2017

Maturity date 20 April 2020
Principal amount HK$2,182,400,000
Coupon rate 0%
Conversion price per ordinary share HK$0.2

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R

31 December 2024
===

R R R R ()

BH TR ERENEREBE TN TEA
BT EREFHAAN 2 TR ENAR
EYHE RUBEFEcRHBEDLICE
BRAE - WENERKEE —FSER=S
—AFTAZTHER REBIEER
BEXGHEMTRMBEFGHAER AR (EAR
SEW EBEE)ET2MGE - RE B
EEERITKABZ2AFEEAE
2,341,896,0007% 7t °

REBEE-Z—XR"E+-_A=+—HIEE -
1E217,600,0007% 7T 2 58 #ll 14 AT 32 A% = 4%
Bk ®E®nEF Ro2E T 8 12 5
1,088,000,000 8 N~ =] E B K - EFEEEHR
% REIMTBMREBCREELASEA
2,182,400,0008 T MER=ZFT—F K
—E—t+FE+-_A=t+-—-HBHZAF¥E
2,129,564,0007%8 T E 5T AR 2 i 2 8 2 #E

Ns

mERD ©

REBEZ_T—+tF+_A=+—HIEFE -
RARARIEEARITZBERAR T —XRE/N\HA
“HERZEAREBE(RAPA T —XRF
TANBZAMREIRERAHAS -F —
TtERNAELEZF M ARBIREER]
K#3E) Bt - ARRERE T A G [F
BT A% # 5 72,182,400,000/8 7T 2 &
HUETBERERZETHER(REITRE
Pl TRRRE] -

RIEFTREFRBIMETRERER 2 &R H
U

ZE1THH el R e F
2| HE A —E_ZEHFWA-+H
Wi 2,182,400,00078 7T
EFEEX 0%
FRTERERE 0.27 T
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31.

198

MANDATORY CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

Further details regarding the principal terms and conditions
of the Amended and Restated MCN are contained in the
circular of the Company dated 5 July 2017.

The fair value of the Amended and Restated MCN was
HK$1,228,455,000, based on the valuation performed
by BMI Appraisals Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group. On 16
March 2018, the board of directors passed a resolution to
approve that the difference of HK$901,109,000 between
the fair value of the Amended and Restated MCN and the
fair value of the MCN with outstanding principal amounted
to HK$2,129,564,000 to be transferred from the equity
component of convertible notes to accumulated losses. As a
result, the fair value of HK$1,228,455,000 was remained in
equity component of convertible notes as at 31 December
2019 and 2018.

On 20 April 2020, the Amended and Restated MCN was
extended for four years and the maturity date shall be
extended to 20 April 2024. Save for the automatic
extension, all other terms and conditions of the Amended
and Restated MCN remain unchanged.

The fair value of the Amended and Restated MCN on 20
April 2020 was HK$1,755,856,000 based on the valuation
performed by Royson Valuation Advisory Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected to
the Group. The difference of HK$527,401,000 between the
fair value of the Amended and Restated MCN after
extension and the fair value of the Amended and Restated
MCN before extension amounting to HK$1,228,455,000,
was transferred from the equity component of convertible
notes to accumulated losses. As a result, the fair value of
HK$1,755,856,000 was remained in equity component of
convertible notes as at 31 December 2023.

On 20 April 2024, the Amended and Restated MCN was
expired. As the conversion option remained unexercised at
the maturity date of the Amended and Restated MCN, the
balance recognised in equity was transferred to
accumulated losses during the year ended 31 December
2024. No gain or loss was recognised during the vyear
ended 31 December 2024 upon conversion or expiration of
the conversion option.
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BRAREIREIGHEATRREEER
ERRGHZE—SHFBHENALEAH
RIE-—+tFLtARBZAR

ERBUIAEREEGHBEMPMAE
BERAR (BEAEEWERE) Z(HELRS
KT REY BT REZEEREZ AFE
£1,228,455,0008 7L - R=—E—N\F = A
T+ARB EFe@BrAZELELEITR
BHEGEATRRERAFEEREER
& %H2,129,564,0007%8 T 2 58 § M Al #2 flg 2
B RAFEZE R Z%901,109,0007% JT#% 1

At fh

RBREE RS ERERTEAE -
At R-ZE—NER T N\FF+-A=
+—H BRREBZEZHBIRBEAF
{E1,228,455,00078 JC °

RZZE_ZFTFWNA_+H - EEITRET
SR IR IR AR SRR E BRI U F - EIER AAE B

E-T-_NEWUA=—TH - BRSBTS
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

; 31 December 2024
P AP e S

= 45 32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. BA
f
2024 2023
—E-MEF s =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiE FHT
Authorised: EE

400,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.001

400,000,000,000 % & #%

each E {E0.00178 T 2 I & 400,000 400,000
Number
of shares Share
in issue capital
BT
B4 & B8 &S
'000 HK$'000
T B FHETT
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 January 2023 R-ZZE-_=F—A—H 4,257,112 4,257
Issue of new shares (Note (a)) BITH G (B it (a) 297,307 297
Effects of share consolidation (Note (b)) BDE 2T EMN ED) (4,098,978) -
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZEZ=ZF+-A=+—AHK
—“ZE-_WE—H—H 455,441 4,554
Issue of new shares (Note (c)) BITHBEAD (i) 91,089 911
At 31 December 2024 e PU St B = o S ) 546,530 5,465
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/ Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

On 2 May 2023, a total of 297,300,000 new shares were issued
through placing at the placing price of HK$0.049 per share.

On 14 July 2023, the Company made a proposal of share
consolidation to the shareholders that: every ten issued shares of
HK$0.001 each to be consolidation into one consolidated share of
HK$0.01 each the share consolidation has become effective on 2
August 2023.

On 6 June 2024, a total of 91,088,258 new shares were issued
through shares subscription at the subscription price of HK$0.215
per share.

gz

(a)

(b)

(c)

?ﬁ_ | i "_//
R-ZFE-=FaA-A BMREEES
0049 T E TR & B Uk & 17 & &
297,300,000 0% % i {5 °

R_ZT_=FtA+THMAB AARAREEZ
B 5 A 6F - 8+ IR EA%0.0017% T K B 1T
BEME—BRER0.01BTHEFIRD - &K
AHER=ZZE_=FNA-HRBER -

RZZ-_MENANA ZMZRBEESRK
0.21678 T #E 17 B 10 R M - 1| Uk ¥ 17 &
91,088,258 ¥ B {7 -




SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the annual general meeting held on 12 June 2012
(the "AGM"), the shareholders of the Company duly
approved the relevant resolutions to adopt a 2022 Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) by authorising the directors
to allot and issue up to the 10 percent of the issued share
capital of the Company under the Scheme. The directors or
an authorised committee were authorised, at their/its
absolute discretion, to grant options to any person,
subjected to the selection criteria, being an employee,
officer, agent, consultant or representative of the Group,
including any executive or non-executive directors, in order
to provide incentives to the guarantee to contribute to the
Group and to enable the Group to recruit high-calibre
employees and attract resources that were valuable to the
Group. Under the Scheme, the Company might grant
options to any participant, in the absolute discretion of the
Board, who had made valuable contribution to the business
of the Group. The subscription price would be a price
determined by the Board and at least the highest of (a) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the date of grant of
the option, which must be a business day; (b) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and
(c) the nominal value of the shares.

On 29 July 2022, the Company adopted of a 2022 Share
Option Scheme of the Company (the “2022 Share Option
Scheme”). 2022 Share Option Scheme was set up for the
primary purpose to enable the Group to motivate the
participants of 2022 Share Option Scheme to utilise their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group and
to attract and retain or otherwise maintain an ongoing
relationship with the participants whose contributions are or
will be beneficial to the long term growth of the Group, it
is important that the Group should be permitted to provide
them, where appropriate, with an incentive by offering
them an opportunity to obtain an ownership interest in the
Company and to reward them for contributing to the
success of the business of the Group.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B R

31 December 2024
===

BREE

RZE——FRNA+_HBTZREASF
Ag((BRAFXK®)) L ARaRKRRIE
NAEHBAZER  UER T - —FHF
RRiEETEI (58] BEEERE SR
BERETARAIZEEZEITRAREZI10% °
EENEREZECERE 2RSS
BETESLEMEMATEDBRE %
EATAHAAEEEE S4B E  RE
A BREKRKR(BIEEABITHIENTE
) BEERNEARARHREBMMAER 22
B TEASENRSEHASEFGEE
SEXEEREMER - RIEBEFTE - AR
AAREES2ENBERATAKEER
EHEEER 2EMSE AT HEHBR
o REEHHESSEEETHERT
JEmeE  @QBELEREZB(BERSS
¥H)BMXFMEBERERABRHWTE
LEEELBREZANAEEXBHR
FreERERMBRMDFHWTE: R
B HEE -

RZZEZ—_FEtAZ+NLB X2EHEMN
RAAR—EH_ZE-__FEREFE(=F
TCFEBERESNED - BIY_ZT__FE
BETENEZENZFEENEEGEH
BT —EREGENSEERNARER
BEMELSRNEBET - LRSI FRE
LAEM 5 X35 Epe s iE A A E B K5
R A2 HBENBER - HAE
SEmME c WAFREE BRI MR H®
HEZHEEE ANBAAHRMHESAA
RAIFfTERERNKE  BREBEHARRRN
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR & B35 R

31 December 2024
=T = Nt el

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 33. BIRESTE(®)
The following share options were outstanding under the UTERERFAEABIETSITE:

Scheme during the year:

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Weighted Weighted
average Number average  Number of
exercise of share exercise share
price options price options
b € 13 anEF 15
TEE BREHE TEE BREHE
HK$ per HK$ per
share ‘000 share ‘000
BERET T ERET T4
At 1 January Rn—A—H 4.0 3,868 4.0 3,868
Cancelled during the year F A - - _ _
At 31 December W+=-—RA=+—H 4.0 3,868 4.0 3,868
No share option was granted during the years ended 31 He—_s—_mEr-—_=—=F+—-_F=+
December 2024 and 2023. —HIFFEEY e R o
At the date of approval of these consolidated financial RAGAPEREIAEBE - NERIBES
statements, the Company had 3,868,000 (2023: 3,868,000) 217 2 AN A BE IR FE 28 43,868,000
share options outstanding under the Scheme, representing —ZT = =4 :3,868,0001%) ' HHEREA
approximately 1% (2023: 1%) of the Company’s shares in FAEBEEETEMNI% (ZF - =44
issue as at that date. 1%) ©
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

3. XEMBARIZFHE

AR ETEWMBRAA ZFBWT :

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/
registration and registered share

Percentage of equity attributable

Name business capital to the Company Principal activities
AL BRTEE/
£ AR E X R A APEEEEERDL TEXHK
Direct Indirect
=R &
2024 2023 2024 2023
CECME -“E-=F ZBI@F —Z-=F
Best Harvest Asia Limited British Virgin Islands United States Dollars 100% 100% - - Securities trading
("BVI")/Hong Kong ("USD") 1
EBTNERAR KEERHEE/B5 (E EHEH
Joy Wealth Finance Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Dollars 100% 100% = - Money lending
("HK$") 1
EMBBAERAA ) %I fEE
Shanghai Yugong Financial PRC Renminbi (“RMB") - - 96% 96% Money lending
Consulting Co., Limited*" 1,050,000
LEENHBEAGRAR HE AR #1,050,0007 e
Katar Global Limited BVI USD1,000 96% 96% = — Investment holding
EEEAEE 1,0003% 7 REEKR
Beijing Huiju Wealth Management ~ PRC RMB50,000,000 = - 96% 96% Money lending
Consultant Company Limited
("Beijing Huiju")
TREZHEEEXAERAR $8 AR #50,000,0007 &
([EZER])
Sky State Holdings Limited BVI USD1 = = 100% 100% Investment holding
AABERERAA EBRLEHS E¥ REER
Tian Xing Ji Yuan (Beijing) Financial PRC RMB12,069,500 - = 100% 100% Provision of financial and
Consultancy Limited*? investment consulting
services and property
investment
RIBTOLR) M BERM HE AR ¥12,069,5007T RENERIREBR RS
BRAE*? NRETHERE
Keen State Global (CNMI) LLC North Mariana Islands USD100 - T 100% 100% Property investment
LEERRES 100% 7T MERE
Blooming Faith Development Hong Kong HK$1 - & 100% 100% Health consulting service
Limited and trading of medical
products
ERERERAF BB BT BRAARBEERES
RITHERERBERAR PRC RMB5,000,000 - - 100% 100% Health consulting service
and trading of medical
products
HE AR #%5,000,0007 BRAARBZEERES
RITHEZ RN REREE  PRC RMB1,000,000 - - 51% - Provision of longevity

REERAR
I AR #1,000,0007

health services

RERBRERS
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR & B35 R

31 December 2024
= RS HE

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

il The English names of the Chinese entities are translation of their
Chinese names and are included herein for identification purpose

only.

1. These entities are registered as limited liability companies under the
PRC law.

2. These entities are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises

under the PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year.

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling
interests:

4. I ENBLATEZHE@E)

* RAME  TEERBAXBERBER AR
2B EHEET

1. ZEERBRETHREAFZEMAEREEA

2. ZEERRBTEAREMABIEEEDLR -

EREINARBZMBLABTER EE2R
S BENBARIREIERELAKEFNA
XEXBRAEEFEEZLEARD - &

ERR HNEMHMBRARZEBEEES
BMERBRITE -

RER BEHNBARETERIES
TRBTIAEERBEARFERER I

2EMBREFE:

Place of
incorporation and
principal place of

Proportion of ownership
interests and voting rights held

(Loss) profit allocated to Accumulated non-controlling

business by non-controlling interests non-controlling interests interests
EMA L HR FEREEFEFEEES
TEEENY REABLE AERFHERES 2 (BR) &7 R FERER
31/12/2024 31/12/2023 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 31/12/2024 31/12/2023
el 3 e el 3 i Sl 3 Sl 1 3 —BC-=f
ToREr=f =S rEEEr=t ZhEr—E r=iEr=E r=2iEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Name of subsidiary KEARZRE T THL T TAL
Katar Global Limited and its subsidiaries MZBHERARREME BYI 4% 4% 23 210 26,867 27,061
R EREMRES
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with & JE Efmﬂlﬂ” (318) = (351) o
non-controlling interests FEAMBA
(75) 210 26,516 27,061
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024

_ 2 e P ol B =
‘ 34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 4. FENBLAEZHEEE)

g/f:" (Continued)
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the REBBEBEREEREECHBAR 2
Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling HEERBEESRTIAT o AT T BEE R
interests is set out below. The summarised financial ZEAEBANARHEHEITNESEE -
information below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations

31 December

+t=RAR=+—-8H

2024 2023

—E-OEF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FH& T

Current assets MENE E 675,481 680,141

Non-current assets EMBEE = =

Current liabilities e B A 9,685 8,678

Non-current liabilities FERBEE = —
Equity attributable to owners of the RATHEEB AL

Company 639,164 644,604

NCI of Katar Global MERKAIEZERER 26,632 26,859
NCI of Katar Global’s subsidiaries IZERBRANMB AR Z

IE 2 R HE 5 235 202
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & S R MY

31 December 2024
=T = Nt el

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 3. FEMBRAR ZFE(E)

(Continued)
Year ended 31 December
BZ+t=-—BA=1+—HLEE
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Revenue W &= 8,334 8,090
Other income and losses H g A K BB 474 58
Expenses X (2,728) (2,887)
Profit for the year FRNEE 6,080 5,261
Profit attributable to owners of the AR T A A FE1G % A
Company 5,837 5,051
Profit attributable to the NCI of Katar AI3ZEIRER K& H B QA H
Global and its subsidiaries FE A5 & T 243 210
Profit for the year F A i A 6,080 5,261
Other comprehensive (expense) ARABIHBAEGEMEE
attributable to owners of the (AxX)
Company (10,493) (4,040)
Other comprehensive (expense) MERKEEWBEARES
attributable to owners of the NCI AEMEMEE(FEXS)
of Katar Global and its subsidiaries (437) (168)
Other comprehensive (expense) for & A E b 2 (B 7 )
the year (10,930) (4,208)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr & B R MY

31 December 2024
2 e P ol B =

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 3. FEMBRARZFE (@)

Year ended 31 December

N EAr=E == B4R

2024 2023
—E-ME —E=-=f%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA& T
Total comprehensive (expense) income RARARHEAEAREGEZEA
attributable to owners of the Company (A X)W = 8 %8 (4,656) 1,011
Total comprehensive (expense) income MERKEEWBARES
attributable to owners of the NCI of AEMG2E ()K=
Katar Global and its subsidiaries 4 FE (194) 42
Total comprehensive (expense) income FA2E(AX) KELRHE
for the year (4,850) 1,053
Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating #&&FHR S CGRE)HmA
activities F (615) 150
Net cash inflow from investing activities &% & /EEH & A F 5 474 58
Net cash flow from financing activities BB E IR 2 F = —
Net cash (outflow) inflow REORE)mMAFERE (141) 208
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR & B35 R

31 December 2024

=T ===

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
(a)

Major non-cash transactions

3. ZEREREXRKMHE

(a) FEFREXS

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use

assets and lease

liabilities of HK$5,786,000

(2023: HK$16,441,000) and HK$5,786,000 (2023:
HK$16,343,000) respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for leasehold land and buildings.

(i)

REE=E = e F=H= 0
HIEEE AEBFEAEEE
rHEBBZIIBRESRE DA
75,786,000 L (ZT = =4 :
16,441,000/% 7T ) }&5,786,000%
JL(ZF = = 4 : 16,343,000/
) NERHEE LW RET 2

HE R -
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) METEBMELEGEZEH
activities
Bank and other
borrowings Lease liabilities
BRITRHEMEE HEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F& T F& T
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=%—HF—H 10,290 1,472
New borrowings raised/leases MEEE IV AE
entered 4,068 16,343
Changes from financing cash flow gt &R & & (5,377) (6,628)
Interest expenses BB X 590 1,346
Interest paid classified as operating D A& &R &R 2
cash flows =ENRES) (590) (1,346)
Exchange realignment PE W3 29 -
At 31 December 2023 and e e B b F
1 January 2024 e = s 9,010 11,187
New borrowings raised/leases MEEE IV E
entered 4,828 5,786
Early termination of lease liabilities RAITR LA E & E = (2,763)
Changes from financing cash flow & &8 & i & (2,069) (6,640)
Interest expenses B 552 1,006
Interest paid classified as operating D AK &SR &R 2
cash flows =ERES] (552) (1,006)
Exchange realignment b X 58 & (228) -
At 31 December 2024 el e e bl ]S 11,541 7,570
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following material
transactions with related parties during the year:

(a)

During the year, loan interest income of HK$1,940,000

(2023: HK$1,981,000)

and HK$976,000 (2023:

HK$997,000) were receivable from Chongging Juquan
and Wuxi Juquan respectively, the joint ventures of
the Group.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

The Group had HK$2,516,000 (2023: HKS$
2,549,000) of outstanding balance due from
Zhong Ji International Medical Group (Hong
Kong), being a related company as the chairman
and executive director, Mr. Yan Li held 90.76%
beneficiary interest as at 31 December 2024.

The Group had HK$53,000 (2023: nil) executive
outstanding balance due to Shenzhen Zhongji
Hirain Investment Limited, being a related
company as the chairman and executive director,
Mr. Yan Li held 99% and interest as at 31
December 2024.

The Group had HK$740,000 (2023: HK$765,000)
of outstanding balance due to Chongging Juguan
as at 31 December 2024. In addition, the Group
had HK$2,847,000 (2023: HK$2,943,000)
outstanding balance due to Wuxi Juguan as 31
December 2024. Both were joint ventures with
51% held by a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group in the PRC.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

In the opinion of the directors, the directors and chief
executive represented the key management personnel
of the Group and details are included in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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36. MBI RS

BRAMBHRREMBBOFL 2R H I - K

SERFRNEBBITETUTEARS

@ FAR BRAEEEGLELEEES
SREHESTERFEWA SR
1,940,000% (= T =

1,981,000 7t.) £.976,000% 7T (
— =% :997,000/& L) °

b) KREZEZHEHBEE 5%

() WMR-ZE-_WE+-—A=+—8"
AEBRKBBSPE TR E
%%lmzﬁ%%ﬁ%$ﬁj
SEERFB90.76% E = ﬁe 5 2
BARZAEBE® A
zmmm%mugz:i-
2,549,000) °

(i RZT-_NWF+-—_A=+—80 -
AEBEMEINFEEBHKE
BERAR (BEFERANTEED
SN AR EI% s 2 A
Al) 2 REE K £ 553,0008 7T
(ZEZ=F: &)

(i) RZZT-—WF+=—A=+—H"
$¢lﬁﬁ$%ﬁi2$%i
n\l:l ﬁ% /-}%740,000/9\%75(— = =
£ :765,00087T) © BEAh - 7
Z_WFE+—_A=+—H $%
lfﬁﬂ%ﬁi2$fﬁ %
% /2,847,000 m(Z T = =
£ 12,943,000/ 7T) - ME AT
HREENLE BHASE—MH
FRE2EHNBRARFEAEL% o

c) AKBTEEBEABZMHE:
EERR BEERR

EEXTEEEAS
& B R R EEN o

BITRABREAR
BB LR
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024
=T = Nt el

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. ZEREsz2EMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REEHARSENem T A ZRESEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as S 8
follows:
2024 —E-mF

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income — Equity

Financial assets
at amortised

Financial assets investments cost Total
BAVEEBHM
2EKEARZ
SRMEE RBRESRAAR
CRMEE - BREAKRE ZEMEE @t
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHT FTHT
Financial assets at fair value through other AT EZEBEMEZME

comprehensive income WHEABRZEeREE 2,158 - 2,158
Loan and interest receivables Bl EZEFE - 185,568 185,568

Financial assets included in deposits and FTAR S R EMEWKIEZ
other receivables CRMEE = 168,384 168,384
Amounts due from related companies & L5 8 Bt 1 8] 51 TR - 2,516 2,516
Trade receivables JE W BR 3K — 72,200 72,200
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFEESEEY = 47,842 47,842
2,158 476,510 478,668
Financial
liabilities at
Financial liabilities amortised cost
1% 85 B AR
EWMERE ARZzeREE
HK$°000
FHET
Trade payables J& - BR 3K 70,780
Other payables H A 3B 3,457
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 11,541
Lease liabilities HEAE 7,570
Amounts due to related companies FE UL B8 = N R SRR 3,639
96,987
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. EERESz2EMIAE(H)
(Continued)
2023 e e
Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive Financial assets
income — Equity at amortised
Financial assets investments cost Total
BRATEBBEM
2EKEARZ
SHEE REHKAAR
CREE — BRAEE LEREE Fo
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FAT
Financial assets at fair value through other EZAFEEBEMEE
comprehensive income WEAEZEREE 5,847 - 5,847
Loan and interest receivables FE U E R A B - 177,732 177,732
Financial assets included in deposits and FTARS R H A ERRIE 2
other receivables PRMEE = 165,774 165,774
Amounts due from related companies & iz B8 Bt 1 B 5K 0B - 2,549 2,549
Amount due from a director W —ZEERE = 16 16
Trade receivables JE W2 BR 3K — 2,141 2,14
Cash and cash equivalents RekBREEEY = 81,075 81,075
5,847 429,287 435,134
Financial
liabilities at
Financial liabilities amortised cost
2 5H Bk AR
TRIBE ARZzeRAaE
HK$'000
T T
Trade payables FE 1+ BR 3K 206
Other payables E M JE 5 30IE 3,061
Bank and other borrowings RITEHEMES 9,010
Lease liabilities HEAE 11,187
Amounts due to related companies JE U5 B8 3 R ] 3k IE 3.763
220
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31 December 2024
ST EF=H= =

38.

212

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed the fair values of the Group's
financial assets and financial liabilities are approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short maturities of
these instruments.

The Group’s finance department is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The finance
department reports directly to the directors and the audit
committee. At each reporting date, the finance department
analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
directors. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
quoted market prices.

Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited
2024 Annual Report

38.

EMITAZAFERAIFERK

EEECHEASESREENERAR
ZAVFERERESEAE  TERRBU
ETAREHAIEH -

AEEMBHPIAEN EHESRTAR
FEZEBEREERF HHHBAERRES
REZZEERSE MNEREBEH - MK
MASTEMTAZEEEZSI EEHE
FPERZEZH AR - MEHESEH
EitE - BFEFMAREZRE ST mEE
BERGER NEFTRHREFEMBREZ
A e

TREENBBECATFEAZITAEAER
SH(RERERELERIMNRETZTET
ZARGEEEAR o

THTTERBRAAGETAFE:

ERAREZAFERMESRENE -



38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
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EMIAZAFERAFER
(&)

D ER B
TRELAEESHMITAZAFEFER
Al :

BAVEFAEZEE:

Fair value measurement using

RATIGABBZAVETE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
As at 31 December 2024 markets inputs inputs
BT 5 ERTEHE EBEAFTTEE
R-EB-MNE+=A=+—H BE WA B WA BUE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(B—%8H) (B=%H) (B=%4) #at
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET THERT TET
Financial assets at fair value  BZAFEEBEMD
through other comprehensive 2 E W & A B&
income ZEREE 2,158 = = 2,158
Fair value measurement using
RATIBASE X TEFE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
As at 31 December 2023 markets inputs inputs
i BB T % BEAAEER BEATATEER
REBZ=%T=H=+—H WE WA B IE WA BB
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(E—%8) (BZER) (B=%8H) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET THET BT
Financial assets at fair value  BAFEEBEMD
through other comprehensive 2 Mz A BR
income ZEREE 5,847 = = 5,847

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

During the vyear, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for the financial assets
(2023: nil).

7N [y P T o= s BT e e ]
=+ HYEFTMRAFEFEZSRE

(i

FA REREEMS BERE-FR
HE_ZHMERQTERE TEEA
FERE=FR(_ZF_=F:8])-
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39.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments are used to raise
finance for the Group's operations and investments. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such
as loan and interest receivables, trade and other
receivables, trade payables, other payables, other
borrowings, amount due from/to related companies, amount
due to a director and lease liabilities which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, equity price risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they
are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group's interest-
bearing financial assets and liabilities. Interest-bearing
financial assets of the Group are the loan receivables and
deposit with banks. Interests on deposits with banks are
based on deposit rates offered by bank while interests on
loan receivables are based on fixed rates set out in the loan
agreements. Interest-bearing financial liabilities of the Group
are the other borrowings. Interest on other borrowings are
based on fixed rate. Therefore, changes in interest rate
would not affect the profit or loss of the Group.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of
equity indices and the value of individual securities. The
Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income. The Group's listed investments are
listed on the Stock Exchanges and are valued at quoted
market prices at the end of the reporting period.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. B EREEEERBEK(E)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Equity price risk (Continued) RAER R (E)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every TRETEMBRAEEZ AFEFL% (=
5% (2023: 5%) change in the fair values of the listed T -F:5%)BERF2HXRE(FTEEM
equity investments, with all other variables held constant BYRBFTERRFTACABBEELE) 1
and before any impact on tax, based on their carrying ERERRCEESEAE - READHTA -
amounts at the end of the reporting period. For the RAAKZATFEEZRBEMEARZARZ
purpose of this analysis, for the listed equity investments PREECLELTRAKEEMS  BRAX
included in financial assets at fair value through other FEZFEEALATEMEHE (I AER) -
comprehensive income, the impact is deemed to be on the
fair value reserve (non-recycling).
Carrying Decrease
amount of Change in other
equity in profit components
instruments before tax of equity
BATEZ RR Bt Al HifE %
RS i Fll # B oD
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHETT FA T
2024 —E-NEF
Equity investments listed in: R T G £ 2
IR A
Hong Kong — BB —
Financial assets at fair value RAFEBEBEMEEIR
through other mARZEREE
comprehensive income 2,158 = 108
2023 = e
Equity investments listed in: R TG EHz
RAKRE :
Hong Kong — Eis =
Financial assets at fair value IRAFEBBEHMEEI
through other mARZERMEE
comprehensive income 5,847 = 298

The Group’s management manages the above exposure by
maintaining a well-diversified investment portfolio.

HeE®RE FamEk -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The Group’s
credit risk is primarily attributable to the loan and interest
receivables, trade receivables and other receivables. In
order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has established
policies and systems for monitoring and control of credit
risk. The management has delegated different divisions
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring processes to ensure that
follow up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, management reviews the recoverable amounts of
loan and interest receivables and trade receivables and
other receivables individually or collectively at each
reporting date to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
management considers that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk on loan and interest
receivables as 85% (2023: 81%) and 100% (2023: 100%) of
the carrying amounts of loan and interest receivables were
in relation to the Group's largest loan borrower and the five
largest loan borrowers, respectively.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
As at 31 December 2024
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39. BIKEREEEERBE®)

EERME)
R-F-AET=F=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 B & 88
EEE#E 2HEHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-RE BB E=ZRE [ER(7 st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FTHER FTEx FTHER FTHER FTEx
Trade receivables* JE L AR B * = = - 72,212 72,212
Loan and interest FE W E 3 R B
receivables = 201,998 620,281 = 822,279
Amounts due from related & U 37 Bt
companies AR IE
— Normal** — IEE & 2,516 = = = 2,516
Financial assets included AR S - XK
in deposits, prepayments 18 N E b fiE U 3k
and other receivables BHe@MEE = 256,248 9,874 - 266,122
Cash and cash equivalents BEE& NELZEY 47,842 = = - 47,842
50,358 458,246 630,155 72,212 1,210,971
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. B RMEEEERBKE (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EEREE)
As at 31 December 2023 R=¥=—F=F="1T"14
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 78 8
EEEE 2HEHEEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—MBR FRBER FE=PEER KRz @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAB T FA T FHET FAB T FA& T
Trade receivables* JE L2 B k% = = = 2,174 2,174
Loan and interest FEWE 3 KA
receivables - 188,328 631,127 - 819,455
Amounts due from related & U 8 B
companies YNGIE @]
— Normal** — ME & = 2,549 - - - 2,549

Financial assets included FAES - BRAR

in deposits, prepayments I8 & E fth f&E Uk 3k
and other receivables BrzemAE = 250,520 9,458 = 259,978
Cash and cash equivalents HE&RBEELEEY 81,075 = = = 81,075
83,624 438,848 640,585 2,174 1,165,231

@ For trade receivables to which the Group applied the simplified X HRASEREABBEREEZERERNE -
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix ERBHEEBZEBRES B HRKWE22
is disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements. B -

i The credit quality of the financial assets at amortised costs, financial o MR EHEHKAAR 2 2B EE A KRFFABRNRK
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables and T8~ R K E i FE UK IE DA B B UK B Bk R | 3R
amounts due from related companies is considered to be “normal” HrsMEESABBHETEERBRENA
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating BRAUAREREEZEERRARIG M - BIFZ
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk EEMEECEEERHERIER] - BAl -
since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial CRMEEZEELGEBHERAIRE] -

assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. B EREEEERBEK(E)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE(E)
Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure AEERZERERREBEEEZEERR 2
to credit risk arising from these receivables are disclosed in E—PELEBEERGETBREMMTE21R
notes 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements. 2215 % o
Liquidity risk REEEERE
Internally generated cash flows are the general sources of NEEEZREREDNARNEE S ERN
funds to finance the operations of the Group. The Group Be 7 MESRR - ASEBETEHRTE
regularly reviews its major funding positions to ensure it FEBEeMR  UBEREEHTBHERE
has adequate financial resources in meeting its financial THBEF AEBEEEERAGERFIHE
obligations. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding BZEREEEBERABZBITFER R
by keeping committed credit lines available and sufficient SEeEEN  UNENERHBEETE -
bank deposits to meet its short term cash requirements. AEBzZRBESRBEREESZ TILA
The Group's liquidity risk management includes diversifying BEERIR o
the funding sources.
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at the REBEGARMARBE S 2 EREE
end of the reporting period, based on the contractual RIEHRZBEBHBERAT
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
2024 —E-NF
Weighted Total
average On demand contractual
effective or within One to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years cash flow amount
ABBREN
MmEEFg RERT ReRE
BRA = R—FR —-ZmE BE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT TERT
Trade payables JE - BR 3K - 70,780 - 70,780 70,780
Other payables H b fE (3 2B - 3,457 - 3,457 3,457
Banks and other RITREMEE
borrowings 10% 12,695 = 12,695 11,541
Lease liabilities HERE 9.06% 6,473 1,539 8,012 7,570
93,405 1,539 94,944 93,348
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. B RMEEEERBKE (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER(E)
2023 —g=-=%
Weighted Total
average On demand contractual
effective or within One to  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years cash flow amount
AEREH
TS BRERY Rene
BRA = R—%FR —EMFE ] REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET TET FET
Trade payables JE 5 BR 3K = 114 93 207 207
Other payables H A JE {3 5018 = 3,061 = 3,061 3,061
Bank and other BITREMEE
borrowings 25% 9,010 815 9,825 9,010
Lease liabilities HERRE 11.8% 6,978 5,142 12,120 11,187
19,163 6,050 25,213 23,465
Capital risk management EXERERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the AEBERBEER  URBERASEEETE
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while BElenFEgs RS EEIERER
maximising the return to shareholders through the EaTl ERRESZARLHK KAEH
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's ZEBREETFMER -

overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, AEBzEAREHERERFE He kB
cash and cash equivalents and total equity comprising CEBYNARERRATE(BSERITRAR
issued share capital and reserves. ffE#) 4 AK o

The directors review the capital structure on a regular EETHRAERER - (ERULRA TIE
basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost — D EEEEEBEAKAREZEER
of capital and the risks associate with each class of capital, HEzRE  WHEEBGEETHNARLRE
and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group's capital B ERERE -

structure.
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40. AR Z B B AR R M=K
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the RRBRIE R Z BN KR E B
Company at the end of reporting period is as follows: B
2024 2023
—ENEF ZEZZ=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEREEE
Plant and equipment % B R % s 2 5
Right-of-use assets FREEE 6,437 10,668
Investments in subsidiaries REEB AR ZRE 15,288 15,288
Interests in joint ventures REELEIHER - -
Amount due from a related company & W — ] BR B 2 B 5R0R = 582
Financial assets at fair value through other EATFEEBHEHMEER
comprehensive income WRARZEREE - 100
Total non-current assets IEmBEELE 21,727 26,643
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Deposits and prepayments %o KTENRIE 24,039 22,019
Cash and cash equivalents RERBREEEY 1,335 1,317
Total current assets MEEERLE 25,374 23,336
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEE
Other payables and accruals H b J& < 5018
et E A 6,536 9,306
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN NGIE @ 282,696 271,030
Amount due to a related company JE A — FEl B B A B 3R 1B 16,115 -
Lease liabilities HE&E 4,515 6,978
Other borrowing HuEE 2,700 =
Total current liabilities mEBBEER 312,562 287,314
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBEEFE (287,188) (263,978)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EE#AERABAE (265,461) (237,335)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FnEBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,055 4,210
Total non-current liabilities EmBaERE 3,055 4,210
NET LIABILITIES BEFHE (268,516) (241,545)
EQUITY =
Share capital A& 7 5,465 4,554
Reserves (note) it & (47 22) (273,981) (246,099)
Total deficit 428 A (268,516) (241,545)
Yan Li Yan Yifan
B B —il
Director Director
EZE EZE
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40. XA Z BB R RAER (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
Note: Bt -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: ARBZEERELT :
Equity
Share Share  component of
premium Fair value Contributed option convertible Accumulated
account reserve surplus reserve notes losses Total
R 4B TRERREZ )
i E R ATERE B4ER BRERE [ $:3:50) R BB mEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THET THT THT THL THT
1 January 2023 RZF=-=%—-f—H 951,820 (76,670) 277,102 72 1,755,856 (3,122,223) (214,043)
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (46,396) (46,396)
Other comprehensive income  FRE 12
for the year:
Changes in fair value of BATEEREM2EYE
equity investments ABRZBATIAZ
designated at fair value ATEZEY
through other
comprehensive income = 70 = = = = 70
Total comprehensive FRAZERL G
expense for the year - 70 - - - - 70
Subscription of new shares A # & 7 14,270 - - - - - 14,270
Transfer of fair value reserve RERATFEBBEM
upon disposal of equity 2EKE AR ZBRA
investments designated at ~ REAKEE LT EEE
fair value through other
comprehensive income - (24) - - - 24 =
At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024 966,090 (76,624) 277,102 72 1,755,856 (3,168,595) (246,099)
Loss for the year B = = = = - (46,556) (46,556)
Other comprehensive income R E fth 2 B &
for the year:
Changes in fair value of BATEEREMZE S
equity investments AEZBRATIAZ
designated at fair value AYEZE  EMKEEIE
through other
comprehensive income = = = = = = =
Total comprehensive FR2ERZLE
expense for the year = = = = = = =
Subscription of new shares R 3R 7 18,674 - - - - - 18,674
Transfer of fair value reserve RILEZATFEBBEM
upon disposal of equity 2EREARZBALE
investments designated at BERNTEGE
fair value through other
comprehensive income - - - - - - -
Transfer of equity BREBRTARR R
component of convertible ZERBH
notes upon expiry - - - - (1,755,856) 1,755,856 -
At 31 December 2024 R=F=MFT=H=1—H 984,764 (76,624) 277,102 72 = (1,459,295 (273,981)
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
DATE OF 31 DECEMBER 2024

Reference is made to the Company’s announcements
dated 11 November 2024, 15 November 2024,
24 December 2024 and 15 January 2025 in relation to
the entering into the 2025 revolving loan agreement.

On 11 November 2024, Joy Wealth Finance Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as
the lender, and HK Zhong Ji 1, Asian Integrated,
International Medical and Longevity Medical, as the
borrowers and Mr. Yan Li as guarantor, entered into
the 2025 revolving loan agreement pursuant to which,
among other things, the lender has conditionally
agreed to grant the 2025 revolving loan in the principal
amount of up to a maximum of HK$30,000,000 to the
borrowers for a term from the effective date and up to
31 December 2027 for the purpose of financing new
business development projects and general working
capital of the borrowers subject to the terms and
conditions therein.

The entering into the 2025 Revolving Loan Agreement
constitutes a continuing connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The transaction
is completed on 15 January 2025 upon the special
general meeting held on the same date. For more
details, please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 11 November 2024, 15 November 2024, 24
December 2024 and 15 January 2025 in relation to the
entering into the 2025 revolving loan agreement.
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41.

42.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
DATE OF 31 DECEMBER 2024 (Continued)

Reference is made to the Company’s announcements
dated 27 July 2022 and 12 October 2022 respectively
in relation to the entering a nicotinamide
mononucleotide (“NMN") dietary products sale
Consultancy Service Agreement with Speedy Brilliant
Investments Limited on 24 June 2022. Considering
the PRC sluggish market circumstance, change of
American-made NMN status as a medicine in FY2024

and other unforeseeable factors, apart from seeking
legal opinions on contractual remedies, the Company
since February 2025 has in re-negation with the
concern party addressing these matters include
alternative products or service sales to perform, and
will provide timely disclosure regarding any material

developments.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March

2025.
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